o
HALTON Housing and Safer Policy and

BOROUGH COUNCIL
Performance Board

Tuesday, 18 November 2025 at 6.30 p.m.
Board Room, Municipal Building, Widnes

Interim Chief Executive

BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Councillor Mike Fry (Chair) Labour
Councillor Chris Carlin (Vice-Chair) Labour
Councillor Irene Bramwell Labour
Councillor Neil Connolly Labour
Councillor Emma Garner Labour
Councillor Chris Loftus Labour
Councillor Angela Mclnerney Labour
Councillor Louise Nolan Labour
Councillor Margaret Ratcliffe Liberal Democrats
Councillor Tom Stretch Labour
Councillor Angela Teeling Labour

Please contact Kim Butler on 0151 511 7496 or e-mail
kim.butler@halton.gov.uk for further information.

The next meeting of the Board is on Tuesday, 3 February 2026



ITEMS TO BE DEALT WITH
IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

Part |
Iltem No. Page No.
1. CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
2. MINUTES 1-8

3. DECLARATION OF INTEREST (INCLUDING PARTY WHIP
DECLARATIONS)

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Other Disclosable Interest
which they have in any item of business on the agenda, no later
than when that item is reached or as soon as the interest
becomes apparent and, with Disclosable Pecuniary interests, to
leave the meeting during any discussion or voting on the item.

4. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 9-11

5. DEVELOPMENT OF POLICY ISSUES

(A) DOMESTIC ABUSE PARTNERSHIP BOARD 12 - 105
(B) TRADING STANDARDS SERVICE UPDATE 106 - 116
6. PERFORMANCE MONITORING ‘

(A) PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORTS FOR 117 - 134
QUARTER 2 OF 2025/26

In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act the Council is
required to notify those attending meetings of the fire evacuation
procedures. A copy has previously been circulated to Members and
instructions are located in all rooms within the Civic block.



Page 1 Agenda Item 2

HOUSING AND SAFER POLICY AND PERFORMANCE BOARD

At a meeting of the Housing and Safer Policy and Performance Board on Tuesday, 16
September 2025 at the Council Chamber, Runcorn Town Hall

Present: Councillors Fry (Chair), Carlin (Vice-Chair), Bramwell, Connolly, Garner,
C. Loftus, L. Nolan, Ratcliffe and Teeling

Apologies for Absence: Councillor A. Mclnerney
Absence declared on Council business: None
Officers present: S. Burrows, K. Butler, R. Freeman, N. Goodwin and H. Moir

Also in attendance: Councillor Wright in accordance with Standing Order
Number 33.

ITEM DEALT WITH
UNDER DUTIES
EXERCISABLE BY THE BOARD

Action
SAF9 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

The Chair reported that he had met with Police Crime
Commissioner (PCC) on four separate occasions. He
reported that he was now also a member of the Complaints
Management Sub Committee, which had been established
by the Police and Crime Panel to manage its responsibility
for complaints.

As the Chair was unable to attend the last Police and
Crime Panel meeting, the Vice-Chair attended on his behalf.
The Vice-Chair gave feedback from this meeting and
reported that the PCC Annual Report was discussed and
this would be circulated to the Board for information and
comments.

SAF10 MINUTES

The Minutes of the meeting held on 10 June 2025
were taken as read and signed as a correct record.




SAF11

SAF12

Page 2

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

The Board was advised that no public questions had
been received.

HOMELESSNESS WORKING PARTY - REVIEW OF
HOMELESSNESS SERVICES AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The Board received a report from the Executive
Director — Adults which outlined the recommendations of the
Homelessness Working Party’s review of Halton’s
Homelessness services.

In February 2025, a Homelessness Working Party
was established by Councillor Marie Wright in order to
increase Elected Members’ understanding on homelessness
in Halton; the current service offer; pressures; data and how
resources were mobilised to provide services that support
some of the most vulnerable adults in the Borough.

The report described the scope of the review and its
findings were attached as an appendix to the report; section
3.5 of the report outlined the recommendations of the
Working Party.

The following additional information was provided in
response to Members questions/comments:

¢ Nightstop was a UK wide network of same-night
emergency accommodation services that support
young people in crisis;

e The Council had a drop-in facility at the Halton Direct
Links, where people who were either homeless or
those facing being homeless, could speak to officers.
The Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) also had specialist
officers who dealt with homelessness and mortgage
issues. They also supported people who had to
attend court. These services were advertised on the
Council's website;

e It was suggested that Nightstop needed to be
promoted more widely as it was of the view that not
enough people knew about the service;

e The Council had a contract with White Chapel, a
charity, who go out at night and identify rough
sleepers. The Chair requested a briefing about this
service;

e Councillor Loftus requested a standing item on every
agenda which provided an update on homelessness.
Officers confirmed that there was a performance
report (item 6 on the agenda) that would provide this




SAF13

Page 3

information, however, the only gap was empty
properties but consideration would be given to this
being included on future reports. The performance
report was a new item that the Board had never
received before, however, going forward this would
be provided to each meeting; and

e A Members Seminar on Asylum Seekers and
Refugees was held in November 2024 and
consideration would be given to repeating this
Seminar in the future.

RESOLVED: That the Board:
1) note the report; and

2) endorse the recommendations of the Homelessness
Working Party’s review of Halton’s Homelessness
services.

IMPROVING HOUSING STANDARDS IN THE PRIVATE
RENTAL SECTOR: THE RENTERS’ RIGHTS BILL

The Board received a report from the Director of
Public Health which provided an update on the current
measures in place to enforce standards in the Private Rental
Sector and the new measures proposed in the
Government’s Renters’ Rights Bill.

The 2011 Census reported that 11% of households in
the Borough were in the private rental sector, however, the
2021 Census reported that this number had risen to 14%. In
2024, Metastreet, a housing research consultancy, was
commissioned by the Council to undertake a study and this
estimated that there were 11, 486 dwellings in the private
rental sector which equated to 19% of the Borough’s
housing stock. The study also predicted that around
4,000 properties in Halton’s private rental sector had at least
one serious housing hazard.

It was noted that last year, the Council’s
Environmental Health Team received 172 complaints about
housing conditions, which indicated that there was a
significant under reporting by tenants. It was hoped that
measures contained in the Renters Rights’ Bill would
provide tenants with more protection and therefore
encourage more people to report issues. Furthermore,
measures to proactively improve housing standards in the
private rental sector, would be set out in the Council’s new
Housing Strategy, which was currently under consultation.
Section 4 of the report set out current laws and policies in

Executive Director
of Adult Services

Director of
Community &
Greenspaces



SAF14

Page 4

place to help the Council enforce property standards and
protect tenants.

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) i.e. properties
with 5 or more tenants required a license. There were
currently 127 HMO'’s in the Borough, although there was an
additional 73 smaller HMO’s (3-4 tenants) that did not
require a license. However, it was noted that there could
potentially be more smaller HMO'’s, as there was no current
requirement for landlords to notify the Council. The Board
acknowledged that there were concerns amongst both
residents and Elected Members about HMO’s, however,
they provided a valuable contribution to the housing market
and provided much needed accommodation for single
person households. Members were assured that once in
place, the Housing Strategy would set out measures to
control HMO'’s going forward.

In response to comments/questions from the Board,
the following additional information was noted:

e Concerns were raised about expensive leasehold
properties in the Borough and therefore the difficulties
owners had in in selling their homes which forced
them into renting them out;

e An opportunity was being explored to establish a
Housing Partnership Board which would consist of
representatives from all housing associations;

e The regulations in the new Bill would not include
lodgers; and

e Members of the Board were encouraged to respond
to the new Housing Strategy, which was currently out
on consultation.

RESOLVED: That the report be noted.
EMERGENCY PLANNING

The Board received the Emergency Planning Annual
Report, which provided an update on the work undertaken
by the Emergency Planning Team and the work programme
for 2024/25.

The Emergency Planning Team consisted of an
Emergency Planning Manager and two Emergency Planning
Officers.

As a Local Authority, Halton had a statutory duty to
comply with the following legislation:




SAF15

Page 5

¢ the Civil Contingencies Act (CCA) 2004;

e Control of Major Accident Hazard Regulations
(COMAH) 2015; and

¢ Pipeline Safety Regulations (PSR) 1996.

Members noted that Halton had a number of
Emergency Plans in place with the aim to ensure resilience.
These Plans were regularly updated and tested. The Board
was advised on examples of local risks, details of the
exercises that take place at COMAH sites in the Borough,
information on Emergency Centres and the work the
Emergency Planning Team carried out with partner agencies
both within Cheshire and cross-border, and as part of
Cheshire Resilience Forum.

RESOLVED: That the report be noted.
COUNTER TERRORISM

The Board received a report which provided an
update on the role of Prevent and the work that had been
undertaken during 2024/25 and the first quarter of 2025/26.
The report also outlined the current actions being taken in
regard to the Terrorism (Protection of Premises) Act 2025.

Prevent was a National Programme that aimed to
stop people from becoming terrorists or supporting terrorism
and it worked to ensure that people who were susceptible to
radicalisation were offered appropriate interventions.

Some Prevent work is funded by the Home Office and
delivered in the Liverpool City Region (LCR) through
Liverpool City Council’'s Prevent Team. Halton’s lead and
point of contact was the Emergency Planning Manager and
supported by the Director of Community and Greenspaces.
Halton received no dedicated funding for Prevent.

The Home Office tested compliance via the Prevent
benchmarking process as part of its annual assurance
programme to monitor the delivery of Prevent and focussed
on the following areas:

Multi-Agency Partnership Group;

Local Risk Assessment Process;
Partnership Plan;

Referral Pathway;

Training Programme;

Reducing permissive environments;
Communications and engagement; and
Channel Panel




SAF16

Page 6

It was confirmed by the Home Office in May 2025 that
Halton had met all the criteria for the annual Prevent
benchmarking exercise for 2024/25.

The Terrorism (Protection of Premises) Act 2025,
often referred to as PROTECT but most commonly known
as Martyn’s Law, was designed to improve public safety and
required certain premises and events to prepare for terrorist
attacks. Martyn’s Law enacted in response to domestic
terror attacks and inquiries like the Manchester Arena
inquiry and aimed to enhance protective security and
organisational preparedness across the UK.

Halton had an officer working group which was
chaired by the Head of Service for Stadium and Markets.
The Council had also engaged on the offer from Counter
Terrorism Police to deliver training for Council employees. A
number of sessions had taken place, which had included
SCaN Customer Facting and SCaN training for CCTV
operatives. The Stadium and Leisure Services had also
engaged directly with the Police regarding advice and
training for staff.

Following some questions from the Board it was
confirmed that the Council were responsible for the Stadium
and the event organisers were responsible for Creamfields.

It was also suggested that the Council should be
notified of any events that happen in the Borough, however,
this was not a mandatory requirement.

RESOLVED: That the Board:

1) note the report; and

2) endorse the action the Council is taking in regard to
the Terrorism (Protection of Premises) Act 2025.

COMMUNITY SAFETY DIVISION - ENFORCEMENT &
CCTV UPDATE

The Board received a report from the Executive
Director, Environment and Regeneration, which provided an
update on progress and work programme in the Community
Safety and Protection Division.

The report provided an update on:

e Environmental Crime and Waste Enforcement;




SAF17

Page 7

e Anti-Social Behaviour; and
e CCTV.

Concerns were raised about fly tipping. It was noted
that some residents whose wheelie bins had gone missing,
could not afford to pay for a replacement and therefore
would put rubbish bags out. Another concern was the
booking system in place for bulky rubbish; residents would
only be allocated a collection date once they had paid for the
service. Officers confirmed that the Council had a hardship
discretion but concerns would be fed back to the team.

It was also noted that the Police Crime Commissioner
was keen to use drones to track and recover stolen bikes
and to tackle illegal or antisocial bike and e-scooter use.
Drones were a safer alternative to traditional pursuits, which
could be dangerous for riders, officers, and the public.

RESOLVED: That the report be noted.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORTS FOR
QUARTER 1 OF 2025/26

The Board received the Performance Monitoring
Report for Quarter 1 of 2025/26.

The key priorities for development of improvement in
2025/26 were agreed by Members and included in
Directorate Plans for the various function areas reported to
the Board as detailed below:

Community Safety and Protection;
Risk and Emergency Planning;
Drug and Alcohol Action;
Domestic Violence; and

Housing.

The reports detailed progress against service
objectives and milestones, and performance targets and
provided information relating to key developments and
emerging issues that had arisen during the period.

It was noted that this was the first performance report
to be received by the Board. There would be some changes
to Domestic Violence KPI's going forward consideration
would be given to include empty homes on future reports.

Concerns were raised that when looking at crime
figures, the Police wards did not match up with Council
wards. It was agreed that this was a challenge and the

Director of
Community &
Greenspaces



Page 8

Chair agreed to raise this at his next meeting with Police.

RESOLVED: That the quarter 1 performance
management report be received and noted.

SAF18 COUNCILWIDE SPENDING AS AT 31 MAY 2025

The Board received a copy of a report, which was
presented to the Council’'s Executive Board on 10 July 2025.
The report outlined the Council’s overall revenue and capital
spending position as at 31 May 2025, together with the
latest 2025/26 outturn forecast. The report also described
the reasons for key variances from budget.

The Executive Board had requested that a copy of
the report be shared with each Policy and Performance
Board for information, to ensure that all Members had a full
appreciation of the Councilwide financial position, in addition
to their specific areas of responsibility.

RESOLVED: That the Council’s overall spending
position as at 31 May 2025, as outlined in the report, be
noted.

Meeting ended at 8.20 p.m.



Page 9 Agenda Item 4

REPORT TO: Housing & Safer Policy & Performance Board
DATE: 18 November 2025

REPORTING OFFICER: Chief Executive

SUBJECT: Public Question Time

WARD(S) Boroughwide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To consider any questions submitted by the Public in accordance with

Standing Order 34(9).

1.2 Details of any questions received will be circulated at the meeting.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That any questions received be dealt with.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 Standing Order 34(9) states that Public Questions shall be dealt with
as follows:-

(i) A total of 30 minutes will be allocated for dealing with questions
from members of the public who are residents of the Borough, to
ask guestions at meetings of the Policy and Performance Boards.

(i)  Members of the public can ask questions on any matter relating to
the agenda.

(i) Members of the public can ask questions. Written notice of
guestions must be given by 4.00 pm on the working day prior to
the date of the meeting to the Committee Services Manager. At
any one meeting no person/organisation may submit more than
one question.

(iv) One supplementary question (relating to the original question)
may be asked by the questioner, which may or may not be
answered at the meeting.

(v) The Chair or proper officer may reject a question if it:-

e Is not about a matter for which the local authority has a
responsibility or which affects the Borough;

e Is defamatory, frivolous, offensive, abusive or racist;

e Is substantially the same as a question which has been put at
a meeting of the Council in the past six months; or



4.0

4.1

5.0

5.1

6.0

6.1

6.2

(vi)

(vii)

(Vi)

(ix)

Page 10

e Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.

In the interests of natural justice, public questions cannot relate to
a planning or licensing application or to any matter which is not
dealt with in the public part of a meeting.

The Chair will ask for people to indicate that they wish to ask a
guestion.

PLEASE NOTE that the maximum amount of time each
guestioner will be allowed is 3 minutes.

If you do not receive a response at the meeting, a Council Officer
will ask for your name and address and make sure that you
receive a written response.

Please bear in mind that public question time lasts for a maximum
of 30 minutes. To help in making the most of this opportunity to
speak:-

o Please keep your questions as concise as possible.

o Please do not repeat or make statements on earlier
guestions as this reduces the time available for other
issues to be raised.

o Please note public question time is not intended for debate
— issues raised will be responded to either at the meeting
or in writing at a later date.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

None identified.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

None identified.

IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater
Independence

None identified.

Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy

None identified.



6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

7.0

7.1

8.0

8.1

9.0

9.1

10.0

Page 11

Supporting Children, Young People and Families
None identified.

Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need
None identified.

Working Towards a Greener Future

None identified.

Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community
None identified.

RISK ANALYSIS

None.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

None identified.

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS

None identified.

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

None under the meaning of the Act.



Page 12 Agenda Item 5a

REPORT TO: Housing & Safer Policy & Performance Board
DATE: 18" November 2025
REPORTING OFFICER: Executive Director - Environment and Regeneration
PORTFOLIO: Community Safety
SUBJECT: Domestic Abuse Partnership Board
WARD(S) Borough wide
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
1.1 To provide an update regarding the work undertaken by the
Domestic Abuse Board and the work programme for the period
2025/26.
2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That
1) The Board notes the development of the statutory Domestic
Abuse Partnership Board governance arrangements.
2) Members endorse and comment on the work programme.
3) Members comment on Joint Strategic Needs Analysis or
Domestic Abuse (appendix 1).
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION
3.1 The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 strives to: -
e Promote awareness.
e Protect and support victims.
e Hold perpetrators to account.
e Transform the justice response.
e Improve performance.
3.2 The act places duties on relevant local authorities in England to: -

e Appoint a local Domestic Abuse Multi-Agency Partnership
Board which it must consult as it performs specified functions,
below.

e Assess or make arrangements for the assessment of, the
need for accommodation based domestic abuse support in
their area for all victims and their children who reside in
relevant safe accommodation, including those come from
outside the area.

e Prepare and publish a strategy for the provision of such
support to cover their area having regard to the needs



3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

Page 13

assessment.

e Give effect to the strategy through commissioning and
decommissioning decision.

e Monitor and evaluate effectiveness of the strategy.

e Report back annually to central government.

Halton’s multi-agency domestic abuse partnership board has been
through a period of review and reset which has included a review of
membership to ensure senior level representation from defined
stakeholders, published an interim strategy, mobilised a joint
strategic needs assessment, and set out a partnership board work
programme supported by a sub-group structure.

The Domestic Abuse Partnership Board is scheduled to meet
guarterly however,; this has currently been amended to bi-monthly in
recognition of the significant work programme to be delivered.

Halton’s interim domestic abuse strategy (appendix 2) sets out four
strategic priorities: -

Act before someone is harmed.

Increase safety for those at risk.

Identify and stop harmful behaviours.

Support people to live the life they want after harm occurs.

In responding to the priorities, the Domestic Abuse Partnership
Board agreed a sub-group governance establishing four sub-groups
titled Prevent, Prepare, Protect and Pursue, each sub-group has a
terms of reference responding to one of the strategies core strategic
pillars with a Senior Lead Officer Chairing; supported by either the
Head of Service for Community Safety & Protection or the Domestic
Abuse Manager. These workgroups will collectively operationalise
the strategic priorities outlined in the strategy through high-level
oversight, partnership coordination, and outcome-driven planning.
This governance structure will also ensure the work of the board
feeds through to the Boroughs other safeguarding, statutory and
scrutiny boards.

Accommodation arrangements for domestic abuse have fed into the
emerging Housing Strategy for the borough to ensure statutory
requirements are met and there is an improved housing offer for
emergency, supported and dispersed accommodation for domestic
abuse victims and families in the future.

A Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is in draft format
(appendix one), it is anticipated that this will be signed off at the
board meeting in December. This assessment provides a strategic
overview of domestic abuse in Halton, supporting statutory duties
under the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 and informing future service
commissioning, housing strategy, and multi-agency coordination.



3.9

3.10

3.11

3.12

3.13

Page 14

The key findings thus far from the draft assessment are:

« Prevalence & Risk: Over 8,200 Halton residents are estimated
to have experienced domestic abuse in the past year. Women
aged 35-44 are the most affected group.

o Service Strengths: Halton’s IDVA service is highly praised for its
professionalism and impact. Multi-agency working is supporting
improved outcomes.

e Areas of future focus:

o Support for male, LGBTQ+, ethnic minority, disabled and
older victims.

o Refuge and emergency accommodation, especially for
complex needs.

o High rates of victims returning to perpetrators (36.8% vs
3.5% nationally).
Waiting lists for mental health and trauma support.
Support for children and improving post-court support.

There are 13 strategic recommendations which the Domestic Abuse
Partnership Board are asked to consider including alignment with
the housing strategy, increase capacity for meeting demand and
assessing complexity, increase trauma informed responses, review
support for children affected and explore school-based interventions.

The JSNA will inform the next iteration of the Domestic Abuse
Strategy which will be developed in 2026, to be implemented from
2027 which will be subject to further reports in due course as the
strategy is developed.

The Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner secured funding to
commence a ‘breaking the cycle of domestic abuse’ initiative to be
piloted in Halton for twelve months which commenced in April.

The initiative involves commissioned services working in close
alignment with Halton’s dedicated domestic abuse services to
deliver perpetrator behaviour change. The PCC Office, Council
departments, Police and providers have developed joint working
arrangements including co-location and shared case management.
The project aims to work with perpetrators and their families in
Halton to change offending behaviour and break the cycle of abuse.
The objectives are: -

e To deliver a service across Halton that looks at multi-disciplinary
support a contextual safeguarding approach to address
Domestic Abuse.

e Develop behavioural change programmes which provide
immediate and longer-term support to both victims and
perpetrators, enhancing the offer that is received through the
‘Choices’ provision.

e Ensuring the behavioural change program is supporting and



3.14

3.15

3.16

4.0

4.1

5.0

5.1

5.2

6.0

6.1

Page 15

actively engages with the victim and has a ‘whole family’
approach.

¢ Reduce re-offending.

e Increase safety for victims and children safer, and support
families to stay together, where it is appropriate.

Whilst the initiative is a twelve-month programme, there is potential
this may be extended as the project has only recently reached a fully
staffing compliment, and it has taken some time to align procedures
across multiple agencies.

In addition to the work above, the Domestic Abuse Partnership
Board, and the Councils Domestic Abuse team are working Adults
Safeguarding Board and partner agencies to raise awareness of
older persons Domestic Abuse.

An event is planned for 215t November 2025, bringing together
professionals from across the partnership and Halton. The event
includes guest speakers from Age UK, Hourglass (domestic abuse
charity for older people), and Halton Domestic Abuse Team to
discuss prevention and best practice management for those
supporting individuals at risk of or experiencing domestic abuse in
later life.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

The Domestic Abuse Partnership Board delivers on statutory
requirements as set out in the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 and
Halton’s Strategy for Domestic Abuse (appendix 2)

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Domestic abuse delivery is currently within budgeted forecasts and
allocated resource.

The PCC Breaking the Cycle project is externally commissioned and
funded.

IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater
Independence

Improving the outcomes of those affected by domestic abuse
directly supports this priority, improving physical and mental health,
promoting wellbeing of self and family and enabling resilience and
independence after experiencing harm.



6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

Page 16

Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy

Investing in workforce awareness of domestic abuse is essential to
building organisational capacity and fostering a consistent, informed
response across the local authority also recognising many of
Halton’s workforce are also our residents.

Enhanced training equips teams with the knowledge and confidence
to identify, respond to, and support individuals affected by domestic
abuse, promoting a more integrated and collaborative approach
across services. Furthermore, supporting individuals to achieve
safety and stability can significantly reduce barriers to employment,
education, and training, therefore empowering them to rebuild their
lives and access wider opportunities.

This dual focus on workforce development and survivor
empowerment contributes to long-term resilience and social
inclusion within the borough.

Supporting Children, Young People and Families

Domestic abuse is frequently intergenerational, with its impact often
extending across multiple generations within families. As a local
authority, Halton has a statutory obligation to safeguard children and
young people from harm. Beyond this duty, there is a strategic
opportunity to invest in early intervention and preventative measures
that support children and young people in developing healthy
relationships and fostering positive family environments.

Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need

A robust domestic abuse provision plays a critical role in supporting
the borough’s most vulnerable residents and addressing entrenched
inequalities. By confronting domestic abuse directly through
coordinated prevention and protection strategies, the local authority
contributes to the creation of safer, more resilient communities.
Targeted interventions not only safeguard those at greatest risk but
also help to reduce disparities in access to safety, support, and
justice, ensuring that individuals affected by abuse are not further
marginalised by systemic barriers.

Working Towards a Greener Future

None.

Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community

By strengthening  multi-agency  collaboration, addressing

intergenerational harm, and empowering individuals through
recovery and opportunity, these efforts foster safer households and



7.0

7.1

8.0

8.1

9.0

9.1

10.0

Page 17

more resilient communities. This holistic approach not only meets
statutory obligations but also reinforces Halton’s commitment to
reducing harm, tackling inequality, and promoting long-term
wellbeing across the borough.

RISK ANALYSIS

Halton Borough Council has a statutory duty to provide support to
individuals experiencing domestic abuse, as outlined in relevant
legislation. Failure to fulfil this duty could result in serious
consequences, including domestic abuse-related fatalities or
significant harm to residents. Such outcomes would not only have
profound human and social impacts but could also expose the
Council to reputational damage and potential legal liability. Ensuring
robust and responsive domestic abuse services is therefore
essential to safeguarding vulnerable individuals and maintaining
public trust and accountability.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

Domestic abuse affects individuals across all demographics, but
evidence shows that certain groups, such as women, children,
disabled individuals, LGBTQ+ communities, and those from minority
ethnic backgrounds may face heightened risks and additional
barriers to accessing support. Halton Borough Council has a duty
under the Equality Act 2010 to ensure that its domestic abuse
services are inclusive, equitable, and responsive to the diverse
needs of its residents. This includes recognising intersectional
vulnerabilities and tailoring interventions to promote fair access to
safety, justice, and recovery.

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS
None to report.

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

Domestic Abuse Service, Safer Policy Performance Board, 61"
February 2024



HALTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

2025

DOMESTIC
ABUSE

NEEDS
ASSESSMENT




Page 19

Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment 2025
Author: Rosanna Marr (Graduate Domestic Abuse Officer)

Contents

EXECULIVE SUMMAIY ..o e 1
€ (01757 o VUSSR 9
INtrOAUCHION .. e 10
Progress SIiNCE 2027 ... ..o 11
Borough Profile ... 12
The Impact of DOmestiCc ADUSE .........coovviiiiiiiiii e, 14
Overview Of ADUSE TYPES......uiiiiiiieiiii e e e 21
National Context ... 27
LocCal ConteXt.....c.uii i 30
National and Local Prevalence of Domestic Abuse............ccccooevvinnnnns 33
Available Domestic Abuse Data.........c...ccoeeiiiiiiii . 39
Safe Accommodation Data ............cccooiiiiiii i 44
Domestic Abuse-Related Death Reviews............cocoviiiiiiiiiii, 51
Feedback from Domestic Abuse Services........ccccoovvviiiiiiiiiciiiiiceein, 53

ReCOMMENAAtIONS .. ..o e 62



Page 20

Executive Summary
Introduction

This needs assessment aims to understand the nature and prevalence of domestic
abuse in Halton. It will be used to inform the development of Halton’s domestic
abuse strategy and the provision and commissioning of domestic abuse services.

The Impact of Domestic Abuse

Domestic abuse affects an estimated 3.8 million adults per year! in England and
Wales alone, and has a devastating impact on individuals and families, affecting
victims mentally, emotionally, physically, socially and economically. Existing
inequalities, such as poverty, disability, or systemic discrimination, often intensify
these harms. In 2017, the Home Office estimated that domestic abuse costs society
approximately £66 billion (in England and Wales) in a single year, equating to around
£85 billion in July 2024 prices.?

Types of Abuse

Domestic abuse most frequently occurs between intimate partners but can also be
inflicted by other family members, including instances of Child to Parent Violence
and Abuse (CPVA). It can take many forms, including physical, sexual, emotional,
coercive, controlling and economic abuse, often occurring together, and in some
cases, may lead to domestic abuse-related deaths. The experience of domestic
abuse varies greatly from person to person, shaped by individual circumstances and
backgrounds. A person’s identity, for example, their race, ethnicity, age, gender,
religion, sexual orientation, economic position, immigration status, disabilities, health
and mental health, can significantly influence how they experience abuse, the effects
it has on them, and their ability to seek and receive help. Support services should
therefore be tailored to address the diverse and overlapping challenges faced by
survivors, ensuring sensitivity to the multiple layers of disadvantage and risk they
may encounter.

National Context

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 marked a significant step forward by creating a
comprehensive legal definition of domestic abuse, appointing a Domestic Abuse
Commissioner, and introducing key safeguards, such as preventing abusers from
directly cross-examining survivors in court. Complementing this, the government’s
Tackling Domestic Abuse Plan outlines a cross-departmental strategy centred on
prevention, enhanced support for victims, holding perpetrators to account, and
strengthening the overall system. However, despite these developments, challenges

! Office for National Statistics (2025) Crime in England and Wales: year ending March 2025.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/
yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse

2 Domestic Abuse Commissioner (2025) HM Treasury Autumn 2025 Spending Review: Phase 2 Submission.
https.//domesticabusecommissioner.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/02/012025-DAC-HMT-Autumn-2025-Phase-

2-submission.pdf



https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse
https://domesticabusecommissioner.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/02/012025-DAC-HMT-Autumn-2025-Phase-2-submission.pdf
https://domesticabusecommissioner.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/02/012025-DAC-HMT-Autumn-2025-Phase-2-submission.pdf

Page 21

remain, particularly as incidents of violence against women and girls continue to
i 3
rise.

Local Context

The Halton Domestic Abuse Partnership Board leads the local response to domestic
abuse by developing and implementing Halton’s domestic abuse strategy and
coordinating multi-agency efforts. Halton Borough Council commissions key services
from providers such as Halton Women’s Centre, which offer practical and emotional
support to women affected by domestic abuse. While Halton has some safe
accommodation options, including refuge, there is currently a lack of specialist by-
and-for or second-stage accommodations within the borough. Male victims face
limited access to safe housing. Ongoing efforts aim to expand and diversify support
and accommodation options better to meet the needs of all survivors in Halton.

The Halton Domestic Abuse Partnership’s key priorities are:

1. To act before someone harms or is harmed: By building their evidence and
understanding, to develop approaches that stop abuse from happening in the
first place

2. To identify and stop harmful behaviours: Using emerging evidence and
practice to increase and improve the responses that challenge harmful
behaviour

3. To increase safety for those at risk: To keep supporting and strengthening
the work which protects -eople from abuse, increasing safety and wellbeing
quickly and effectively

4. To support people to live the lives they want after harm occurs: To
improve and expand the support for everyone impacted by abuse, for all
forms that impact takes

National and Local Prevalence of Domestic Abuse

According to the Crime Survey for England and Wales* (CSEW), for the year ending
March 2025, an estimated 3.8 million people aged 16 years and over experienced
domestic abuse in the last year, equating to 7.8% of the adult population. This
includes approximately 2.3 million women (9.5%) and 1.5 million men (6.5%).

Based on these national prevalence rates and local demographic data from the 2021
Census, it is estimated that over 8200 residents aged 16 and over in Halton may
have experienced domestic abuse in the past year, including almost 5000 women
and over 3000 men.

Domestic abuse in Halton is closely linked with wider social and health factors that
increase risk and can make it harder for victims to seek safety or change their
situation. Higher rates of poverty, unemployment, and long-term iliness or disability
are all relevant locally, alongside factors such as caring responsibilities and
pregnancy, which are nationally recognised as increasing vulnerability. Substance
misuse can also intensify abuse or form part of victims’ coping responses. These

3 National Audit Office (2025) Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls.
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/tackling-violence-against-women-and-gqirls/

4 Office for National Statistics (2025) Crime in England and Wales: year ending March 2025.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandijustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/
yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse



https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/tackling-violence-against-women-and-girls/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse

Page 22

interrelated factors suggest that applying national prevalence rates may
underestimate local need and underline the importance of person-centred,
preventive approaches that connect domestic abuse support with anti-poverty
measures, health and substance misuse services, and early help for families.

According to the CSEW?, the police recorded 815,941 domestic abuse-related

offences in England and Wales in the year ending March 2025. This highlights the
significant underreporting of domestic abuse to the police, given that an estimated
3.8 million people may have experienced domestic abuse during the same period.

Domestic abuse prevalence rates were higher among several groups:

Women

Those aged 16-19

Mixed and white ethnic groups

Adults with a disability (defined as a long-standing iliness, disability or

impairment which causes difficulty with day-to-day activities)

e Those with a long-term or temporary illness, students and those looking after
their family and home (employment status may have changed as a result of
the abuse)

e Separated and divorced individuals (marital status may have changed as a
result of the abuse)

¢ Individuals in households composed of a single person with one or more

children (household structure may have changed as a result of the abuse)

In Halton, the most at-risk categories, based on closed-case statistics since 2023,
were white women aged 35-44.

Available Domestic Abuse Data

Domestic abuse remains a largely hidden crime, with an estimated 50 incidents
occurring before victims access support. Only 35% of domestic violence cases are
reported to the police, limiting our understanding of the true scale of the issue.®

In 2024, Halton recorded 2,461 domestic abuse-related offences, with a rate of 19.2
per 1,000 population, significantly higher than the Cheshire Constabulary average of
13.7. The most frequent offences were assault without injury, stalking, and assault
with injury, which together made up more than half of all cases. Violence with injury
accounted for 436 incidents, with slightly more reports from Widnes than Runcorn.
Offences peaked in March and September.

There was a strong correlation between domestic abuse and wider crime types.
Notably, 91 % of stalking offences were linked to domestic abuse. In total, 41 % of
stalking and harassment offences and 59 % of sexual offences carried a Violence
Against Women and Girls (VAWG) flag.

5 Office for National Statistics (2025) Crime in England and Wales: year ending March 2025.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/
yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse

6 SafeLives (n.d.) Length of abuse.
https://safelives.org.uk/about-domestic-abuse/what-is-domestic-abuse/facts-and-figures/length-of-abuse



https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse
https://safelives.org.uk/about-domestic-abuse/what-is-domestic-abuse/facts-and-figures/length-of-abuse

Page 23

Halton recorded 3,349 VAWG offences during the year, a rate of 26.1 per 1,000
population, again above the force average. Offences peaked in August and remained
consistently high throughout spring and summer.

The borough recorded 2,251 stalking and harassment offences, with harassment
being the most common subtype. Widnes Local Policing Unit saw the largest
increases, particularly in the Inner cluster.

Sexual offences reached their highest levels in five years, with 530 incidents
including 191 rapes and 376 child sexual abuse cases. Rates across all sexual
offence categories were higher in Halton than in the wider force area.

In 2024/25, Halton’s domestic abuse service received 1,833 referrals across all risk
levels, with 603 cases allocated to IDVA support and the majority referred by police;
however, a substantial proportion either declined support or could not be contacted,
highlighting both demand and the importance of sustained engagement.

Safe Accommodation Data

Halton’s response to domestic abuse aligns with the Domestic Abuse Act 2021,
ensuring victims can access safe and appropriate accommodation. While most
support happens through safety planning and multi-agency partnerships that help
victims remain at home, some require emergency housing due to ongoing risk.

Halton offers a range of housing options, including refuge, sanctuary schemes,
supported accommodation and targeted services for those with complex needs. The
Whole Housing Approach guides local efforts to support early intervention, tenancy
protection and long-term recovery.

Despite strong partnerships, a 2024 Housing Needs Assessment found a shortage of
emergency accommodation, especially for residents with complex needs. Survivors
are not always prioritised as required, highlighting the need to strengthen prevention
and ensure compliance with statutory duties.

Community sentiment strongly supports this direction. According to Halton’s draft
Housing Strategy, based upon the housing needs assessment, supporting domestic
abuse survivors through accommodation was the second-highest priority identified
by residents, with 68.3% of household survey respondents naming it a key issue. In
response, the Council has proposed a series of strategic housing actions, including:

« Ensuring survivors receive appropriate priority through Housing Options

« Reviewing local domestic abuse housing needs in full

o Developing a new 3-4 bed refuge for emergency placements, including those

with complex needs

Improving accommodation options for older people fleeing abuse

Standardising and expanding the Sanctuary Scheme across providers

Enhancing perpetrator behaviour change offers

Collaborating with private landlords to co-design a survivor-focused housing

scheme

e Recognising that many victims need safe, short-term support rather than long-
term dependency



Page 24

These intentions, though still in draft form, signal the Council’s commitment to
aligning housing strategy with domestic abuse legislation, survivor voice, and local
demand.

National data shows 63,580 referrals for domestic abuse safe accommodation were
made across England. Most were female adults, with only 3% male and 1% trans or
non-binary individuals, highlighting a gap in support for male victims.

Halton received 104 referrals and supported 119 individuals, representing around
0.09% of its population. Of those supported, 92 were female adults, 2 were male, 1
was trans or non-binary, and 24 were children. Nearly 30% came from outside the
borough. This suggests Halton’s provision primarily supports adult women, with a
lower representation of children and male survivors than seen nationally.

Halton reported 34 individuals with additional support requirements. Mental health
needs were most common, followed by alcohol and drug support needs. This reflects
a need to improve access to trauma-informed and therapeutic services.

Halton currently has 12 refuge bed spaces and no dispersed, specialist, or second-
stage accommodation. As a result, 60% of supported individuals were in refuge and
40% received support through sanctuary schemes. These allow victims to remain at
home safely through property-based security enhancements.

Halton’s average stay in refuge accommodation was approximately four months,
longer than the national average. Short stays were more frequent than average, and
one-third of lengths of stay were not recorded. A lack of alternative accommodation
may be contributing to longer durations and reduced turnover.

Capacity constraints are the leading reason households could not be supported in
Halton, accounting for 81% of the 57 cases, more than double the national rate. Only
one case was recorded as ‘unmet need’, likely suppressed due to small numbers.

Of the 38 households that exited support, 60.5% moved on in a planned way.
However, 36.8% returned to live with the perpetrator, compared with just 3.5%
nationally. This is a significant safeguarding concern and may indicate challenges
related to coercive control, lack of stable housing options, or insufficient follow-up
support. Halton also had a higher-than-average rate of eviction or ‘asked to leave’
cases.

Despite limited accommodation types, Halton has delivered inclusive specialist
services and demonstrates strong data recording. However, the borough would
benefit from expanded housing options, increased therapeutic provision, and better
pathways for families and male survivors.

Domestic Abuse-Related Death Reviews

Domestic Abuse Related Death Reviews (DARDRSs) investigate deaths of individuals
aged 16 or over linked to violence or abuse by family or household members,
including suicides, to learn lessons and improve victim support.

Between April 2023 and March 2024, England and Wales recorded 262 domestic
abuse-related deaths, including 98 suspected suicides and 80 intimate partner



Page 25

homicides. For the second year, suicides exceeded partner homicides, showing
improved awareness of the abuse-suicide link.’

From 2020 to 2024, there were 1,012 such deaths, with victims mostly female and
suspects predominantly male, many with mental health and substance misuse
issues. Sharp instruments caused nearly half of homicides, and most suspects had
prior domestic abuse police records.

Halton has had no confirmed domestic abuse-related deaths since 2014, but
remains prepared to conduct DARDRSs if needed.

Halton’s Domestic Abuse Service Research

Halton Borough Council conducted a qualitative study involving surveys and a
‘pinpoint’ focus group with service providers to better understand domestic abuse
support needs in the area.

Key Findings - Service Providers:

o Strong IDVA Engagement: IDVA services were praised for responsiveness,
communication, and partnership working, particularly in MARAC and with
housing teams

« Support Gaps: There are significant service gaps for LGBTQ+, deaf, ethnic
minority, and low-to-medium risk victims

« Service Navigation Issues: Many providers lack up-to-date information on
available services, highlighting the need for a central service directory

e Legal & Court Support Overstretched: Victims often lack legal advocacy;
court delays and poor follow-up are common

« Housing Strain: While housing teams are collaborative, refuge access is
limited, and temporary solutions like hotels are inadequate

o Insufficient Support for Children: Limited local provision for children
affected by trauma; more play therapy and specialist staff needed

« Mental Health Access Difficult: Support is inconsistent, with long waits and
over-reliance on signposting

« Training Needs: Staff in other services raised the need for better training in
trauma-informed practice, legal processes, and support for marginalised
groups

o Systemic Challenges: High caseloads, communication issues (especially
from Children’s Social Care), and fragmented agency coordination persist

« Recommendations: Include creating a service portal, improving support for
mid-risk victims, expanding trauma services, and boosting IDVA capacity

Key Findings - Service Users:

« Awareness & Access: Many victims are unaware of local services; most
found help only through self-directed searches

« Positive Experiences: IDVA team and Women’s Centre received strong
praise for empathetic, consistent support

o Negative Experiences: Users reported poor follow-up, misjudgement by
professionals, and fragmented services, especially post-court

7 Vulnerability Knowledge and Practice Programme (VKPP) (2025) Domestic Homicide Project.
https://www.vkpp.org.uk/vkpp-work/domestic-homicide-project/

6


https://www.vkpp.org.uk/vkpp-work/domestic-homicide-project/

Page 26

Housing Barriers: Many experienced homelessness or poor support from
housing services; safety measures were inconsistently applied

Children Lacking Support: Services for affected children are limited; schools
vary in response effectiveness

Justice System Frustration: Delays, lack of updates, and confusing
processes undermine confidence in legal protection

Health/Mental Health Support: Mixed experiences - some accessed helpful
referrals, others felt abandoned

Inclusion Issues: Male, LGBTQ+, and older victims reported feeling
excluded or unsupported by current services

While Halton demonstrates strengths in IDVA support and multi-agency
collaboration, critical service gaps remain - particularly for marginalised groups,
children, and victims with complex needs. Consistent communication, better service
mapping, legal advocacy, trauma-informed approaches, and inclusive provision are
essential for system improvement.

Halton Housing Needs Assessment Research

The Council also recently undertook a Housing Needs Assessment. During this
assessment, feedback was also sought from staff working within the Domestic Abuse
Team in Halton and other relevant Housing officers. They shared the following:

Professionals believe domestic abuse is one of the most significant
challenges in Halton. The true scale is not fully understood, particularly for
those sofa surfing or staying with family and friends

The Anne Street West emergency accommodation is not fit for purpose. It is
widely known, lacks privacy, and its gender blind model is seen as
unsuitable. People with complex needs are often excluded. A new multi-
bedroom refuge is required

Older people experiencing abuse face limited options, especially if they
require ground-floor accommodation

The sanctuary scheme is valued, but officers noted inconsistency in
provision across the social housing sector. A clear service standard is
needed

There is strong support for keeping families in their homes and removing the
perpetrator where safe and appropriate. However, resources to support
perpetrators are currently limited

Many victims do not require long-term support but do need safe, short-term
accommodation to plan their next steps

There is a shortfall of move-on accommodation, and survivors are not
consistently prioritised in line with the legal duty

Stronger engagement with local landlords is needed to expand housing
support schemes

Citizens Advice Halton Study



Page 27

In early 2025, Citizens Advice Halton® conducted qualitative research with women in
Halton who had experienced domestic abuse. Their findings offer critical insight into
the barriers survivors face and what they need from services. This lived-experience
evidence aligns closely with broader strategic priorities in the borough.

Survivors identified six main barriers to receiving support:

o Lack of awareness of what abuse is and what help exists

o Fear of retaliation, particularly relating to safety, housing, or children

« Distrust of services, especially statutory bodies, due to fear of judgment or
child removal

« Services not meeting needs, being too impersonal, fragmented, or culturally
inappropriate

« Lack of diversity in services, with minority and LGBTQ+ survivors feeling
unseen or excluded

o Perception of loss when leaving - home, stability, community, and financial
security

Survivors described an ideal domestic abuse service as:

« Empathetic and validating, where being believed matters

« Offering a single point of contact for consistency and trust

« Providing practical support with housing, benefits, court forms, and home
safety

« Delivering timely responses, ideally same-day

« Built as “by and for” services, with lived experience and cultural understanding
embedded

Recommendations from Citizens Advice Halton for how to improve Halton’s
Domestic Abuse support offer:

Proactively ask about abuse in all frontline settings

Develop a multi-agency one-stop hub for coordinated support

Raise local awareness of what abuse looks like

Improve signposting and visibility of help

Expand support for those below IDVA thresholds

Commission inclusive, survivor-led services that reflect Halton’s diversity

oA WON 2

These findings and recommendations provide a strong case for survivor-informed,
timely, and inclusive support pathways, aligned with trauma-informed practice and
long-term recovery goals.

Recommendations

Summary of recommendations:

1. Create a Centralised, Up-to-Date Domestic Abuse Service Directory (webpage
and poss. Print version — IN PROGRESS)
2. Expand Support for Low- and Medium-Risk Victims

8 Citizens Advice Halton (2025) Domestic Abuse: Community Research Report - Lived Experiences of Survivors in
Halton.
https://haltoncab.org.uk/research-and-campaigns/



https://haltoncab.org.uk/research-and-campaigns/

Page 28

3. Increase Capacity and Longevity of the IDVA Service

4. Improve Court, Legal, and Criminal Justice Navigation

5. Address Housing and Accommodation Gaps — Also in new Housing Strategy
6. Strengthen Support for Children and Young People

7. Improve Support for Marginalised and Underserved Groups

8. Enhance Inter-Agency Coordination and Communication

9. Improve Mental Health and Wellbeing Access

10. Provide Long-Term Recovery and Empowerment Options

11. Strengthen Interventions for Perpetrators and Expand Child-to-Parent Abuse
Response

12. Tackle Workplace Domestic Abuse

13. Strengthen Future Needs Assessments

Glossary

This glossary provides definitions for acronyms used throughout the Domestic
Abuse Needs Assessment to support understanding across professional and
community audiences.

CPVA: Child to Parent Violence and Abuse

CSEW: Crime Survey for England and Wales

CSP: Community Safety Partnership

CSC: Children’s Social Care

DA: Domestic Abuse

DAHA: Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance

DAP: Domestic Abuse Partnership

DARDR: Domestic Abuse Related Death Review

DHR: Domestic Homicide Review (previous name for DARDR, see above)
DLUHC: Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities

HDAP: Halton Domestic Abuse Partnership

IDVA: Independent Domestic Violence Advisor, a specialist professional who
supports victims at high risk of harm, offering safety planning, advocacy and
emotional support

IPH: Intimate Partner Homicides

IPV: Intimate Partner Violence

LGBTQ+: Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer/ Questioning and other
identities

LPUs: Local Policing Units

MARAC: Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference

MHCLG: Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government

NEET: Not in Education, Employment or Training

NFS: Non-fatal strangulation, a form of physical abuse now recognised in UK law
as a standalone offence under the Domestic Abuse Act 2021

NHS: National Health Service

NPCC: National Police Chiefs’ Council

NSPCC: National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children

ONS: Office for National Statistics

PCC: Police and Crime Commissioner

PTSD: Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder



Page 29

RSHE: Relationships, Sex and Health Education

SHP: Safer Halton Partnership

SVSDA: Suspected Victim Suicides following Domestic Abuse
VAWG: Violence Against Women and Girls

Introduction

This needs assessment seeks to gain a comprehensive understanding of the nature
and extent of domestic abuse in Halton. Its findings will support Halton Borough
Council in planning, delivering, and commissioning domestic abuse services. By
identifying gaps in provision, the assessment will help the Council and its partners
allocate limited resources more strategically, focusing on the individuals,
communities and areas most in need.

The assessment will:

* Examine relevant national policies and legislative frameworks

+ Outline Halton’s current approach to tackling domestic abuse

* Analyse national data and research on domestic abuse prevalence

* Review local data to assess the scale and characteristics of domestic abuse in
Halton

 Gather insights from local service providers and stakeholders

* Present a set of evidence-based recommendations

Halton’s Vision

Halton’s Sustainable Community Strategy 2011 — 2026 sets out that the vision
of all partners is that:

“Halton will be a thriving and vibrant borough where people can learn and develop
their skills; enjoy a good quality of life with good health; a high quality, modern urban
environment, the opportunity for all to fulfil their potential; greater wealth and
equality; sustained by a thriving business community; and safer, stronger and more
attractive neighbourhoods.”

Halton Borough Council Corporate Plan 2024 — 2029:

Priority 1: Improving health, promoting wellbeing and supporting greater
independence

Priority 2: Building a strong, sustainable local economy

Priority 3: Supporting children, young people and families

Priority 4: Tackling inequality and helping those who are most in need
Priority 5: Working towards a greener future

Priority 6: Valuing and appreciating Halton and our community

The Halton Domestic Abuse Partnership’s Vision:

“‘We have listened to our local survivors, their children and working together have

designed a clear pathway to the Partnership to ensure that we are and continue to
be service user-led. Halton has a long-established multi-agency partnership ethos.
We recognise that no one agency can end domestic abuse, and we will continue to

10



Page 30

work in collaboration and challenge agencies to ensure that Halton intervention
models are based on best practice, evidence and robust evaluation. No one should
live in fear, especially in a domestic setting... Halton aims to create safer homes,
safer communities and a safer society, benefiting all of our residents, reducing fear
and harm experienced by those affected by domestic abuse.”

Progress Since 2021

Integration of Services for Stronger Collaboration:

In 2023, Halton’s Domestic Abuse Service was brought in-house and
relocated to the Municipal Building in Widnes. This move has strengthened
delivery, partnership, collaboration and increased interaction with the
Council’'s Community Safety Team

Housing Needs Considered Through a Domestic Abuse Lens:

In 2024, the Council commissioned a comprehensive Housing Needs
Assessment, which included an estimate of the local need for safe
accommodation for those experiencing domestic abuse. This ensures housing
strategies are better informed and responsive to the statute, which sets out
requirements for emergency, step-down supported and dispersed
accommodation for domestic abuse victims and children

Enhanced Data Collection and Monitoring:

A new domestic abuse data dashboard was developed in 2024, providing
clearer insights into service demand and outcomes and helping to drive data-
led improvements

Increased Focus on Perpetrator Interventions:

Progress has been made in understanding and addressing perpetrator
behaviour. The Council now provides a perpetrator offer with the delivery of
the ‘Choices’ programme with additional provision offered through MyCWA,
funded by the Cheshire Police and Crime Commissioner, and ‘Remedi’, which
includes an offer for those who harm under the age of 16

White Ribbon Accreditation:

Halton achieved White Ribbon accreditation in 2024, reflecting its commitment
to ending male violence against women. This included establishing a cross-
departmental steering group, appointing champions and ambassadors, and
launching awareness-raising activities

Improved Domestic Abuse Awareness in Primary Care:

The commissioning of the IRIS programme in 2024/25 helped raise
awareness of domestic abuse across Halton’s GP practices. The project
introduced a specialist referral pathway and strengthened links between
healthcare and support services

Stronger Police-Based Presence in Halton:

There is now a dedicated Domestic Violence Advocate (DVA) for Halton,
working closely with Cheshire Police to strengthen early intervention and
improve the response to domestic abuse. The PCC office has invested
heavily and has an area of focus on tackling domestic abuse. The response
to the Serious Violence Duty has seen a programme on serial domestic abuse

11



Page 31

perpetrators and investment in a whole system approach for harm reduction in
a domestic abuse pilot

e Improved Access to Support Online:
Work is underway to launch a new domestic abuse webpage featuring
enhanced information on local services and support. There has also been a
focus on information and access to services with family hubs and Police
Officer

« information to share at the point of contact

e« New Public Awareness Materials:
Posters and information cards are currently being developed for distribution
across the borough, making it easier for individuals to access help

o Self-Referral Form Introduced:
A new online self-referral form has been added to the Council’s website,
making it easier for survivors to reach out for support, advice, and services
directly

e Support for Children Affected by Domestic Abuse:
The Children’s Society’s Resolve service has been commissioned in Halton,
recognising children and young people as victims in their own right and
providing specialist support

« Halton Domestic Abuse Partnership Board Reset:
The Board was reviewed and reset to ensure delivery of statutory duties and
strategic requirements. The Board is currently in progress of establishing
several subgroups to provide extra support, and also is expanding its
membership to include representation from more third sector and commission
partners, and lived experience through including domestic abuse survivors

« MARAC Improvements:
Halton is actively working to enhance its MARAC practices, including a
MARAC review, plans to establish a dedicated Steering Group, and will be
participating in a shadowing program with another local authority recognised
for its exemplary MARAC model.

Borough Profile

Halton is a unitary authority (formed in 1998), and a largely urban area when compared
to other areas of Cheshire. It covers the towns of Runcorn and Widnes, and the
parishes of Daresbury, Hale and Preston Brook, serving a population of 128,478 and
approximately 58,000 households (based on the 2021 census and Halton’s Housing
Strategy data). Halton is the 23rd most deprived local authority in the country, with
30% of households living in the top 10% of most deprived areas in the country. The 5
most deprived wards in Halton are Halton Lea, Central & West Bank, Halton Castle,
Grange and Norton South & Preston Brook.

12



Page 32

Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 M s,
Local Government
HALTON
Local authority profile
% of LSOAs in each national deprivation decile
' I ;1.
> [ 17.7%
3 7.6%
4 6.3%

5 5.1%
6 8.9%
7 38%

8 12.7%
9 5.1%
10 13%

What this map shows

This is a map of Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2019
data for Halton. The colours on the map indicate the
deprivation decile of each Lower Layer Super Output Area
(LSOA) for England as a whole, and the coloured bars
above indicate the proportion of LSOAs in each national
deprivation decile. The most deprived areas (decile 1) are
shown in blue. It is important to keep in mind that the
data relate to small areas and do not tell us how deprived,
or wealthy, individual people are. LSOAs have an average
popul of just under 1,700 (as of 2017)

More deprived Less deprived

Relative level of deprivation

Halton shares many of the social, economic and crime/Anti-Social Behaviour issues
more associated with its urban neighbours in Merseyside, and has been part of the
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority since 2014. The environment acts as a
contributory factor to the abuse and violence seen in Halton.

The 0-15 years cohort has increased by 1.3% in the last ten years, ages 16-64 have
decreased by 3% and, most significantly, the 65+ age group has increased by some
29.3%. The rise in over-65s signals a growing need for age-appropriate domestic
abuse services, particularly accessible housing and outreach. Significantly, the
proportion of primary-aged children eligible for free school meals is the 11" highest in
the country, and for secondary schools, Halton is the 10" highest.

The average life expectancy is 77.1 years for males and 80.5 years for females, both
below the England averages of 78.8 and 82.8 years. Health outcomes present a
challenge in the borough with cancer, cardiovascular, respiratory and liver disease
being higher than the national average, and poor mental health a prominent feature in
our communities.

Halton has a very stable community, with a low level of outward migration, which is
more or less the same as those migrating into Halton. 96.5% of the population is white,
with only 4.8% of the population being born outside of the UK. The main language
spoken is English at 97.3%.

23% of Halton’s population aged 16-65 are claiming Universal Credit, compared to a
national average of 17.9%. There is also a much higher proportion of 16 and 17-year-
olds who are not in education, employment or training (NEET), at 5.5% compared to
3.2% (England). The unemployment rate has reduced to just 3.2% for individuals aged
16 or over, which is lower than the national average of 3.7%; however, there is a higher
rate of economic activity (25.9%) than the national average (21.1%). People are
classed as ‘economically inactive’ if they are not in employment, but don’t meet the
criteria for being ‘unemployed’. Common reasons include being retired, looking after

13



Page 33

the home or family, or being temporarily or long-term sick and disabled. High levels of
economic inactivity may increase vulnerability to abuse and create barriers to leaving
perpetrators.

The Impact of Domestic Abuse

The CSEW? for the year ending March 2025 estimated that 3.8 million people aged
16 years and over experienced domestic abuse in the last year. Domestic abuse
remains an underreported crime. In the same period, police recorded 815,941 million
domestic abuse-related offences. The National Centre for Domestic Violence®®
estimates that just under a quarter (24%) of domestic abuse-related crime is
reported to the police.

Domestic abuse is a gendered crime. The CSEW estimated that 2.3 million women
and 1.5 million men experienced domestic abuse in the previous year. A significantly
higher proportion of women were victims of each of the overarching types of abuse
than men.

Halton recognises that being subjected to Domestic Abuse can have a considerable
impact on the health and well-being of an individual, for their children and for others
such as family and friends who try and help. The direct immediate impact may
include cuts, bruises, broken bones, lost teeth and hair, sight and hearing damage,
as well as miscarriage, stillbirth, complications of pregnancy, and homicide of victims
and children.

The results of domestic abuse can be long-lasting and may cause or worsen other
chronic health issues, and stress-related conditions, including asthma, epilepsy,
digestive problems, migraine, hypertension, fibromyalgia and skin disorders.
Domestic abuse has a significant effect on an individual’s emotional, psychological
and mental wellbeing and can lead to anxiety, depression, PTSD and suicide, and
can be associated with psychosomatic symptoms such as numbness, shaking,
nervous twitching, cramps and paralysis. It may also lead to feelings of isolation,
worthlessness and dependency on the perpetrator, as well as depression, anxiety,
post-traumatic stress disorder and sleeping and eating disorders.

Those affected by domestic abuse are at greater risk of increased use of alcohol,
drugs and other substances used as a coping mechanism. Domestic abuse can also
lead to an individual having to take time off work and from caring responsibilities, and
can lead to homelessness.

The psychological impact of domestic abuse can be so severe that it leads to
suicidal ideation and attempts. The Domestic Homicide Project found that there were
98 suspected victim suicides following domestic abuse in the year ending March

9 Office for National Statistics (2025) Crime in England and Wales: year ending March 2025.
https://www.ons.qgov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/
yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse

10 National Centre for Domestic Violence (n.d.) Domestic Abuse Statistics UK.
https://www.ncdv.org.uk/domestic-abuse-statistics-uk/

14


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse
https://www.ncdv.org.uk/domestic-abuse-statistics-uk/

Page 34

20241 which is likely an underestimate, as a previous Refuge report found that 24%
of its service users had felt suicidal at least at one point.'?

The health of children affected by domestic abuse is also likely to have been
seriously compromised from witnessing abuse, and also in many cases from abuse
that they may have suffered. Prior experiences of physical and psychological trauma
may also make them less likely to seek help in the future.

Inequalities

Domestic abuse rarely occurs in isolation and is often shaped by complex,
overlapping factors. In Halton, socioeconomic challenges such as poverty,
unemployment, and long-term illness or disability can heighten vulnerability and
make it harder for victims to seek safety or change their circumstances.
Understanding these interlinked issues is vital to developing preventive and person-
centred approaches that address root causes as well as immediate harm.

Women in poverty are much more likely to experience almost every type of violence
and abuse, at rates which are generally twice as high as those of other women.
Women in poverty are twice as likely as other women to have been raped either as
children or adults.*® Victims who are homeless are vulnerable to being further
targeted by perpetrators of both physical and sexual abuse, and the risk of
homelessness for an individual and their children can prevent a victim from leaving a
home shared with a perpetrator.1*

Victims from ethnic minority backgrounds may face multiple and additional barriers
when trying to escape domestic abuse, and may remain in abusive situations for
longer before reporting. These barriers can be understood as the result of
‘intersectional discrimination’ whereby cultural and structural inequalities overlap and
multiply to hinder women'’s ability to seek help. They may not report abuse to the
police or public services due to a lack of trust, racism and cultural insensitivity,
language barriers and possible limited understanding of the law and their rights, or
for fears surrounding immigration and deportation.*®

Pregnant women may be more vulnerable to domestic abuse. In 2023, the NHS
estimated that one in three pregnant women experiences domestic abuse'®. Abuse

1 yulnerability Knowledge and Practice Programme (n.d.) Domestic Homicide Project.
https://www.vkpp.org.uk/vkpp-work/domestic-homicide-project/

12 Aitken, R and Munro, V. (2018) Domestic Abuse and Suicide: Exploring the Links with Refuge’s Client Base
and Work Force.
https://www.refuge.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/domestic-abuse-suicide-refuge-warwick-
july2018.pdf

13 Agenda (2016) Joining the Dots: The combined burden of violence, abuse and poverty in the lives of women.
https://www.agendaalliance.org/documents/121/Joining The Dots Report.pdf

14 Home Office (2022) Domestic Abuse: Statutory Guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-act-2021/domestic-abuse-statutory-guidance-
accessible-version

15 Scottish Government Justice Analytical Services (2024) Minoritised Ethnic Women’s Experiences of Domestic

Abuse and Barriers to Help-Seeking: A Summary of the Evidence.
https://www.gov.scot/publications/minoritised-ethnic-womens-experiences-domestic-abuse-barriers-help-
seeking-summary-evidence

16 House of Commons Library (2021) The Role of Healthcare Services in Addressing Domestic Abuse.
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9233/

15


https://www.vkpp.org.uk/vkpp-work/domestic-homicide-project/
https://www.refuge.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/domestic-abuse-suicide-refuge-warwick-july2018.pdf
https://www.refuge.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/domestic-abuse-suicide-refuge-warwick-july2018.pdf
https://www.agendaalliance.org/documents/121/Joining_The_Dots_Report.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-act-2021/domestic-abuse-statutory-guidance-accessible-version
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-act-2021/domestic-abuse-statutory-guidance-accessible-version
https://www.gov.scot/publications/minoritised-ethnic-womens-experiences-domestic-abuse-barriers-help-seeking-summary-evidence
https://www.gov.scot/publications/minoritised-ethnic-womens-experiences-domestic-abuse-barriers-help-seeking-summary-evidence
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9233/

Page 35

often begins or escalates during pregnancy, putting both the adult victim and unborn
child at risk.

Those with a long-term iliness or disability are more than twice as likely (11.7%) to
experience domestic abuse. Sign Health reported that deaf women are at twice the
risk of being abused.'” The need for specialist services can also make accessing
effective support more difficult.

There are many similarities between heterosexual and LGBTQ+ people’s
experiences of domestic abuse. However, LGBTQ+ victims may also experience
abuse of power and control closely associated with having their sexuality, gender
identity or gender reassignment used against them. LGBTQ+ victims can experience
distinct personal and structural barriers in reporting abuse and accessing services.

Health

Domestic abuse can have significant physical health consequences. Victims often
sustain injuries like bruises and fractures. Prolonged exposure to abuse may cause
chronic pain, headaches, digestive problems, and a decline in overall health.
Additionally, abuse can lead to issues such as unintended pregnancies, sexually
transmitted infections, and pregnancy-related complications.

Physical abuse may include non-fatal strangulation (NFS), which perpetrators of
domestic abuse can use to control and intimidate victims. Despite the strong link
between NFS and domestic homicide, it can be difficult to evidence due to a lack of
visible injury. Between July 2022 and June 2023, approximately 700 offenders were
sentenced for non-fatal strangulation or suffocation offences in England and Wales.
This offence was introduced in 2022 under section 75A of the Serious Crime Act
2015, as part of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021. The number of offenders sentenced
increased each quarter, with a notable rise in the proportion of cases heard in the
Crown Court, from 25% in July-September 2022 to 76% in April-dJune 2023. The
majority of these offenders were male, and the most common sentence was an
immediate custodial sentence, averaging around 17 months.*®

The mental health effects of domestic abuse can be profound. Victims are at a higher
risk of developing depression and anxiety disorders, and many go on to experience
Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). Perpetrators frequently isolate victims from
their social networks, leading to feelings of loneliness and social withdrawal.
Prolonged abuse can also severely impact a victim’s self-esteem and sense of self-
worth.1°

The Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey?° found that 75% of women experiencing
extensive physical and sexual violence were not receiving medication or counselling

17 SignHealth (2025) Domestic Abuse Service — Information for professionals.
https://signhealth.org.uk/for-professionals/domestic-abuse-service/

18 Sentencing Council (2023) Non-fatal strangulation and suffocation - Statistical bulletin - Sentencing.
https://www.sentencingcouncil.org.uk/html-publication/item/non-fatal-strangulation-and-suffocation-
statistical-bulletin/

1% Anxious Minds (n.d.) How Domestic Violence Affects Mental Health.
https://www.anxiousminds.co.uk/how-domestic-violence-affects-mental-health/

20 NHS Digital (2021) Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey: Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing, England,
2014.

16


https://signhealth.org.uk/for-professionals/domestic-abuse-service/
https://www.sentencingcouncil.org.uk/html-publication/item/non-fatal-strangulation-and-suffocation-statistical-bulletin/
https://www.sentencingcouncil.org.uk/html-publication/item/non-fatal-strangulation-and-suffocation-statistical-bulletin/
https://www.anxiousminds.co.uk/how-domestic-violence-affects-mental-health/

Page 36

for mental health problems, despite clear signs of severe mental ill health.
Additionally, 36% of women in this group had attempted suicide. These women were
also more than twice as likely to misuse alcohol, often as a way to cope, and eight
times more likely to be dependent on drugs compared to women with little
experience of violence and abuse.

Victims of domestic abuse frequently face homelessness and financial instability as
they try to leave their abusers. These challenges can have a significant impact on
both their physical health and mental well-being.

Male Victims

The CSEW?! estimated that in the year ending March 2025, there were around 1.5
million male victims of domestic abuse. Despite this, only 4.8 per cent of those
accessing support from local domestic abuse services in England and Wales are
men. Between a third to a quarter of stalking victims are male, and men who
experience partner abuse are more likely to attempt suicide. The ManKind Initiative
estimates that between three and five men die by suicide each week as a result of
domestic abuse.??

The risk increases significantly for LGBTQ+ men. For example, the percentage of
gay men (6%) or bisexual men (7.3%) who suffered domestic abuse in 2019/20 was
more than for heterosexual men (3.5%).%3

Male victims of partner abuse are much less likely to disclose their experiences,
often as a result of social stigma. Research from the ManKind Initiative reveals that
58.9% of men who contact their helpline have never previously spoken to anyone
about the abuse they endure, and 64% indicate that they would not have sought help
if the service were not anonymous. Among these men, 98% report experiencing
psychological abuse, 82% experience coercive controlling behaviour, 69% suffer
physical abuse, and 29% face economic abuse.?*

However, the rate of male survivors disclosing partner abuse has significantly
improved. In the year ending March 2023, only 21% of male victims reported not
telling anyone about their experiences - a marked decline from 49% in 2017/18.
Among female victims, the figures were 18.2% in 2022/23 compared to 19% in
2017/18.

As of February 2025, there were 60 organisations in the UK offering 436 refuge or
safe accommodation spaces for men,128 were exclusively for men, and 308 were
mixed-use. The median provision per organisation is five spaces. Halton does not

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-psychiatric-morbidity-survey/adult-
psychiatric-morbidity-survey-survey-of-mental-health-and-wellbeing-england-2014

21 Office for National Statistics (2025) Crime in England and Wales: year ending March 2025.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/
yearendingmarch2025

22 ManKind Initiative (2023) 4 Key Facts on Male Victims of Domestic Abuse 2023
https://mankind.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/4-Key-Facts-on-Male-Victims-of-Domestic-Abuse-2023-
final-June-2023-revised.pdf

23 Home Office (2022) Supporting male victims.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-male-victims/supporting-male-victims-accessible

24 ManKind Initiative (2025) Statistics on Male Victims of Domestic Abuse.
https://mankind.org.uk/statistics/statistics-on-male-victims-of-domestic-abuse/

17


https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-psychiatric-morbidity-survey/adult-psychiatric-morbidity-survey-survey-of-mental-health-and-wellbeing-england-2014
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-psychiatric-morbidity-survey/adult-psychiatric-morbidity-survey-survey-of-mental-health-and-wellbeing-england-2014
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025
https://mankind.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/4-Key-Facts-on-Male-Victims-of-Domestic-Abuse-2023-final-June-2023-revised.pdf
https://mankind.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/4-Key-Facts-on-Male-Victims-of-Domestic-Abuse-2023-final-June-2023-revised.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-male-victims/supporting-male-victims-accessible
https://mankind.org.uk/statistics/statistics-on-male-victims-of-domestic-abuse/

Page 37

currently offer any spaces exclusively for men; their refuge accommodation is
available for all genders.

Children

Under the Domestic Abuse Act 2021, children are recognised as victims of domestic
abuse if they see, hear or are otherwise impacted by the abuse, and are either
related to or fall under the parental responsibility of the victim and/or perpetrator.
This means a child may be considered a victim when, for example, one parent
abuses the other, or when a parent is abused by or abuses a partner or relative.

Estimates from the Office for National Statistics show that between 2017 and 2019,
19.3% of children aged 10-15 (approximately 751,000) lived in households where an
adult reported experiencing domestic abuse in the previous year, revising earlier
estimates of approximately 7%.2° Additional data from the NSPCC shows that
between April and September 2024, there were 3,879 contacts to their helpline
concerning children affected by domestic abuse - a 19% increase compared to the
previous year.

In the year ending March 2023, around 32.4% of adults aged 16 to 59 who reported
experiencing partner abuse were living in a household where at least one child under
the age of 16 was present. Of those, 28.1% of victims reported that the child had
seen or heard the abuse during the most recent incident.?®

A review by SafelLives found that nearly all children (97%) living in households
affected by domestic abuse were exposed to the abuse. Among these children,
about two-thirds experienced direct harm, including physical or emotional abuse, or
neglect. More than half of the exposed children exhibited behavioural problems or
felt responsible for negative events, with these effects potentially persisting into
adulthood. Additionally, difficulties with school adjustment were identified in over
one-third of cases.?’

The NSPCC reported?® that witnessing domestic abuse can have many impacts on
children’s behaviour and mental health, and signs that a child has experienced
domestic abuse can include:

e Aggression or bullying

e Anti-social behaviour

Anxiety, depression or suicidal thoughts

Attention seeking

Bed-wetting, nightmares or insomnia

Constant or regular sickness, like colds, headaches and mouth ulcers

25 Office for National Statistics (2020) Children Vulnerability to Victimisation in England and Wales: Year Ending
March 2017 to Year Ending March 2019.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/childhoodvulnerabilitytov
ictimisationinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2017toyearendingmarch2019

26 Office for National Statistics (2023) Partner abuse in detail, England and Wales: year ending March 2023.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/partnerabuseindetailengla
ndandwales/yearendingmarch2023

27 safelives (2014) In Plain Sight: The Evidence from Children Exposed to Domestic Abuse.
https://safelives.org.uk/research-policy-library/in-plain-sight/

28 NSPCC (ND) Domestic Abuse.
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/what-is-child-abuse/types-of-abuse/domestic-abuse/#signs

18


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/childhoodvulnerabilitytovictimisationinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2017toyearendingmarch2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/childhoodvulnerabilitytovictimisationinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2017toyearendingmarch2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/partnerabuseindetailenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2023
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/partnerabuseindetailenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2023
https://safelives.org.uk/research-policy-library/in-plain-sight/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/what-is-child-abuse/types-of-abuse/domestic-abuse/#signs

Page 38

e Drug or alcohol use

e Eating disorders

e Problems in school or trouble learning
e Tantrums

e Withdrawal

Experiencing domestic abuse in childhood or adolescence has been shown to
increase the likelihood of experiencing or perpetrating domestic abuse later in life.?°

In 2024/5, 33% of Halton’s domestic abuse referrals involved children, with support
being offered by both the Domestic Abuse Service and Children’s Services. In 2023,
Halton commissioned the Resolve Service through The Children’s Society to provide
specialist emotional and practical support for children and young people aged 5 -18
(or up to 25 with additional needs) who have been affected by domestic abuse. The
service offers up to 12 one-to-one sessions tailored to each child’s needs, focusing
on safety planning, building resilience, and understanding healthy relationships. It
also delivers the Gateway programme for parents, helping them recognise the
effects of abuse on their children and how best to support them. A whole-family
approach is central to the service, with an emphasis on hearing and prioritising the
child’s voice throughout.

Between July and September 2023, Resolve received 30 referrals. Of these, 22
children engaged in face-to-face support, and 20 parents participated in the Gateway
programme. Only 2 cases were considered out of scope. In addition to direct
support, Resolve also works alongside professionals in social care, particularly
during pre-court proceedings, to help ensure decision-making is informed by the
child’s emotional well-being and safety. The service reflects a strong commitment to
early intervention and trauma-informed care within the Halton area.

Young people can also be victims in their own relationships. Although it is often
under-recognised, teenage relationship abuse can include emotional manipulation,
physical violence, sexual coercion, and digital abuse. One of the challenges is that
teenagers may not identify their experiences as abusive, especially in relationships
that are short-term or perceived as casual. As many data sources only include
information for those aged 16 and over in relation to domestic abuse, it can be a
hidden problem. A 2025 Youth Endowment Fund® survey of 10,000 13-17 year olds
in England and Wales found that:

49% of teens in relationships experienced violent or controlling behaviour
20% had been forced or pressured into sexual activity

17% had intimate images shared without consent

27% felt afraid to disagree with their partner

26% felt afraid to break up with their partner

27% saw or experienced online sexual violence (e.g. threats of sexual assault
or non-consensual images)

2% Costa, B. M, et al (2016) Longitudinal Predictors of Domestic Violence Perpetration and Victimisation: A
Systemic Review.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1359178915000828

30 Youth Endowment Fund (2024) Children, Violence and Vulnerability report.
https://youthendowmentfund.org.uk/news/half-of-teens-in-relationships-suffer-violence-or-controlling-
behaviour-reveals-new-repor

19


https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1359178915000828
https://youthendowmentfund.org.uk/news/half-of-teens-in-relationships-suffer-violence-or-controlling-behaviour-reveals-new-report/
https://youthendowmentfund.org.uk/news/half-of-teens-in-relationships-suffer-violence-or-controlling-behaviour-reveals-new-report/

Page 39

e 33% had encountered content promoting violence against women and girls

Certain vulnerable groups were at significantly higher risk, including teenagers
involved in gangs, children with special educational needs and those excluded from
school.

Experiencing abuse during adolescence is especially harmful, as it occurs at a
critical stage of emotional and psychological development. During this transitional
period between childhood and adulthood, young people may struggle to make sense
of their experiences, form healthy relationships, or seek help. Their ability to disclose
abuse is often shaped by fear, shame, or uncertainty about whether their situation
will be taken seriously.

Halton offers support for perpetrators under the age of 16 through their PCC-funded
Remedi offer, and their domestic abuse support is available for all ages through their
Domestic Abuse team and Children’s Services. Through new campaigns, Halton
hopes to raise awareness of domestic abuse for teenagers by sharing posters and
cards in local colleges, and by offering more tailored support and information on their
website.

Wider Economic Impact

The Domestic Abuse Commissioner estimates that domestic abuse has an economic
and social cost of around £85 billion in England and Wales each year (based on the
Home Office figure of £66 billion in 2019).3! As an economic analysis commissioned
by Women’s Aid shows, for every pound invested in domestic abuse support
services, we will see a saving to the public purse of at least £9.3? Early intervention,
support services and perpetrator programmes are key to reducing long-term costs.

Examples of costs incurred by domestic violence include:

e Healthcare Costs: Victims often require medical treatment for physical
injuries and mental health conditions, including use of the NHS and
emergency services

e Criminal Justice System: Costs include policing, prosecution, legal aid,
courts and imprisonment related to domestic abuse

e Housing and Social Services: Victims may need emergency
accommodation or refuge services, as well as additional security on existing
housing

e Lost Economic Output: Victims may miss work, reduce hours, or lose jobs
entirely. Abusers may also experience job loss or legal consequences
affecting their employability

e Impact on Children: Children exposed to domestic abuse are more likely to
require educational support, mental health services and can be at increased
risk of entering the criminal justice system

3! pomestic Abuse Commissioner (2025) Written Evidence Submitted by The Domestic Abuse Commissioner.
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/138343/pdf

32 Women'’s Aid (2023) Investing to Save: The Economic Case for Funding Domestic Abuse Support.
https://www.womensaid.org.uk/investing-to-save-report

20


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/138343/pdf
https://www.womensaid.org.uk/investing-to-save-report

Page 40

Overview of Abuse Types

At the national level, our analysis primarily draws on data from the police, the
Office for National Statistics (ONS), and the Crime Survey for England and Wales
(CSEW). These sources typically categorise domestic abuse into the following
types:

¢ Non-sexual abuse by a partner or family member, including physical force,
threats and emotional or financial abuse

e Sexual assault and attempted sexual assault

e Stalking, including domestic and non-domestic

e Coercive control

Halton recognises the following behaviours as types of abuse related to domestic
abuse, which include all those outlined in the Domestic Abuse Act 2021:

Physical abuse

Isolation

Verbal abuse

Threatening behaviour

Emotional and psychological abuse
Economic and financial abuse
False allegations

Stalking

Sexual abuse

Online abuse

Coercive and controlling behaviour

According to the latest CSEW for the year ending March 2025, 7.8% of people aged
16 and over experienced domestic abuse in the past year. This includes 6.1% who
experienced partner abuse and 2.7% who experienced abuse by a family member.
Emotional abuse was the most common form, affecting 5.0%, followed by economic
abuse (2.7%), threats (2.6%), and physical abuse (1.3%).

Domestic stalking was reported by 2.2%, with 1.7% stalked by a partner or ex-
partner and 0.7% by a family member. Domestic sexual assault affected 1.6%,
including 1.5% at the hands of a partner or ex-partner and 0.1% by a family member.

Since the age of 16, 20.5% of people are estimated to have experienced some form
of domestic abuse, although the survey did not disaggregate lifetime figures by
perpetrator type. Some individuals may have experienced abuse from both partners
and family members during their lifetime.33

The data available from the police, CSEW and ONS can be limited. Police data can
be underreported as it only includes crimes, CSEW relies on self-reporting and ONS

33 Office for National Statistics (2025) Crime in England and Wales: year ending March 2025.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/
yearendingmarch2025

21


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025

Page 41

data can be subject to definitional and method changes, which can skew data year
on year.

Intimate Partner Abuse

Domestic abuse most commonly occurs in intimate partner relationships, but it is not
limited to marriages, civil partnerships, or cohabiting couples. Abuse can take place
between current or former partners, regardless of marital or living status. Intimate
partner abuse is often characterised by patterns of coercive control, where one
partner seeks to dominate the other through emotional, psychological, financial, or
physical tactics.

Abuse often persists or intensifies after separation, as perpetrators may feel a loss of
control, increasing the risk to the victim’s physical and emotional safety. Separation
is now widely recognised as a high-risk period, particularly in cases involving
coercive control and stalking. Most domestic murders occur in the first 6 months of a
relationship ending, making this the most dangerous time for anyone trying to
escape an abusive relationship.®*

Intimate partner abuse affects people across all genders, sexual orientations, and
relationship types, including same-sex relationships and non-cohabiting dating
couples, highlighting that abuse transcends traditional partnership models. Victims
may also face intersecting challenges related to race, ethnicity, socioeconomic
status, disability, or immigration status, which can create additional barriers to
seeking support and safety.

Young people can be particularly vulnerable to domestic abuse within their own
intimate relationships. Despite growing awareness, abuse among teenagers often
goes unrecognised, both by the victims themselves and by those around them. Such
abuse may take the form of emotional manipulation, physical violence, sexual
coercion, or digital control, including harassment through social media, messaging
apps, GPS tracking, or non-consensual sharing of images. Technology has
introduced new avenues for abuse that may be especially prevalent in intimate
partner relationships.

Furthermore, the impacts of intimate partner abuse often extend beyond the
individuals involved, affecting children, extended family members, and wider
communities, with profound social and psychological consequences.

Family Abuse (including CPVA and honour-based abuse)

Abuse within family settings extends beyond intimate partnerships and can involve
harmful behaviours perpetrated by family members against other relatives. Such
abuse encompasses a wide range of actions, including physical or sexual abuse,
‘honour’-based violence, forced marriage, female genital mutilation (FGM),
reproductive coercion, forced abortion, and other culturally or socially motivated
harmful practices. These forms of abuse are often driven by attempts to control or
‘protect’ the perceived honour of an individual, family, or community, enforcing strict
adherence to codes of behaviour.3®

34 Independent Domestic Abuse Services (IDAS) (n.d.) Post-separation abuse.
https://idas.org.uk/16-days/post-separation-abuse/
35 HM Government (2019) Multi-agency statutory guidance on female genital mutilation.

22


https://idas.org.uk/16-days/post-separation-abuse/

Page 42

Young people may face an elevated risk of abuse from family members, partly due to
the complex dynamics of trust and authority within families. For many children and
adolescents, it can be difficult to differentiate between acceptable behaviour and
abuse, especially when the perpetrator is a caregiver or other trusted adult.
Disclosure is often hindered by fear of retaliation, lack of safe reporting mechanisms,
or concern about disrupting family relationships. Research from Galop indicates that
young people who identify as LGBTQ+ experience disproportionately higher rates of
abuse from immediate family members compared to their heterosexual peers,
underscoring the intersection of family abuse with issues of identity and acceptance.
The most common perpetrators of domestic abuse against LGBTQ+ people were
parents, mothers (45%) and fathers (41%).3°

A significant and growing concern within family abuse is Child-to-Parent Violence
and Abuse (CPVA). In 2023/4 the government ran consultation to seek views on a
definition of child to parent abuse, as there is currently no agreed definition. Although
violence and abuse can be committed by a parent’s adult children, CPVA is usually
in reference to those aged 10-16, or 18, to avoid cross over with other family abuse,
and also applies to harm directed towards a guardian, carer or anyone with a
caregiving role. Such behaviour may include verbal humiliation, threats, physical
violence, controlling or jealous actions, property damage, theft, and inappropriate
sexualised conduct. While some incidents may be isolated, CPVA often manifests as
a persistent pattern of abuse. CPVA is predominantly perpetrated by sons against
mothers (with single mothers being disproportionately affected); however, both sons
and daughters abuse both mothers and fathers.3’

The stigma surrounding CPVA contributes to significant underreporting. Parents may
hesitate to seek help due to fears of blame, disbelief, or punitive consequences for
their child, such as criminalisation or removal from the family home. There is also a
lack of research in the UK; there is currently no population-level data on CPVA. As a
result, recorded cases likely represent a small fraction of the true prevalence of
CPVA nationally.

Halton’s Domestic Abuse Service provides support for survivors of family abuse,
including parents and caregivers experiencing CPVA, alongside support from
Children’s Services, and Halton’s Remedi programme for those who harm under the
age of 16 in conjunction with the PCC office.

Sexual Abuse

Sexual abuse is a significant and distressing component of domestic abuse, often
hidden behind the broader patterns of physical and emotional violence experienced
by victims. Within intimate or familial relationships, sexual abuse can include forced
sexual acts, coercion, harassment, and other forms of non-consensual sexual

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/multi-agency-statutory-guidance-on-female-genital-mutilation
3¢ Galop (2021) LGBT+ young people and family abuse.

LGBT+ Experiences of Abuse from Family Members | Galop

37 Baker, V., & Bonnick, H. (2021). Understanding CAPVA: A rapid literature review on child and adolescent to
parent violence and abuse for the Domestic Abuse Commissioner’s Office.
https://domesticabusecommissioner.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/CAPVA-Rapid-Literature-Review-Exec-
Summary-November-2021-Baker-and-Bonnick.pdf

23


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/multi-agency-statutory-guidance-on-female-genital-mutilation
https://www.galop.org.uk/resources/lgbt-experiences-of-abuse-from-family-members#:~:text=43%25%20Trans%20and%20non-binary%20people%20surveyed%20had%20experienced,the%20main%20reason%20or%20part%20of%20the%20reason.
https://domesticabusecommissioner.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/CAPVA-Rapid-Literature-Review-Exec-Summary-November-2021-Baker-and-Bonnick.pdf
https://domesticabusecommissioner.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/CAPVA-Rapid-Literature-Review-Exec-Summary-November-2021-Baker-and-Bonnick.pdf

Page 43

behaviour. It is a serious violation that compounds the trauma of domestic abuse and
can have profound long-term impacts on survivors’ physical and mental health.

Halton defines sexual abuse (within a domestic violence context) as:

e Sexual harassment/ pressure, or sexual acts, including with other people
e Forcing sex, including after physical assaults

e Sexually degrading language

¢ Rape

Forcing someone to have sex or commit a sexual act against their will
Unwanted sexual contact and demands

Forcing involvement in making or watching pornography

Deliberately hurting someone during sex

Pressuring someone or tricking someone into having unsafe sex
Refusing to use, or lying about using, contraception

In England and Wales, sexual abuse within domestic settings is, unfortunately,
common. According to the CSEW for the year ending March 2024, 1.6% of adults
aged 16 and over experienced sexual assault within a domestic context in the
previous 12 months.3 This translates to tens of thousands of individuals subjected to
sexual violence by a current or former partner or family member annually. Moreover,
over the longer term, the CSEW has shown that a majority of sexual offences,
including rape and assault by penetration, are committed by partners or ex-partners.
For example, data combining 2017 and 2020 surveys indicate that 44% of rape
victims aged 16 to 59 reported their partner or ex-partner as the perpetrator.3®

The impact of sexual abuse within domestic abuse can be particularly severe
because it violates personal boundaries in the context of a relationship where trust
and safety should exist. Survivors often face stigma and may be reluctant to disclose
abuse due to fear, shame, or concerns about not being believed, which is sadly
exacerbated by poor conviction rates. This underscores the importance of sensitive
and accessible support services tailored to the unique challenges faced by those
experiencing sexual abuse in domestic settings.

Economic Abuse

In their 2023-2024 Impact Report, Surviving Economic Abuse reported that 4.1
million UK women experienced economic abuse from a current or former partner in
the last 12 months, with the rising cost of living coming so soon after the pandemic
exacerbating the devastating impact of this form of domestic abuse.*°

38 Office for National Statistics (2025) Crime in England and Wales: year ending March 2025.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/
yearendingmarch2025

39 Office for National Statistics (2021). Nature of sexual assault by rape or penetration, England and Wales:
Year ending March 2020.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandijustice/articles/natureofsexualassaultbyra
peorpenetrationenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2020

40 surviving Economic Abuse (2024) Impact Report 2023 — 24.
https://survivingeconomicabuse.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/12/Surviving-Economic-Abuse-Impact-report-
2023-24-December-2024.pdf

24


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/natureofsexualassaultbyrapeorpenetrationenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/natureofsexualassaultbyrapeorpenetrationenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2020
https://survivingeconomicabuse.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/12/Surviving-Economic-Abuse-Impact-report-2023-24-December-2024.pdf
https://survivingeconomicabuse.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/12/Surviving-Economic-Abuse-Impact-report-2023-24-December-2024.pdf

Page 44

Economic abuse consists of actions that severely undermine a person’s ability to
access, manage, or maintain financial resources, property, or essential goods and
services. These actions often include restriction, exploitation, or deliberate sabotage,
such as controlling a person’s income, denying access to necessities like food or
transport, or accumulating debt in the victim’s name. When such behaviour is
repeated, affects the victim’s everyday life, and occurs between individuals who are
personally connected, it may constitute controlling or coercive behaviour under the
Serious Crime Act 2015. The law recognises this form of abuse as serious when it
causes fear of violence or substantially disrupts daily living.

Halton’s Domestic Abuse Partnership Strategy*! gives the following examples of
economic and financial abuse:

Totally controlling the family income

Not allowing someone to spend any money unless ‘permitted’

Making someone account for every pound they spends

Running up huge bills such as credit/store cards in someone else’s name

Purposely defaulting on payments

Setting up false companies, accounts or credit cards

Deliberately forcing someone to go back to the family courts as a means of

costing them additional legal fees

Refusing to contribute to household income

¢ Interfering with or preventing someone from regularising their immigration
status, so they are dependent on the perpetrator

e Preventing someone from claiming welfare benefits, forcing someone to
commit benefit fraud or misappropriating such benefits

¢ Interfering with someone’s education, training or employment

¢ Not allowing someone access to their mobile phone/ car/ utilities

e Damaging someone’s property

Economic abuse can lead to financial dependence or instability, which often makes it
more difficult for victims to leave abusive relationships and can extend their exposure
to harm. In some cases, this abuse continues even after separation. Children may
also be affected, potentially facing deprivation or poverty as a consequence. A
national survey by Surviving Economic Abuse found that more than half of those
experiencing economic abuse fell into debt, with a quarter suffering credit damage or
coercive financial control.?

In a Women'’s Aid study, 52% of female respondents still living with their abuser
reported that they could not afford to leave due to having no money of their own.
Additionally, nearly one-third of participants in the Women’s Aid 2018 Survivor Voice

41 Halton Borough Council (2025) Halton Domestic Abuse Partnership Strategy 2025-2026.
https://moderngov.halton.gov.uk/documents/s79831/Appendix%201%20DA%20Strategy%2025-26.pdf

42 surviving Economic Abuse (2024) Measuring economic abuse: Preliminary findings on the prevalence and
impact of economic abuse on women in the UK.
https://survivingeconomicabuse.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/Measuring-economic-abuse-preliminary-
findings-Nov-2024.pdf

25


https://moderngov.halton.gov.uk/documents/s79831/Appendix%201%20DA%20Strategy%2025-26.pdf
https://survivingeconomicabuse.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/Measuring-economic-abuse-preliminary-findings-Nov-2024.pdf
https://survivingeconomicabuse.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/Measuring-economic-abuse-preliminary-findings-Nov-2024.pdf

Page 45

Survey said their access to money was controlled by the perpetrator during the
relationship.*?

Online Abuse

The Online Safety Act 2023 was enacted to address online harms, including image-
based abuse and cyberstalking. The Act simplifies prosecution by removing the need
to prove intent to cause distress when sharing intimate images without consent, and
also criminalises the creation and sharing of sexually explicit deepfake images
without consent.

Halton’s Domestic Abuse Partnership Strategy outlines online abuse as:

e Cyberstalking someone

e Placing false and malicious information about someone on their or others’
social media

e Trolling someone

e Denying someone access to their own social media platforms or control of
their own content

e Revenge porn

e Monitoring or controlling someone’s email and phone calls (including work
emails and calls)

¢ Image-based abuse — for example, the non-consensual distribution of private
sexual photographs and films with the intent to cause someone distress

e Hacking into, monitoring or controlling someone’s email accounts, social
media profiles and phone calls

e Use of spyware or GPS locators on items such as someone’s phone,
computer, wearable technology, car, motorbike, and pets

e Hacking internet-enabled devices such as PlayStations or iPads to gain
access to someone’s accounts or trace information such as someone’s
location

e Using personal devices such as smart watches or home devices (e.g. Amazon
Alexa) to monitor, control or frighten someone

e Use of hidden cameras

Online harassment is an increasingly common problem, with the ONS reporting that
approximately 7% of women and 4% of men have experienced cyberstalking once or
more since the age of 16.4* Women'’s Aid also reported that 85% of survivors who
experienced online abuse said it was part of a broader pattern of coercive and
controlling behaviour, also taking place offline.*> In 2023, the Revenge Porn Helpline
received nearly 19,000 reports, marking a 106% increase on the previous year.4®

43 Women'’s Aid (n.d.) The Impact of Domestic Abuse.
https://www.womensaid.org.uk/information-support/what-is-domestic-abuse/the-impact-of-domestic-abuse/
44 Office for National Statistics (2024) Stalking: findings from the Crime Survey for England and Wales.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/stalkingfindingsfromthecri
mesurveyforenglandandwales

4 Women's Aid (2022) Technology and domestic abuse: Experiences of survivors during the Covid-19 pandemic.
https://www.womensaid.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/4.-Technology-domestic-abuse-and-Covid-19-

1.pdf

6 Revenge Porn Helpline (2024) Reports to the Revenge Porn Helpline

Reports to the Revenge Porn Helpline Increased by 106% in 2023 | Revenge Porn Helpline

26


https://www.womensaid.org.uk/information-support/what-is-domestic-abuse/the-impact-of-domestic-abuse/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/stalkingfindingsfromthecrimesurveyforenglandandwales
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/stalkingfindingsfromthecrimesurveyforenglandandwales
https://www.womensaid.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/4.-Technology-domestic-abuse-and-Covid-19-1.pdf
https://www.womensaid.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/4.-Technology-domestic-abuse-and-Covid-19-1.pdf
https://revengepornhelpline.org.uk/news/reports-to-the-revenge-porn-helpline-increased-by-106-in-2023/?utm_source=chatgpt.com

Page 46

Halton’s new Domestic Abuse website will provide people with access to information
on how to stay safe online.

National Context

Over the past several years (2021-2025), the national landscape for tackling
domestic abuse has seen significant change, with legislative, strategic, and funding
updates aimed at improving prevention, protection, support, and accountability.

Domestic Abuse Act (2021)*’
The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 provided the first statutory definition of domestic
abuse in the UK. It defines abusive behaviour as including:

* Physical or sexual abuse

* Violent or threatening behaviour

» Controlling or coercive behaviour

* Economic abuse

» Psychological, emotional, or other abuse

To qualify, the behaviour must involve individuals aged 16+ who are "personally
connected" through relationships, marriage, family ties, or cohabitation. The Act
introduced several landmark reforms:

« Children are now recognised as victims if they see, hear, or experience the effects
of domestic abuse

* Creation of the Domestic Abuse Commissioner, responsible for promoting best
practices and publishing a strategic plan every three years

* Local authorities now have statutory duties to assess and provide accommodation-
based support for victims, informed by a local needs assessment conducted at least
every three years, supported by Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Boards

Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) Strategy (2021)*8
This strategy set out a cross-government ambition to reduce violence against women
and girls through prevention, protection, and prosecution. Key priorities included:

* Increasing support for victims, including improved access to specialist services and
additional funding for frontline organisations.

« Strengthening the criminal justice response to enhance victim outcomes and
offender accountability.

* Focusing on prevention through education campaigns and early intervention.
 Improving data collection to better understand and address root causes.

* Launching the StreetSafe online tool for the public to report places where they feel
unsafe.

» Committing to long-term system reform, robust legislation, and better multi-agency
collaboration.

47 UK Government (2021) Domestic Abuse Act 2021.
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents

48 Home Office (2021) Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-violence-against-women-and-girls-strategy

27


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-violence-against-women-and-girls-strategy

Page 47

Police, Crime, Sentencing and Courts (PCSC) Act (2022)%°

This Act introduced the Serious Violence Duty, requiring local authorities, emergency
services, and partners to collaborate to prevent and reduce serious violence,
including domestic abuse. Local strategies must identify patterns of violence,
understand the root causes, and implement targeted interventions.

It also mandated that Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) address serious
violence in their strategies, although local partnership arrangements may vary.

Tackling Domestic Abuse Plan (March 2022)>°
Published by the Home Office, this national plan outlined four central pillars:

1. Prioritising Prevention

2. Supporting Victims

3. Pursuing Perpetrators

4. Strengthening the System

The plan aims to reduce domestic abuse prevalence, prevent domestic homicides
and suicides, improve survivors’ health and economic outcomes, and ensure a more
coordinated, skilled systemic response.

Domestic Abuse Commissioner’s Strategic Plan (2022—2025)°!
The Commissioner’s plan focuses on:

» Standing with victims and survivors

* Improving support for marginalised and underserved groups

» Addressing the inconsistency of services across England and Wales

» Promoting coordination between local agencies and national government

Domestic Homicide Sentencing Review (2023)%?

This review introduced key reforms following long-standing advocacy by victims'
families, campaigners, and the Domestic Abuse Commissioner. Key changes
include:

* Longer sentences for murders involving coercive control, even where physical
violence was limited

» Recognition of psychological abuse as an aggravating factor in sentencing

* Introduction of statutory aggravating factors for murders with a history of coercive
or controlling behaviour under the Sentencing Act 2020

* A commitment to fairness and consistency in sentencing, ensuring domestic abuse-
related killings are treated as seriously as other homicides

» The government pledges to monitor the impact through continued consultation with
the judiciary, CPS, and advocacy groups

4 UK Government (2022) Police, Crime, Sentencing and Courts Act 2022.
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/32/contents

50 Home Office (2022) Tackling Domestic Abuse Plan.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-domestic-abuse-plan

5! pomestic Abuse Commissioner (2023) Strategic Plan: September 2022 to September 2025.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-commissioners-strategic-plan
52 Ministry of Justice (2023) Domestic Homicide Sentencing Review and Government Response.
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/domestic-homicide-sentencing-review

28


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/32/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-domestic-abuse-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-commissioners-strategic-plan
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/domestic-homicide-sentencing-review

Page 48

Victims and Prisoners Act (2024)32
This Act further strengthens victims’ rights and access to justice:

* Enshrines the Victims’ Code in law, clarifying what victims can expect from the
criminal justice system

» Makes Operation Encompass a legal requirement, ensuring schools are informed
when children are exposed to domestic abuse

* Requires commissioners to collaborate in delivering high-quality, consistent victim
support

 Raises awareness of key roles such as Independent Domestic Violence Advisors
(IDVAs)

Before being elected in 2024, the Labour Party made a commitment in their general
election manifesto to halve violence against women and girls (VAWG) within the next
decade. This pledge reflects a broader national urgency to address the scale and
severity of gender-based violence. That same year, the National Police Chiefs’
Council (NPCC) and the College of Policing formally declared VAWG a “national
emergency,” citing that it accounts for nearly one in five (just under 20%) of all
recorded crimes in England and Wales.>* This recognition marks a significant
escalation in the national response, positioning VAWG not only as a criminal justice
issue but also as a public health and societal crisis requiring sustained, coordinated
action across policing, government, and frontline services.

The Rise of Misogyny

The rise of misogyny, particularly among young boys and adults in the UK, has
become a pressing concern, with alarming statistics and cultural shifts highlighting
the depth of the issue. A recent poll, conducted by Zencity, revealed that 69% of
women in England and Wales have personally experienced or know someone who
has experienced male violence or harassment in the past year, with higher rates
among younger women. Worryingly, the poll also found that 4 in 10 women do not
believe that the police treat violence and harassment of women seriously, and 1 in
10 women said they would not report a rape or assault by a partner.>®

In response, the UK government has initiated several measures aimed at combating
misogyny and its detrimental effects. As previously mentioned, the Police, Crime,
Sentencing and Courts Act 2022 introduced provisions to strengthen the legal
framework against gender-based violence, including measures to improve the
handling of domestic abuse and sexual violence cases. Additionally, the Online

53 UK Government (2024) Victims and Prisoners Act 2024.
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2024/21/contents

54 National Police Chiefs’ Council and College of Policing (2024) National Policing Statement on Violence
Against Women and Girls.
https://news.npcc.police.uk/releases/call-to-action-as-violence-against-women-and-girls-epidemic-deepens-1
55 Dodd, V. (2025) Most women in England and Wales have seen abusive male behaviour in the past year, says
poll. The Guardian.
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2025/jun/30/most-women-in-england-and-wales-have-seen-abusive-
male-behaviour-in-the-past-year-poll-finds

29


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2024/21/contents
https://news.npcc.police.uk/releases/call-to-action-as-violence-against-women-and-girls-epidemic-deepens-1
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2025/jun/30/most-women-in-england-and-wales-have-seen-abusive-male-behaviour-in-the-past-year-poll-finds
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2025/jun/30/most-women-in-england-and-wales-have-seen-abusive-male-behaviour-in-the-past-year-poll-finds

Page 49

Safety Bill (2021)°¢ seeks to hold online platforms accountable for harmful content,
aiming to reduce the exposure of young individuals to misogynistic material online.

Educational institutions are also viewed as pivotal in challenging and preventing
misogynistic behaviour. The Department for Education has updated the
Relationships, Sex and Health Education (RSHE) curriculum to include lessons that
challenge harmful gender stereotypes and promote respectful relationships. These
lessons are designed to equip students, particularly boys, with the tools to critically
assess and reject misogynistic narratives encountered online and in their
communities.®’

Local Context

Local Governance

Halton Borough Council has local governance in place to coordinate domestic abuse
prevention, support, and response, working closely with Cheshire Constabulary and
partner agencies to protect victims and address perpetrator behaviour.

Halton Domestic Abuse Partnership (HDAP) and Local Partnership Board

Halton Borough Council, in collaboration with Cheshire Constabulary, holds primary
responsibility for tackling domestic abuse within the borough. This includes
developing and implementing Halton’s Domestic Abuse Strategy, aligned with the
requirements of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021.

Under the Act, Halton Borough Council was required to establish and appoint a multi-
agency Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board to oversee the strategic
coordination of domestic abuse services and support across the area. The
Partnership Board’s members include representatives from:

e Halton Borough Council departments, including Adult Social Care, Children’s
Social Care, Public Health, Environment and Regeneration and the Domestic
Abuse Team

e Cheshire Constabulary: Halton Area Commander

e Halton Place Integrated Care Board (ICB)

e Halton Housing

It is noted that there are some gaps in Board representation, as the board was reset
at the beginning of the year. Halton is looking to increase membership for
commissioned services and third-sector representatives.

The Partnership Board reports to Halton’s Community Safety Partnership (CSP),
called Safer Halton Partnership, which identifies domestic abuse and violence

6 UK Government (2021) Online Safety Bill (Draft).
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/draft-online-safety-bill

57 Department for Education (2024) New RSHE guidance: What it means for sex education lessons in schools.
https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2024/05/new-rshe-guidance-what-it-means-for-sex-education-lessons-in-

schools/

30


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/draft-online-safety-bill
https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2024/05/new-rshe-guidance-what-it-means-for-sex-education-lessons-in-schools/
https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2024/05/new-rshe-guidance-what-it-means-for-sex-education-lessons-in-schools/

Page 50

against women and girls as a key priority. The Safer Halton Partnership envisions
Halton as a place where women and girls are safe and feel safe to live their lives free
from fear and harassment. They believe that effective early intervention, joint
working, and a drive to challenge the culture and attitudes that give rise to all forms
of abuse can help make Halton a safe place for women and girls to live, work and
enjoy their leisure time. Their key areas of focus around domestic abuse include:

Develop approaches that prevent abuse before it happens

Identify and stop harmful behaviour

Support and strengthen those at risk

Improve and expand support for everyone who is affected by abuse

When required, it is the Safer Halton Partnership that fulfils statutory obligations in
relation to Domestic Abuse Related Death Reviews.

The Partnership brings together senior representatives from various agencies
(including the Council, Cheshire Constabulary, Cheshire Fire and Rescue and NHS
Cheshire and Merseyside ICB) to develop and implement the Domestic Abuse
Strategy, which will be informed by the upcoming Halton Domestic Abuse Needs
Assessment.

Halton has also recently made progress by adding a domestic abuse victim survivor
to its Halton Safeguarding Adults Board.

Statutory Duties of Halton Borough Council

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 places several statutory duties on Halton Borough
Council concerning support for victims and their children living in safe
accommodation. The Council must:

e Establish a multi-agency Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board (see
Halton Domestic Abuse Partnership above)

e Conduct a comprehensive needs assessment of accommodation-based
domestic abuse support at least every three years

e Update and publish any relevant strategies for delivering support services
based on this assessment

e Implement the strategy through commissioning or decommissioning
services as needed

e Commission and provide accommodation-based support, ensuring the
availability of services such as refuges, dispersed accommodation,
sanctuary schemes and specialist provision

Domestic Abuse Support Services

Halton Borough Council provides domestic abuse support through several avenues,
including a dedicated Domestic Abuse Housing Officer, Adult Social Care and
Children’s Services, but also has a specialist in-house Domestic Abuse Service with
a team of trained Independent Domestic Violence Advisors. Halton currently has a
Domestic Abuse Manager, 4.5 IDVAs, a specialist Harm Prevention Officer, 1
Administration Officer, and 1 Performance and Improvement Officer, and is currently
recruiting for a Senior IDVA.

31



Page 51

Halton’s IDVAs act as the primary point of contact for medium to high-risk victims of
domestic abuse. They provide practical and emotional support to improve safety and
reduce harm. The support offered includes:

e Conducting risk assessments, discussing appropriate options, and
developing individualised safety and support plans

e Participating in Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARACS) to
coordinate safeguarding responses for high-risk victims

e Providing information, emotional support, and practical assistance related to
criminal and civil court processes, including attending hearings where
appropriate

e Offering housing-related advice and support, including access to sanctuary
schemes, emergency accommodation, and long-term housing solutions

e Facilitating access to legal advice and advocacy, including support around
protective orders and family law matters

o Delivering specialist support tailored to the needs of individuals with
protected characteristics (e.g., disability, race, sexual orientation) and those
with multiple or complex needs, such as mental health issues or substance
use

e Supporting victims to engage with additional services, including counselling,
children’s services, and health care professionals

Halton’s IDVASs play a critical role in ensuring victims feel supported, informed, and
protected throughout their recovery and any criminal justice proceedings.

Commissioned Services in Halton

Halton Borough Council commissions additional domestic abuse services from key
local providers, including:

e Refuge - SHAP

e Resolve — Children’s Society

e RASAC (Rape and Sexual Abuse Support Centre) — part-funded by
Community Safety

Other Local Services

Several local organisations within Halton, Cheshire and the Liverpool City Region
offer information, advice and support free of charge. Halton’s new domestic abuse
website will include more information relating to these available services:

e Halton Women’s Centre: A multi-service hub for women and children
experiencing domestic abuse, offering support groups, outreach, and
advocacy

e Fortuna Female Society: A community group offering a supportive network
for women, including their Women:Kind Café for women affected by domestic
abuse

e Authentic Voice Forum: A monthly forum for survivors and those affected by
domestic abuse to have their say on how services work to support those
experiencing domestic abuse

32



Page 52

e Cheshire CARES (Cope and Recovery Enhanced Service): an enhanced
service offering emotional and practical support to help victims cope and
recover from the impact of crime.

e Citizens Advice, Halton: An independent and impartial charity ready to
support people with a wide range of help, including relationship issues,
problems with housing, access to grants, advocacy and representation

e Cheshire & Merseyside RASASC: Confidential and anonymous phone line,
counselling, pre-trial therapy and support groups (online and face to face) for
anyone who has experienced sexual violence, including specialist counselling
for children and young people.

e Venus: Charity offering support for victims of abuse in Halton, predominantly
for children, young people and vulnerable adults. Venus offers both a course
and one-to-one support in the community, focusing on promoting good home
conditions.

National and Local Prevalence of Domestic
Abuse

According to the CSEW®8 for the year ending March 2025, an estimated 3.8 million
people aged 16 years and over (in England and Wales) experienced domestic abuse
in the last year, equating to 7.8% of the adult population. This includes approximately
2.3 million women (9.5%) and 1.5 million men (6.5%).

Based on these national prevalence rates and local demographic data from the 2021
Census, it is estimated that over 8200 residents aged 16 and over in Halton may
have experienced domestic abuse in the past year, including almost 5000 women
and over 3000 men. However, it is important to recognise that applying national
prevalence estimates to Halton may underestimate the true local scale of domestic
abuse, given the borough’s higher levels of deprivation and other overlapping risk
factors.

According to the CSEW>9, the police recorded 815,941 domestic abuse-related
offences reported in England and Wales in the year ending March 2025. This
highlights the significant underreporting of domestic abuse to the police, given that
an estimated 3.8 million people may have experienced domestic abuse during the
same period.

As demonstrated in the paragraphs below, Halton’s most at-risk groups include
women aged 25 - 44, single-parent households, and individuals with long-term

58 Office for National Statistics (2025) Crime in England and Wales: year ending March 2025.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/
yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse

59 Office for National Statistics (2025) Crime in England and Wales: year ending March 2025.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/
yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse

33


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2025#domestic-abuse

Page 53

illness or disability. These findings should inform targeted service planning and
outreach.

Sex and Gender Identity

Domestic abuse remains a gendered crime. According to the latest CSEW, year
ending March 2025, an estimated 2.3 million women and 1.5 million men
experienced domestic abuse in the past year. Police-recorded data show that 72.5%
of domestic abuse-related crime victims were female, which rose to 92.1% for
domestic abuse-related sexual offences. Between March 2021 and March 2023,
65.4% of domestic homicide victims were women, compared to 12.3% of non-
domestic homicide victims.®°

Survivors may also self-identify, identify as non-binary, transgender male,
transgender female or other. A 2021 SafeLives study found that for trans victims and
survivors of domestic abuse, 72% had experienced multiple forms of abuse, 81% of
perpetrators were male, and 58% had housing needs.®!

Halton has a population of approximately 128,478 (based on 2021 census data), with
an estimated 103,000 residents aged 16 and over. Based on national prevalence
rates, it is estimated that almost 5000 women and over 3000 men in Halton may
have experienced domestic abuse in the past year.

Since 2023, Halton’s Domestic Abuse Team’s records of all closed cases indicate
that 83.02% involved female victims, 16.78% male victims, and 0.2% where the
gender was unknown.

Age

In 2021, the CSEW removed the upper age limit for survey respondents, which was
previously 59 years. In the year ending 2024, the order of prevalence for domestic
abuse by age group (in England and Wales) was as follows:

16 -19: 8.7%
20-24:7.1%
25-34:51%
35-44:51%
60 - 74: 4%
55 - 59: 3.8%

75 and over: 2.1%

The percentage of women who experienced domestic abuse in the last year was
significantly higher than men for the majority of age groups, except for those aged 24
years and under, and those aged 55 to 59 years, where there was no statistically

60 Office for National Statistics (2024). Domestic abuse victim characteristics, England and Wales: year ending
March 2024.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimchara
cteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024

51 safeLives (2021) Transgender victims’ and survivors’ experiences of domestic abuse.
https://safelives.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Transgender-victim-survivors-experiences-of-domestic-abuse-

briefing.pdf

34


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimcharacteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimcharacteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024
https://safelives.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Transgender-victim-survivors-experiences-of-domestic-abuse-briefing.pdf
https://safelives.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Transgender-victim-survivors-experiences-of-domestic-abuse-briefing.pdf

Page 54

significant difference in the prevalence of domestic abuse between men and
62
women.

Based on the 2021 Census, Halton Borough has a population of approximately
104,000 residents aged 16 and over. Applying the national prevalence rate of 4.8%
for domestic abuse among individuals aged 16 and over, it is estimated that around
4992 people in Halton may have experienced domestic abuse in the year ending
March 2024.

Since 2023, Halton’s Domestic Abuse Team’s records of all closed cases show that
the most frequent age groups they have worked with are 35-44 (30.83% of cases)
and 25-34 (26.82% of cases).

Ethnicity

Halton is a largely homogenous borough, with 96.5% of its population identifying as
White according to the most recent census data. Other ethnic groups include 1.1%
identifying as Asian, Asian British, or Asian Welsh; 0.4% as Black, Black British,
Black Welsh, Caribbean, or African; 1.4% as Mixed or Multiple ethnic groups; and
0.6% as Other ethnic groups. English is the primary language for the vast majority of
residents, at 97.34%. Furthermore, only about 3% of the population was born outside
the UK, reflecting relatively low levels of recent immigration compared to more
ethnically diverse urban areas.

Data from Halton’s Domestic Abuse Team on closed cases mirrors this demographic
profile, with most individuals identifying as White British. A small proportion, 1.03%,
are recorded as ‘other white origin,” while 2.84% identify with different ethnicities.
However, ethnicity information is missing in 31.9% of cases, which may impact the
accuracy and interpretation of these statistics.

For the year ending March 2024, the CSEW showed that there were some
statistically significant differences between ethnic groups in relation to experiencing
domestic abuse. Mixed (7.1%), Other (5.1%) and White (5%) were the most highly
represented groups, with Black or Black British (3.4%) and Asian or Asian British
(3%) following.?® However, it is important to consider that lower representation of
domestic abuse in some ethnic groups may reflect cultural factors such as stigma,
differing perceptions of abuse, or barriers to reporting, rather than actual lower
incidence. These factors can influence the willingness or ability of individuals from
certain communities to disclose their experiences, potentially leading to an
underestimation of domestic abuse within these groups.

Based on the previous estimate of over 8000 (approximately 8276) Halton residents
having possibly experienced domestic abuse in the last year, this translates to
approximately 8067 residents in the White ethnic group, around 166 in the Mixed

62 Office for National Statistics (2024) Domestic abuse victim characteristics, England and Wales: year ending
March 2024.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimchara
cteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024

63 Office for National Statistics (2024) Domestic abuse victim characteristics, England and Wales: year ending
March 2024.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimchara
cteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024

35


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimcharacteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimcharacteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimcharacteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimcharacteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024

Page 55

ethnic group, about 12 in the Black ethnic group, and roughly 29 in the Asian ethnic
group who may have experienced domestic abuse during that period.

Sexual Orientation

The CSEW does not routinely include breakdowns by sexual orientation. This
omission means that data often fails to fully capture the experiences of LGBTQ+
populations.

A 2024 article by DIVA Magazine summarised key findings from an ONS data
release that included victim characteristics by sexual orientation and gender identity.
According to this report, gay men are more likely to experience domestic abuse
compared to straight men (7.6% of gay men compared to 2.8% of straight men), and
lesbians are less likely to experience domestic abuse compared to straight women
(3.4% compared to 6.3%). This aligns with the fact that most perpetrators of intimate
partner violence and domestic violence are men. Surprisingly, 11.2% of bisexual
women reported experiencing domestic abuse in the last year, compared to 4.5% of
heterosexual individuals. This includes a far higher rate of sexual assault by
partners.%*

These findings are consistent with longer-term evidence cited in the Home Office’s
Domestic Abuse Act 2021 Statutory Guidance®®, which recognises LGBTQ+
communities as facing heightened risks of abuse, often compounded by barriers to
disclosure and access to services. The guidance states that "LGBT victims may
experience additional vulnerabilities and barriers when seeking help, including fear of
discrimination or being outed".

A recent study by Galop gave some insight into the prevalence of the LGBTQ+
experience of family abuse. 29% of 5000 LGBTQ+ respondents had experienced
abuse from a family member or members (and 43% of trans and non-binary
people).66

In Halton’s 2021 census, 2736 people identified as gay or lesbian (1555), bisexual
(976), pansexual (162), queer (4), asexual (32) or other (7), making up 2.63% of the
area’s population aged 16 and over.

Marital Status

Recent census data®’ reveals a notable shift in relationship patterns among Halton
residents aged 16 and over, aligning closely with both regional and national trends.
In 2021, 39.3% of Halton adults reported never having been married or in a civil
partnership, an increase from 35.4% in 2011. At the same time, the proportion of
those who were married or in a registered civil partnership declined from 45.1% to

64 Kelley, N. (2024) New data shows bi+ women and trans people are more likely to experience domestic abuse,
DIVA Magazine.
https://diva-magazine.com/2024/11/28/new-data-shows-bi-women-and-trans-people-are-more-likely-to-
experience-domestic-abuse

55 Home Office (2022) Domestic Abuse Act 2021: Statutory guidance.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-act-2021/domestic-abuse-statutory-guidance
56 Galop (2022) LGBT+ experiences of abuse from family members, Galop LGBT+ anti-violence charity.
https://www.galop.org.uk/resources/Igbt-experiences-of-abuse-from-family-members

57 Office for National Statistics (2023) How life has changed in Halton: Census 2021.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/visualisations/censusareachanges/E06000006

36


https://diva-magazine.com/2024/11/28/new-data-shows-bi-women-and-trans-people-are-more-likely-to-experience-domestic-abuse
https://diva-magazine.com/2024/11/28/new-data-shows-bi-women-and-trans-people-are-more-likely-to-experience-domestic-abuse
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-act-2021/domesticabusestatutoryguidance
https://www.galop.org.uk/resources/lgbt-experiences-of-abuse-from-family-members
https://www.ons.gov.uk/visualisations/censusareachanges/E06000006

Page 56

42.2%. The percentage of adults who were divorced or had dissolved a civil
partnership fell slightly, from 9.8% to 9.6%. These changes reflect broader societal
shifts in attitudes toward marriage and long-term partnerships.

These trends in Halton are consistent with those seen across the North West and
England more widely. In the North West, the share of adults who had never married
or entered a civil partnership rose from 35.6% to 39.4%, while across England the
increase was from 34.6% to 37.9%. A key factor behind these shifts is the evolving
legal recognition of relationships: same-sex marriages became legal in England and
Wales in 2014, and opposite-sex civil partnerships were introduced in 2019. These
developments have expanded the range of formal relationship options; however,
they have not resulted in an overall increase in people entering formal partnerships.

Importantly, there is a clear correlation between relationship status and vulnerability
to domestic abuse. A recent CSEW®8 shows that separated (15%), divorced (11.8%),
and single individuals (7.6%) are significantly more likely to experience domestic
abuse than those who are married or in a civil partnership (2.5%) or widowed (2.4%).
These national patterns are relevant locally in Halton, where similar relationship
status profiles are emerging. It is important to note that relationships and marital
status may change as a result of the abuse experienced.

Overall, Halton’s relationship demographics are evolving in line with broader trends,
with increasing numbers of adults delaying or opting out of formal partnerships.
These shifts have important implications for local services, particularly concerning
domestic abuse prevention and support, where single, divorced, and separated
individuals are disproportionately affected.

Employment Status and Occupation

Between 2011 and 2021%° Halton experienced the third-largest reduction in
unemployment among people aged 16 and over (excluding full-time students) in the
North West. The unemployment rate in Halton fell significantly from 5.1% to 2.7%, a
decrease of 2.4 percentage points. Only Knowsley and Liverpool saw larger declines
during this period, with Knowsley’s rate dropping from 5.9% to 3.1% and Liverpool’s
from 6.2% to 3.4%.

This positive trend was reflected across the entire North West region, where
unemployment decreased from 4.2% to 2.8%. Despite these improvements, it’s
important to note that the 2021 Census occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic, a
time of rapid changes to the labour market influenced by lockdowns, guidance, and
furlough schemes, which may have impacted the data.

Other economic activity indicators in Halton showed relatively stable employment
rates for those aged 16 and over (excluding full-time students), with slight decreases
in full-time student employment and minor changes in economic inactivity categories
such as retirement, long-term iliness, and caregiving.

58 Office for National Statistics (2024) Domestic abuse victim characteristics, England and Wales: year ending
March 2024.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimchara
cteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024

59 Office for National Statistics (2023) How life has changed in Halton: Census 2021.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/visualisations/censusareachanges/E06000006

37


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimcharacteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimcharacteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024
https://www.ons.gov.uk/visualisations/censusareachanges/E06000006

Page 57

A recent CSEW?° reported that adults with long-term or temporary illnesses (12.9%)
and those looking after family and home (8.4%) experience higher rates of domestic
abuse compared to employed individuals (4.6%). Unemployed adults also face a
slightly higher risk (6.8%) than those employed, as well as students (9.9%), while
retired individuals (2.4%) report the lowest rates. Given Halton’s improving
employment rates - with unemployment decreasing from 5.1% in 2011 to 2.7% in
2021 - this data suggests that employed residents may be somewhat less vulnerable
to domestic abuse than unemployed or economically inactive groups. However, the
relatively higher risk among those with health issues or caregiving responsibilities
highlights a need for targeted support services in Halton to protect these vulnerable
populations, especially as the area still has a significant proportion of residents who
are economically inactive due to illness or family care.

Working hours in Halton

In 2021, 7.9% of employed Halton residents aged 16 and over reported working 15
hours or less per week, a figure virtually unchanged from 7.8% in 2011. Meanwhile,
the proportion working over 49 hours per week decreased from 10.0% to 8.8%, and
those working between 31 and 48 hours increased from 62.0% to 64.5%.

Halton had the joint third lowest percentage in the country of people working 15
hours or less per week, tied with Wakefield. Only the City of London (7.2%) and
Knowsley (7.8%) had lower proportions, though comparisons with the City of London
should be made cautiously due to its unique size.

It is again worth noting that working hours in 2021 may have been influenced by the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Household Structure

According to a recent CSEW, ! single-person households with children experience a
higher prevalence of domestic abuse compared to other household types.
Specifically, 20.1% of individuals in single-person households with children reported
experiencing domestic abuse in the past year, compared to 4.4% in households with
no children and 4.6% in households with multiple people and one or more children.

Applying these national prevalence rates to Halton, which has approximately 53,000
households, the estimated number of households experiencing domestic abuse is as
follows:

o Single-person households with children: Approximately 10,653 households
(20.1% of 53,000)

e Households with no children: Approximately 2,332 households (4.4% of
53,000)

70 Office for National Statistics (2024). Domestic abuse victim characteristics, England and Wales: year ending
March 2024.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimchara
cteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024

71 Office for National Statistics (2024) Domestic abuse victim characteristics, England and Wales: year ending
March 2024.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimchara
cteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024

38


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimcharacteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimcharacteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimcharacteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimcharacteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2024

Page 58

e« Households with multiple people and one or more children:
Approximately 2,438 households (4.6% of 53,000)

These estimates suggest that single-parent households in Halton are
disproportionately affected by domestic abuse. This highlights the need for targeted
support services and interventions to address the specific challenges faced by these
households. Again, it is important to note that household structure may have
changed as a result of abuse.

Crimes and Convictions

In the year ending March 2024, police in England and Wales recorded approximately
1,350,428 domestic abuse-related incidents and crimes, of which 851,062 were
recorded as crimes. Nationally, 72,641 domestic abuse suspects were referred to the
Crown Prosecution Service (CPS), and 49,046 of these resulted in a charge,
reflecting a high charging rate of 79%, the highest recorded to date’?. For the year
ending 2025, police recorded approximately 815,941 domestic-abuse related
offences, showing a 4% decrease from the previous year. 3

Within Cheshire Constabulary, which covers Halton, local enforcement data reflects
robust efforts to address domestic abuse. A 2024 inspection found that 63% of 678
domestic abuse arrests involved the use of force, demonstrating consistent and
proactive policing’4. In Cheshire, domestic abuse also features prominently in
serious violent crime, accounting for one-third of violent crimes with injury, nearly
30% of rapes, and more than a quarter of knife-related offences’®.

Available Domestic Abuse Data

Cheshire Constabulary

The following information was shared by Cheshire Constabulary concerning
domestic abuse-related incidents and crimes in Halton, and comparatively, the wider
Cheshire area.

In 2024, a total of 2,461 domestic abuse-related offences were recorded in Halton.
This equated to a rate of 19.2 offences per 1,000 population, which remained higher
than the overall rate for Cheshire Constabulary, recorded at 13.7. The most
commonly recorded offences during the year were assault without injury, stalking,

72 Office for National Statistics (2024) Domestic abuse and the criminal justice system, England and Wales:
November 2024.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabuseandthecrimi

naljusticesystemenglandandwales/november2024/pdf

73 SafeLives. (2025) Statement in response to ONS crime figures 2025
https://safelives.org.uk/news-views/ons-crime-figures-2025-statement/

7* HMICFRS (2024) PEEL 2023-25: An inspection of Cheshire Constabulary. Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of
Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services.
https://s3-eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/assets-hmicfrs.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/uploads/peel-assessment-
2023-25-cheshire.pdf

7> Warrington Borough Council (2024) Cheshire Serious Violence Strategy 2024—-2029.
https://www.warrington.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2024-
03/Cheshire%20Serious%20Violence%20Strategy%202024%20-2029%20-%20January%202024%20v3.pdf

39


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabuseandthecriminaljusticesystemenglandandwales/november2024/pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabuseandthecriminaljusticesystemenglandandwales/november2024/pdf
https://safelives.org.uk/news-views/ons-crime-figures-2025-statement/
https://s3-eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/assets-hmicfrs.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/uploads/peel-assessment-2023-25-cheshire.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/assets-hmicfrs.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/uploads/peel-assessment-2023-25-cheshire.pdf
https://www.warrington.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2024-03/Cheshire%20Serious%20Violence%20Strategy%202024%20-2029%20-%20January%202024%20v3.pdf
https://www.warrington.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2024-03/Cheshire%20Serious%20Violence%20Strategy%202024%20-2029%20-%20January%202024%20v3.pdf

Page 59

and assault with injury. These three categories remained consistent with 2023 and
together accounted for over half, approximately 55%, of all domestic abuse-related
incidents in Halton.

Looking at the monthly distribution of offences, the highest number of incidents
occurred in August (230 offences) and May (227 offences). In contrast, October and
November saw the lowest volumes, with 155 and 177 offences respectively.
Interestingly, this pattern differs slightly from the rest of the force area, which
experienced a peak in June during the European football tournament.

Geographically, Runcorn Local Policing Unit (LPU) recorded the highest number of
offences, with 1,243 incidents over the year. Within Runcorn, Runcorn East
experienced the greatest demand, followed by Runcorn West and Widnes Outer.
Widnes Inner was the only cluster to see an increase in offences compared to the
previous year. There were no notable changes to crime recording practices in 2024,
although it is possible that the introduction of the Principal Crime Rule in the previous
year continued to influence how some offences were captured.

Domestic Abuse
Beat Team Cluster
2023 2024 Change % Change
Runcorn 1362 1243 -119 -9%
Runcorn East 743 650 -93 -13%
Runcorn West 619 593 -26 -4%
Widnes 1211 1218 7 1%
Widnes Inner 532 562 30 6%
Widnes Outer 679 656 -23 -3%
Total 2573 2461 -112 -4%

Of note, 68% (1,661 offences) of the domestic-related offences recorded across
Halton also had a VAWG flag, suggesting many victims were female.

Domestic-related Violence with Injury

In 2024, there were 436 recorded domestic abuse-related offences involving
violence with injury in Halton, representing a rate of 3.4 offences per 1,000
population, higher than the rate for Cheshire Constabulary overall, which stood at
2.4. Unlike the broader trend for domestic abuse offences in Halton, which saw
higher volumes in the Runcorn policing area, incidents involving violence with injury
were more commonly recorded in Widnes, with 227 offences compared to 209 in
Runcorn.

Across all local policing clusters, incident volumes in this category were lower than in
the previous year. Runcorn West recorded the highest number of offences in the
area, followed by other clusters within Runcorn and Widnes.

Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG)

In 2024, a total of 3,349 Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) offences were
recorded in Halton - the lowest annual figure in the five-year period beginning in
2020. The rate of VAWG offences in Halton stood at 26.1 offences per 1,000
population, which remained higher than the Cheshire Constabulary average of 19.2
per 1,000.

40



Page 60

Both Local Policing Units (LPUs) in Halton recorded high levels of demand for VAWG
offences in 2024. Runcorn LPU reported the largest number of incidents overall,
followed closely by Widnes LPU. Within Runcorn, the Runcorn East cluster saw the
highest volumes during the year. These areas also experienced the highest levels of
recorded VAWG offences in the previous year, reflecting consistent demand over
time.

Violence Against Women and Girls
Beat Team Cluster
2023 2024 Change % Change

Runcorn 1955 1714 -241 -12%
Runcorn East 1093 920 -173 -16%
Runcorn West 862 794 -68 -8%
Widnes 1753 1635 -118 -7%
Widnes Inner 823 778 -45 -5%
Widnes Outer 930 857 -73 -8%
Total 3708 3349 -359 -10%

Stalking and Harassment

In 2024, there were 2,251 offences recorded under the Stalking and Harassment
Home Office offence group in Halton. This included 1,243 harassment offences, 493
stalking offences, 272 malicious communication offences, and 242 offences related
to controlling or coercive behaviour. Compared to other areas within the Cheshire
force, Halton continued to record higher rates across all categories, with an overall
rate of 17.6 offences per 1,000 population, above the force average of 12.7.
Harassment in Halton stood at 9.7 per 1,000, stalking at 3.8, malicious
communications at 2.1, and controlling or coercive behaviour at 1.9.

At a local level, Widnes LPU recorded more offences than Runcorn, accounting for
the maijority of the increase in total volume. Notably, changes in malicious
communication and harassment figures were most evident in both Widnes and
Runcorn. Within Widnes, the Widnes Inner cluster reported the most significant
increase in incidents, primarily driven by a rise in harassment offences. In contrast,
Runcorn East and Widnes Outer clusters saw small decreases.

Widnes LPU was the largest contributor to the borough-wide increases in
harassment, stalking, and controlling or coercive behaviour, and also to the decrease
in malicious communications. Of all stalking and harassment offences recorded in
Halton, 41% were flagged as domestic abuse-related. For stalking offences
specifically, this rose to 91%, higher than the force-wide figure of 88%. Additionally,
60% of all offences within this category were flagged as Violence Against Women
and Girls (VAWG), a proportion that aligns with the overall force average and
indicates that most victims were female. As with other domestic-related offences,
recording patterns may still be influenced by the Principal Crime Rule introduced in
the previous year (this rule states that when several crimes occur during the same
event, only the most serious offence is recorded or prosecuted, rather than counting
every single offence separately).

The high rate of stalking offences linked to domestic abuse suggests a need for
enhanced early intervention and digital safety support.

41



Page 61

Sexual Offences

In 2024, there were 530 recorded sexual offences in Halton - the highest total
reported in the past five years. This included 191 rape offences and 339 categorised
as other sexual offences. Child sexual abuse accounted for 376 of the total, also
reaching its highest level during the period. The rate of recorded sexual offences in
Halton was 4.1 per 1,000 population, exceeding the Cheshire Constabulary average
of 3.7. Rates were also comparatively higher in Halton for rape (1.5 versus 1.3),
other sexual offences (2.6 versus 2.3), and child sexual abuse (2.9 versus 2.4).

When broken down by policing area, both Widnes and Runcorn saw an increase in
sexual offence volumes. The rise in Widnes was more prominent, largely driven by
an increase in other sexual offences. Across the policing clusters, Runcorn West
recorded the largest rise, again primarily due to increases in other sexual offence
types. Runcorn East, by contrast, saw a drop in reported rape offences and the
overall total. Widnes LPU accounted for all of the increase in rape offences across
the borough and was also the primary contributor to the increase in other sexual
offences.

Among the offence types within this category, exposure and voyeurism recorded the
most notable rise. Additionally, 59% of all sexual offences recorded in Halton were
marked with a Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) flag, highlighting the
disproportionate impact of these crimes on female victims. Reporting patterns may
also have been influenced by wider cultural or media factors, such as public attention
drawn to historic cases through national operations like Operation Yewtree.

Halton continues to experience a higher demand for domestic abuse and related
services compared to the wider Cheshire area, with consistently elevated offence
rates. Offences such as stalking, harassment, and sexual violence show strong links
to domestic abuse, both in terms of case numbers and the predominance of female
victims. Among local areas, Widnes, particularly the Inner cluster, emerges as a
significant concern due to noticeable rises across several offence types.

Seasonal patterns indicate that reporting tends to peak during spring and summer,
which could help shape how and when support services are deployed. These
findings highlight the ongoing need for trauma-informed, gender-responsive services,
especially for women and children, and make a strong case for sustained investment
in prevention, early intervention, and wraparound community support.

Halton Domestic Abuse Database

In addition to recorded offences, Halton’s domestic abuse service received 1,833
referrals during 2024/25 across all risk levels. Of these, 603 cases were allocated to
an Independent Domestic Violence Advisor (IDVA), while 525 individuals declined
support, and 437 could not be contacted despite follow-up attempts. A further 127
referrals were identified as perpetrators. The police remained the primary source of
referral, demonstrating the continued role of frontline services in identifying and
responding to domestic abuse cases. These figures reflect both the growing demand
and challenges in engagement, and highlight the importance of outreach, trauma-
informed practice, and consistent follow-up support.

MARAC Data

42



Page 62

A MARAC (Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference) is a meeting where
information is shared on victims at the highest risk of serious harm or murder as a
result of domestic abuse. It is attended by representatives of local agencies such as
the police and health. The meetings usually take place monthly or fortnightly and
discuss an average of 16 cases at each meeting.

Between January and December 2024, there were 128,596 cases discussed across
283 MARACSs in England and Wales, marking a 3% increase from the previous year
and a 15% rise since 2020. The number of cases per 10,000 adult women also rose
to 48, surpassing the expected benchmark of 40. Police remained the primary
referrers, responsible for 64% of all cases, slightly up from 63% last year. Despite
this rise in overall cases, the repeat case rate decreased marginally to 30%, staying
within the typical range of 28-40%.7®

Victim demographics revealed some emerging trends, including an increase in cases
involving victims with disabilities, which accounted for 10.3% of referrals, up from
10.1%. Cases involving racially minoritised victims rose to 15.6%, and male victims
represented 6.5% of cases. Young victims aged 16 to 17 years made up
approximately 1.3% of cases, equating to around 1,698 individuals. These shifts
highlight the growing identification and referral of diverse victim groups requiring
targeted support.

The rise in both the total number of cases and the rate per 10,000 adult women
suggests improved detection and referral processes, potentially aided by new
MARAC portal tools that use updated population data from the 2021 census. The
stable repeat case rate underscores the ongoing cyclical nature of domestic abuse
and the importance of long-term intervention strategies. Additionally, the increases in
referrals among disabled individuals, racially minoritised groups, and male victims
emphasize the need for more inclusive and tailored domestic abuse services.

Cheshire

In the year ending March 2024, there were 2,190 cases discussed at MARACSs in
Cheshire’” with 652 individuals being discussed at MARACs in Halton. The number
of domestic abuse cases discussed at MARACs was 47 per 10,000 adult females.
This reflects a moderate rate of activity in relation to the adult female population.

Cheshire recorded 573 repeat cases, which accounted for 26% of its total. This
indicates a relatively lower proportion of repeat victimisation being referred to
MARAC compared to other areas.

2,311 children were living in households involved in MARAC cases in Cheshire,
which corresponds to the population size and reflects the number of young people
exposed to high-risk domestic abuse within the county. Overall, Cheshire
demonstrates steady MARAC activity with a lower-than-average proportion of repeat
cases and a significant number of children affected.

76 SafeLives (2025) Marac data — Key findings January 2024 to December 2024.
https://safelives.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Marac-Data-External-Key-Findings-January-24-to-December-
24.pdf

77 safeLives (2024) Our quarterly Marac data.
https://safelives.org.uk/research-policy/practitioner-datasets/marac-data

43


https://safelives.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Marac-Data-External-Key-Findings-January-24-to-December-24.pdf
https://safelives.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Marac-Data-External-Key-Findings-January-24-to-December-24.pdf
https://safelives.org.uk/research-policy/practitioner-datasets/marac-data

Page 63

735 cases were heard at MARAC in Halton in 2024/25. Although 700 cases were
heard, the referral rate could be much higher as a MARAC consideration meeting
screens referrals, and this figure does not include repeat referrals.

Halton is actively working to enhance its MARAC practices, including a MARAC
review, plans to establish a dedicated Steering Group - a structure commonly
adopted by other local authorities. To support this development, Halton’s Domestic
Abuse Manager will participate in a shadowing program with another local authority
that is recognised for its exemplary MARAC model.

Safe Accommodation Data

Halton Borough Council is currently developing a new borough-wide Housing
Strategy, supported by a comprehensive Housing Needs Assessment. This will
include data on supported accommodation, homelessness, and domestic abuse-
related housing needs. A large-scale household survey was conducted in late 2024
to inform this work, and the draft strategy is expected to be published in 2025.

While specific figures for domestic abuse presentations to housing services in
2023/24 have not been published, Halton’s strategy acknowledges the need for safe,
affordable, and accessible housing, particularly for vulnerable groups, including
survivors of domestic abuse.

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 outlines statutory duties for local authorities to provide
housing-based support for domestic abuse victims/survivors. This act aims to ensure
that victims/survivors can access safe accommodation and appropriate support
services.

Halton’s Whole Picture Approach details clear work streams and outlines key
priorities to ensure that local people are supported at the earliest stage of their
experience to prevent the escalation of risk and harm. This includes the provision of
specialist services to support the whole family — victims and their children, as well as
those who harm. The intention is to work together to provide safety, recovery and
sustainable change.

Accommodation need arises where prevention and early intervention has not been
possible or successful, and is a last resort for individuals and families who are at risk
of further harm if they do not move out of their home.

Only a small minority of people need such provision as there are many ways in
which Halton provides safety in homes and communities, including:

» Safety planning with and support for victims to end abusive relationships in a
planned and risk-managed way

* Using a range of multi-agency fora to bring all involved agencies together to
safeguard clients

* Accessing the criminal and civil justice system to address the source of the
problem, i.e. the alleged perpetrator

» Engaging the person who is harming in changing their behaviour

44



Page 64

However there remain some families where the person causing harm continues to
pose a significant threat and there is no other option than to seek safe alternative
accommodation. This is provided locally through our Halton Domestic Abuse Service
commission, where temporary supported accommodation (refuge) is made available
to those in need. Service users have indicated that their preference is to maintain as
‘normal’ a life for them and their children as possible, and how important it is that we
offer a range of solutions rather than a one size fits all.

Anyone accessing accommodation receives one to one support to address the
abuse that has brought them into temporary accommodation and to support them
towards independence and gaining a new permanent home, the offer of support will
be accessible in all housing options provided in Halton.

The partnership between the council and the local registered social landlords is
strong, working in collaboration, Halton aims to further develop options that will
strengthen the offer of support for people who wish to remain in their own homes
through an extended range of sanctuary measures.

The Sanctuary Scheme is a multi-agency victim-centred initiative which aims to
enable households at risk of violence to remain safely in their own homes by
installing a ‘Sanctuary’ in the home and through the provision of support to the
household.’

Whole Housing Approach

The Whole Housing Approach is an evidence-based model that has been used as a
framework to develop and construct a model for Halton. It was first conceptualised in
2018 by the Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance (DAHA) in collaboration with the
National Housing and Domestic Abuse Policy and Practice Group. The approach
aims to:

* Enable earlier identification and intervention of domestic abuse

» Reduce the number of people rendered homeless because of domestic abuse
 Enable survivors to remain safely in their homes where it is their choice to do so,
or to keep their tenancy status if they relocate

* Where a current joint tenancy is in place, enable the tenancy to be altered so the
perpetrator is removed and the tenancy is put in the victim's sole name

The diagram below illustrates the model and its twelve components. The blue circles
represent different forms of accommodation, including the three main tenure types
(social, private rented, and private ownership) and temporary accommodation
settings (refuges, supported accommodation). The orange circles are the housing
options and specialist domestic abuse services designed to provide safe and stable
housing that allow victims/ survivors to either remain in their property or relocate to
new accommodation.

45



In response to the local need for accommodation, Halton offers a range of options
including:

e Housing-related support — providing housing-related advice and support, for
example, securing a permanent home and advice on how to live safely and
independently

e Specialist support for victims with relevant protected characteristics and
those presenting with complex needs

e Specialist services that can respond to those people who require

interpreters, have regard to cultural and faith requirements, mental health

advice and support, and immigration advice

Inclusive, supported temporary accommaodation

Community-based supported accommodation

Secondary stage accommodation

House for life options

Access to supported accommodation for people not eligible for benefits

Grants to facilitate safe access to supported accommodation

Under the Domestic Abuse Act 2021, victims/survivors of domestic abuse are
automatically classed as having priority need for housing. This means local
authorities must secure suitable accommodation if the person is homeless or at risk
of homelessness. Previously, victims/ survivors had to prove they were vulnerable
due to Domestic Abuse, but now no additional vulnerability test is required.

Local authorities must take action to prevent or relieve homelessness for all eligible
applicants. These duties include:

Prevention Duty (56 days) applies if a victim is threatened with homelessness
within 56 days (e.g., they are still in their home but cannot stay due to domestic
abuse). The council must provide advice, support and practical help, such as
arranging alternative accommodation before they become homeless, helping them
remain in their home safely (e.g., through sanctuary schemes providing extra
security) or assisting with financial help (e.g., Discretionary Housing Payments.)

46



Page 66

Relief Duty (56 days) applies if a victim is already homeless, the council must make
reasonable steps to help secure accommodation for at least six months. This could
involve placing them in emergency accommodation (e.g., refuge, hostel, or
temporary housing), helping them find private rented accommodation, or referring
them to housing associations.

Main Housing Duty is required where the victim remains homeless after the 56-day
relief duty; the council has a duty to provide long-term housing if they:

e Are eligible (most UK residents qualify)

e Are in priority need (which all domestic abuse victims/survivors are)

e Are not intentionally homeless (e.g., they did not deliberately refuse suitable
housing)

Councils may offer social housing or help with private rental properties.

Normally, applicants must have a local connection to a local council area; however,
domestic abuse survivors are exempt and can apply to any local authority. This is
crucial for those needing to escape their abuser’s area.

Local authorities must ensure any accommodation offered is suitable and safe,
considering the risk from the perpetrator (e.g., the victim must not be housed near
them) and the victim’s support needs (e.g., access to domestic abuse services), the
location (e.g., school, work, family support). Survivors can challenge unsuitable
accommodation if it puts them at risk.

Housing Strategy Recommendations

In 2024, Halton Borough Council commissioned consultants to conduct a Housing
Needs Assessment, which considered the suitability of accommodation for domestic
abuse survivors. It found that there is insufficient domestic abuse emergency
accommodation, and a total lack of domestic abuse accommodation for those who
cannot be placed in emergency accommodation, i.e., complex needs, offending
history. It states that there is a need for emergency accommodation for residents,
rather than for them to be sent outside of the borough or put in hotels. Equally, where
vulnerable families face eviction, the assessment found that the support pathway
needs to be improved across multi-disciplinary teams who can prevent rather than
respond. Homelessness service providers in Halton confirmed that survivors of
domestic abuse are not being given the top priority for accommodation. This is
against the requirements of the Domestic Abuse Act.

This Housing Needs Assessment supported the creation of a new Housing Strategy,
which, at the time of writing, is currently in draft form. The new strategy places
domestic abuse accommodation at the heart of its future priorities. In the Council’s
Household Survey, supporting survivors of domestic abuse emerged as the second-
highest concern, with 68.3% of respondents identifying it as a strategic priority. In
response, the Housing Strategy sets out a clear and ambitious plan to improve
access to safe, appropriate housing and to align its delivery with survivor needs,
legal duties and trauma-informed practice.

Key proposals include:

47



Page 67

« Ensuring survivors are granted appropriate housing priority via the Housing
Options Team

e Conducting a full review of domestic abuse housing needs to better
understand scale, complexity, and demand

o Developing a new 3 - 4 bed refuge for emergency placements, including
capacity to support individuals with complex needs

e Providing tailored accommodation options for older survivors (aged 60+)

« Strengthening and standardising Sanctuary Schemes across housing
providers

e Supporting more survivors to remain safely in their homes, where appropriate

« Expanding perpetrator behaviour change support, with necessary resources

e Increasing access to safe, short-term accommodation for those not requiring
long-term support

o Collaborating with private landlords to co-design a supportive housing scheme
for survivors

e Reviewing commissioning options for emergency accommodation as part of
ongoing delivery improvement

These proposals would address many of the needs and limitations identified within
this Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment.

Available Housing Data

The MHGLC (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government), previously
called DLUHC, compiles data to monitor progress and implementation of Part 4 of
the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 across England. This relates to local authorities’ duty
to provide domestic abuse support services to domestic abuse victims within safe
accommodation.

The latest report in 2023/2478 reveals that English local authorities reported 63,580
referrals for domestic abuse safe accommodation. 36,870 (58%) of these were
female adults, 1830 (3%) were male adults, 320 (1%) were trans or non-binary, and
24,940 (39%) were children. This demonstrates that the amount of males supported
in safe accommodation services is extremely low compared to how many men are
experiencing domestic abuse.

In 2023/4 Halton received 104 referrals for safe accommodation. Halton has 12
Refuge bed spaces and no dispersed, specialist, or second-stage accommodation
available. The absence of these accommodation types may limit flexibility and
options for victims, with a potential gap in supporting those with specialist or more
diverse issues.

Despite not having specific specialist accommodation, Halton did report providing ‘By
and For’ specialist services with targeted support, e.g., services that support specific

78 Office for National Statistics (2024) Domestic abuse in England and Wales — Data tool.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/domesticabusei
nenglandandwalesdatatool

48


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/domesticabuseinenglandandwalesdatatool
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/domesticabuseinenglandandwalesdatatool

Page 68

survivor groups such as counselling, advocacy, or casework. Halton reported 4 such
services, each tailored for a different group, including Black and minoritised
survivors, survivors with disabilities, LGBTQ+ survivors, and an ‘other’ category. In
an area with very low diversity, this is crucial in ensuring inclusive support is
available.

Halton’s non-specialist accommodation available for both single and family
households is currently as follows:

Brennan Lodge, Widnes e 37 self-contained rooms offering
supported provision for single
clients

e 2 self-contained rooms offering
supported hostel provision for
rough sleepers

Columba Hall, Widnes e 14 self-contained apartments for
families
Market Street/ Lacey Street, Widnes e 4 self-contained apartments

offering move-on provision for
former rough sleepers

Grangeway Court, Runcorn e 14 self-contained units offering
supported provision for families
Halton Lodge, Runcorn e 66 self-contained rooms offering

supported hostel provision for
single clients

e 4 self-contained rooms offering
supported hostel provision for
rough sleepers

All of the above temporary supported hostel provision is used to accommodate
vulnerable homeless households in accordance with Local Authority statutory duty.

Support Received in Safe Accommodation

In 2023/24, Halton supported 119 individuals through domestic abuse safe
accommodation, with the majority of survivors receiving general support, as well as
offering advocacy support, domestic abuse prevention advice, children’s support,
housing-related support, and financial/legal advice. Counselling and therapeutic
support were notably limited, with only 8 individuals receiving this service,
suggesting a potential gap in trauma-informed recovery provision.

According to Halton’s Domestic Abuse database, there are currently 8 adults
(including 2 families with 3 children) staying in their Refuge accommodation. Half of
these are from Halton, half are from outside the borough. The average length of stay
is currently 211 days.

Individuals Supported in Safe Accommodation

49



Page 69

In 2024/25, 27 adults were supported in the refuge accommodation and have since
left, including 21 single adults and 10 children within 6 families. The average length
of stay was 97 days, with a max stay of 383 days. The most common age range for
individuals staying was 25 — 34.

In 2023/4 Halton supported 119 individuals (roughly 0.09% of Halton’s total
population) who were referred for safe accommodation support. Of these, 92 were
female adults (77%), 2 were male (2%), 1 who identified as trans or non-binary (1%),
and 24 children (20%). This represents a much higher proportion of female adults
and a lower proportion of children than the national average, demonstrating that
Halton’s safe accommodation services as predominantly accessed by adult women.
This could suggest either fewer family placements, which may indicate a gap in
provision for families. Halton may benefit from developing more child-inclusive
services and male survivor pathways.

Nearly 30% of Halton’s supported individuals (35) came from outside the borough,
which is above the national average of 12%.

Halton supported 34 individuals with at least one special characteristic. These
characteristics included (an individual may have multiple):

6 black and minoritised individuals (lower than the national average)

5 individuals with disabilities

2 ex-offenders (slightly higher than the national average)

5 individuals with drug support needs (higher than the national average)

10 individuals with alcohol support needs (significantly higher than the

national average)

e 20 individuals with a history of mental health issues (slightly above the
national average)

e 8 individuals under 25 (in line with national trend)

e 2 individuals aged 65+ (slightly higher than the national average)

Mental health needs are the most common special characteristic in Halton, which
again demonstrates the need for more mental health support services, counselling,
and therapeutic services.

Accommodation Types

71 out of the 119 individuals supported in safe accommodation were supported in
refuge accommodation, which equates to 60% which is much higher than the
national average of 31%. 48 were supported by sanctuary schemes, a type of
support that helps victims of domestic abuse to remain safely in their own homes,
rather than having to flee. The home can be made more secure through tailored
safety measures, such as:

Reinforced doors and locks

Fireproof letterboxes

Window alarms or security lighting

Safe rooms with enhanced security features

These interventions are risk-assessed and delivered in partnership with the council
and the police.

50



Page 70

In Halton, sanctuary schemes make up a significant proportion of the borough’s
domestic abuse response, suggesting an emphasis on helping people stay in their
homes where safely possible.

Length of Stay

Halton’s most commonly reported length of stay in refuge accommodation is
between 3 to 6 months, with the average stay being about 4 months. This is slightly
higher than the English average. The length of stay was not captured in
approximately 33% of cases (which may be due to lack of data or ongoing stays);
however, this demonstrates stronger local data recording than nationally, where
lengths of stay were not recorded in 52% of cases. A lack of dispersed
accommodation and limited bedspaces could contribute to longer stays and reduce
turnover, and restrict access for new referrals.

Short stays are more common in Halton than nationally, which could reflect early
departures or limited suitability, or capacity.

Households Unable to Be Supported

In 2023/24, Halton reported that 57 households were unable to be supported. 46 of
these cases were due to capacity constraints. This is more than double the national
rate, indicating a local shortage of spaces.

2 cases were due to households not accepting referrals, 1 due to unmet needs, and
7 due to ‘other reasons’.

Households Exiting Safe Accommodation

In 2023/24, 38 households stopped receiving accommodation support. Halton has a
strong rate of planned move-ons (60.5%), which is encouraging and suggests
effective case management for many survivors.

However, the proportion returning to live with the perpetrator, both from sanctuary
and non-sanctuary settings, is alarmingly high (combined 36.8% vs 3.5% nationally).
This may indicate:

e Coercive control or economic dependence
e Lack of long-term housing options
¢ Insufficient follow-up or outreach support

The eviction/asked to leave rate is also significantly higher than average, which may
reflect challenges in managing complex needs or behavioural issues in a small
service.

Domestic Abuse-Related Death Reviews

According to the Femicide Census, one woman has been killed every three days in
the UK since 2009. 90% of the killers were family, partners, or known to the victim.

51



Page 71

61% of women were killed by a current or former partner. 80% of the killings were
committed in the home of either the victim or the perpetrator.”

Domestic Abuse Related Death Reviews are done when the death of a person aged
16 or over has, or appears to have, resulted in violence, abuse, or neglect by either a
relative, a spouse, partner, or ex-partner, or a member of the same household. This
includes death by suicide.

The purpose of a DARDR is to help identify lessons we can learn from the death,
prevent further domestic abuse, and improve services for victims of domestic abuse.

The Domestic Homicide and Suspected Victim Studies 2020 — 2024 Report stated
that between 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024, there were 262 domestic abuse-
related deaths recorded in England and Wales. These included:

98 suspected suicides following domestic abuse (SVSDA)

80 intimate partner homicides (IPH)

39 adult family homicides

28 unexpected deaths

11 child deaths

6 ‘other’ (where the victim and suspect lived together, but were not related or
intimate partners)

For the second year in a row, suspected suicides following domestic abuse have
overtaken the number of homicides involving current or previous partners (For
LGBTQ+ victims, 68% of recorded cases were SVSDA). This reflects increased
awareness and progress made against recommendations in the project’s last report,
which focused on improving policing’s ability to better recognise and record the link
between domestic abuse and suicide. The rise in suspected suicides linked to
domestic abuse underscores the need for trauma-informed mental health support,
early identification of coercive control, and stronger post-separation safeguarding.

Over four years (1 April 2020 — 31 March 2024), the number of people killed by their
current or previous partner consistently represents around a third of domestic abuse-
related deaths each year.

Between April 2020 and March 2024, there were 1012 deaths. These included 501
domestic homicides, 354 SVSDA, 71 unexpected deaths, 61 child deaths, and 25
deaths classified as ‘other’. Overall, the most common method of death was by
sharp instrument, accounting for 45% of domestic homicides. 73% of victims were
female, and most were between 25 and 54 years old (60%). On the other hand,
suspects were predominantly male (80%), with the majority aged 25 to 54 years old
(69%).

Notably, across the four years of data collection, 22% of victims and 43% of suspects
were recorded as having mental health needs. The most commonly recorded risk
factors in relation to the suspected included mental ill health, as well as alcohol use,
a history of coercive and controlling behaviour, and drug misuse. Another commonly
recorded risk factor was separation (threat of actual ending of the relationship.)

7° Femicide Census (2025) Femicide Census — Profiles of Women Killed by Men.
https://www.femicidecensus.org

80 Vulnerability Knowledge and Practice Programme (VKPP) (2025) Domestic Homicide Project.
https://www.vkpp.org.uk/vkpp-work/domestic-homicide-project/

52


https://www.femicidecensus.org/
https://www.vkpp.org.uk/vkpp-work/domestic-homicide-project/

Page 72

Overall, 67% of suspects were known to the police as a suspect or perpetrator of
domestic abuse.

While there have been no confirmed domestic abuse-related deaths in Halton since
2014, the Halton Domestic Abuse Partnership Board remains prepared to respond to
and manage Domestic Abuse Related Death Reviews (DARDRSs) should they be
required, with multi-agency coordination and survivor-informed learning at its core.

Feedback from Domestic Abuse Services

Halton Domestic Abuse Service Research

To gain deeper insight into the demand for domestic abuse support in the area,
Halton Borough Council carried out a qualitative study. Input was gathered from
service users and providers through a combination of surveys and a facilitated
‘pinpoint’ focus group. The objective was to explore the pressures on local services
and highlight key challenges affecting the current system.

Service Providers:

The Council engaged with a range of local organisations working in the field of
domestic abuse, including service providers, charities, and specialist agencies, to
gather their perspectives. Participating organisations included Halton Housing, The
Children’s Society - Halton Resolve, RASASC Cheshire, Cheshire Constabulary, and
Children’s Services. The ‘pinpoint’ focus group session was attended by 8
representatives, including staff from Halton Borough Council, Probation, Change
Grow Live, MyCWA and Halton Resolve. It is important to note that comments on
staff performance and service needs reflect the views of a limited sample and apply
across all agencies involved, not solely Halton’s IDVA team.

Several key themes emerged from these discussions:

1. Strong Partnership Working and Positive IDVA Engagement
Findings:

o Consistent praise for IDVA responsiveness, professionalism, and
collaboration.
« Evident staff dedication — IDVAs and other professionals show passion,
teamwork and resilience despite heavy workloads.
« MARAC and multi-agency links seen as a strength.
e Strong collaboration between wider services.
Supporting Quotations:
‘I am always impressed with the IDVA service... practical ideas and passionate
support.”
“Very good communication from IDVA service in a timely manner. They liaise with
referrers on next steps.”
“Target hardening tools are always increasing — doorbell initiatives eftc. - great
partnership with housing.”

53



Page 73

2. Gaps in Support for Marginalised & Complex Needs
Findings:

o Low confidence in support for LGBTQ+, deaf victims, those from ethnic
minority groups, and those with immigration needs.
o Lack of services for low-to-medium risk cases and those not scoring high
enough on DASH.
« Lack of specialist workers for complex cases, child-on-parent abuse, stalking,
historic abuse, male victims and those without children.
e Inconsistent support for historic abuse cases.
Supporting Quotations:
“There is no real service offer for LGBTQ+ victims - that gap is very clear.”
“Support for those who don’t meet IDVA criteria is extremely limited.”
“We should be liaising more with ‘by and for’ organisations that support marginalised
communities.”

3. Inconsistent Knowledge of Available Services
Findings:

« Staff struggled to navigate or keep up with which services exist and what they
offer.
« Half said they could not easily find information about available services.
« Directory of services considered helpful but seen as hard to maintain.
e GP referrals remain low despite training.
Supporting Quotations:
‘Do we have a current index of services? Is there a portal? It's hard to keep track.”
“An up-to-date website or service directory would be ideal.”
“Some services end suddenly due to funding — it makes consistency difficult.”

4. Court and Legal Support Is Limited or Overloaded
Findings:

« Support with legal matters, court orders, and attendance is stretched or
unclear.
« Victims often moved instead of being legally protected in their own homes.
o Courts perceived as prioritising perpetrators’ rights over victims’.
o Lack of specialist domestic abuse training across services and courts.
e Long trial waits discourage victims and weaken testimony quality.
Supporting Quotations:
“The focus is still too much on moving the victim. More court support to remove the
perpetrator is needed.”
“Court delays, overwhelmed services — legal support isn’t always by someone the
victim knows.”
“Staff need better knowledge of court procedures and legal orders.”

5. Housing Support Is Helpful but Overwhelmed
Findings:

54



Page 74

o Target hardening and MARAC participation by housing teams are seen as a
strength.

o Refuge accommodation is difficult to access; hotel stays are impractical.
Supporting Quotations:
“Moving them doesn’t solve the issue as they often just move within the same area.”
“Hotel accommodation with no kitchen and children to feed is not sustainable.”
“Housing can be a blocker - survivors with kids often have no options but refuge,
which they don’t want.”

6. Insufficient and Inconsistent Support for Children
Findings:

« Services for children affected by DA are limited, especially for trauma
recovery.
o Lack of long-term support and a need for trauma-informed play therapy.
o Limited trauma-therapy provision is worsened by trial-related delays and long
waiting lists.
e More prevention work needed in schools.
Supporting Quotations:
“There isn’t much locally for children affected by trauma.”
“Trauma-informed sessions are useful — we need more like this.”
“More facilities and qualified staff needed to support children long-term.”

7. Health and Mental Health Support Is Hard to Access
Findings:

e Support exists but is patchy, with long waits and a reliance on signposting.
e Survivors need practical and therapeutic support, not just prescriptions.
e Long counselling waiting lists, compounded by delays linked to court
proceedings.

Supporting Quotations:

“Health is often ‘opt-in’ or closed - not helpful for complex needs.”

“Access to mental health support is too hard and takes too long.”

“Signposting is there, but actual delivery and accessibility is poor.”

8. Training Gaps and Suggestions
Findings:

« Staff in other services raised the need for further training in:
» Legal processes (including Non-Molestation Orders)
« Trauma-informed practice (including trauma-informed play therapy)
» Support for marginalised communities
» Service knowledge and referral pathways.
« Some social workers and services lack knowledge of domestic abuse (e.g.,
DASH risk assessments, differences between parental conflict vs. abuse).
Supporting Quotations:
“Trauma-informed play therapy training would be hugely beneficial.”
“We need to understand coercive control better and what each service offers.”

55



Page 75

“‘Bite-sized, refresher, and CPD training on legal tools like Non-Molestation Orders
would help.”

9. Common Systemic Challenges
Findings:

« Overstretched staff, high caseloads, and lack of communication (including
from Children’s Social Care).
e Long wait times and survivors overwhelmed by demands from multiple
agencies.
« Inconsistent referrals and limited access to information across teams.
« MARAC meetings could be shorter and more focused.
« Delays in police sharing case information and evidence.
Supporting Quotations:
“Survivors are penalised for speaking up - too many demands make them consider
going back.”
“One key professional to mediate between agencies would make a huge difference.”
“We need better communication from CSC. They often don’t invite us to meetings or
update us.”

10. Recommendations from Practitioners
Suggestions for Improvement:

« Create a central portal or index of services.

o Develop support for low- and medium-risk clients.

o Improve multi-agency coordination and feedback (e.g., MARAC).

e Increase access to counselling and trauma support.

« Better refuge availability, especially locally.

« Address staffing capacity in high-demand services like IDVA.

« Expand specialist provision for complex cases, historic abuse, and male
victims.

e Increase prevention and awareness work (schools and community
campaigns).

e Improve court processes and trial timelines.

Service Users:

Service users offered both praise and constructive criticism of domestic abuse
services in Halton. While many had positive experiences, significant gaps and
challenges were also identified. In total, there were 55 responses to the public
survey. Again, it is important to note that comments and experiences are based on
respondents' experience with all domestic violence services and support accessed in
Halton, including police, third sector, NHS, and Halton’s IDVA service.

Key themes, with supporting feedback:

1. Service Usage and Awareness
Findings:

« All respondents had experienced domestic abuse (personally or through
someone they knew).

56



Page 76

o Almost 3/4 of respondents had used a support service, but many were
unaware of what's available or how to access it.
Supporting Feedback:
“I didn't know it existed, and | didn't want to make a fuss at home.”
“l sought help via Google but only found the national domestic abuse line, not a
localised service.”

2. Positive Experiences
Findings:

e Many praised the IDVA service and Halton Women’s Centre.
o Empathetic, non-judgemental support and clear guidance were key to positive
experiences.

Supporting Feedback:
“The IDVAs are wonder women. They were there for me through the worst time in
my life... stood by my side at court.”
“l was referred by my Doctor to the Women'’s Centre... they were caring, listened to
my worries, arranged counselling... | can’t thank the team enough.”

3. Negative Experiences
Findings:

e Many cited inconsistent follow-up, dismissive professionals, and lack of
communication, especially after court.
o Social services and police were frequently criticised for poor response,
misjudging victims, or enabling abusers.
Supporting Feedback:
“I received no support for over 12 months, the court case is on 7th July - I've had
nothing.”
“Social services used the information against me and made me look like the abuser.”
“Very negative experience of Police, CPS and IDVA service... staff had poor
knowledge... services are not joined up.”
“The police made a very negative impact on the experience, | would probably not call
them again.”

4. Housing and Accommodation
Findings:

e Access to housing support was limited. Some respondents were homeless,
sofa-surfing, or living in cars.
e Many did not receive security measures or were not aware they were
available.
Supporting Feedback:
‘I moved my belongings into a storage facility and lived in my car for 9 months.”
“l applied for housing... received absolutely no support. Didn’t even respond to my
application.”
“They said they would put security cameras up, but never did.”

57



Page 77

“l had additional locks fitted... my address was also highlighted to the police.”

5. Support for Children
Findings:

« Children often lacked support even when abuse was ongoing or disclosed.
e Schools were sometimes helpful, but services were inconsistent and
overstretched.
Supporting Feedback:
“Social services didn’t believe me or school... they enabled Dad to continue the
abuse over about 6 years.”
“The school was useless regarding domestic violence with children — they need
training.”
“Halton Resolve did sessions with my older children... support now continues in
school.”

6. Criminal Justice System
Findings:

« Mixed experiences with court-related services.

« Long delays, lack of updates, and emotional strain were common concerns.
Supporting Feedback:
“l have waited 2+ years to attend Crown Court - only for it to be postponed until
2026.”
“No follow-up after the sentencing.”
“We were not kept in the loop... use of acronyms was very off-putting.”

7. Health and Mental Wellbeing Support
Findings:

« Some found help through GPs, referrals, or counselling.
o Others described being left to cope with trauma and mental health issues
alone.
« Ahigh proportion of respondents identified themselves as having a mental
health condition.
Supporting Feedback:
“l chose to go to my Doctor... they got me into a specialist team to help with mental
health and alcohol issues.”
“The gateway program was brilliant... I'm now waiting for counselling.”

8. Inclusion Gaps: Male, LGBTQ+, Older Victims
Findings:

o Male and LGBTQ+ respondents felt particularly unsupported or dismissed.
« Some noted that services were perceived as “for women only.”
Supporting Feedback:
“I'm a man & finding a service is much harder.”
“I feel due to it being a same sex situation it wasn't taken as seriously.”

58



Page 78

“There isn’t enough support for older women with no young children.”

Halton’s Housing Need Assessment Research

The Council also recently undertook a Housing Needs Assessment. During this
assessment, feedback was also sought from staff working within the Domestic Abuse
Team in Halton, and other relevant Housing officers. They shared the following:

One of the major concerns of the team dealing with victims/survivors of
Domestic Abuse is that there is not a true understanding of the scale of the
challenge. The team believe that Domestic Abuse is the most significant
challenge to Halton at present. The hidden numbers who are sofa surfing
and staying with friends and relatives is unknown and further work is
needed to be understand this and the ongoing impact in Halton. Poor
housing offers can perpetuate Domestic Abuse.

The Anne Street West scheme which is currently used as emergency
accommodation for victim/survivors of Domestic Abuse is not fit for purpose.
Its location is well known across the borough, and dispersed
accommodation is the preferred model. It is also gender blind and allocation
of a property is based on risk and therefore men and women can be
allocated here. That is not a model that works well. In addition to this, where
individuals have complex needs and are also going through domestic
violence, they will not be accepted to Street West. Without appropriate
options, the council is not meeting its legal obligations. Although dispersed
options are required, there is a need for a 3 to 4-bed refuge type
accommodation to offer emergency placements.

There is a growing challenge of older people age 60+ who are living in
abusive situations and do not have any alternative (ground floor)
accommodation to move to.

The council offers a sanctuary scheme, and a similar consistent offer would
be welcomed in the social rented sector. The view from officers is that
registered providers may put additional locks on properties, but this is not a
full sanctuary measures, and a service standard for specification and
timeframes needs to be in place.

There needs to be more emphasis on retaining victims/survivors with
children within the property and removing the perpetrator (with support). It is
far easier to house a single person than a family and this is an aspiration of
the team. The council is supporting perpetrators, but more resource is
required.

Not all people who experience Domestic Abuse are inherently vulnerable in
every aspect of their lives. While they may be in a vulnerable position during
the abuse, once they leave, many have the ability to make independent
choices, secure jobs, and access the financial resources needed to find
stable accommodation. The key support they require is not long-term
dependence but a safe, temporary space where they can plan their next
steps.

59



Page 79

There is a lack of move-on accommodation for victims/survivors of Domestic
Abuse who do require housing support. Victims/survivors of Domestic
Abuse are not being given the priority need that the legal duty places on the
local authority.

Further work needs to be undertaken with local landlords to develop a
support scheme.

Citizens Advice Halton Study

In addition to engagement conducted as part of this needs assessment, further
gualitative research was undertaken by Citizens Advice Halton in early 2025. This
work captured the voices and experiences of women in Halton who had lived through
domestic abuse. Their insights provide powerful context for understanding both the
barriers to support and the essential components of effective service delivery.

Key Barriers to Accessing Support

The research identified six interconnected barriers that often prevented or delayed
survivors from seeking and receiving help. These themes reflect the reality of many
victims’ lives in Halton today:

Lack of Awareness: Many women did not recognise what they were
experiencing as abuse, especially in the absence of physical violence.
Coercive control, emotional manipulation, and financial restrictions were
frequently misunderstood or minimised. Some women described the abuse
as having “felt normal” at the time, only realising in hindsight how serious it
had been. There was also low awareness of available support services,
especially among those not already involved in the criminal justice system

Fear of Retaliation: A significant proportion of survivors described the risks
associated with speaking out or leaving an abusive partner. These included
threats of increased violence, losing their children, homelessness, or
becoming the subject of community gossip or judgment. One participant
expressed concern that “if we go to court... he will be...more abusive”
illustrating the fear that legal action would escalate danger rather than
reduce it

Distrust of Services: Participants often feared that approaching
professionals, particularly the local authority, police, housing officers, or
social services, would result in blame or further trauma. Some had past
experiences of being judged or disbelieved, and others feared their children
would be taken away. This deep-seated mistrust meant many delayed
seeking help, even at high levels of risk

Services Do Not Meet the Needs: Services were frequently described as
disconnected, inaccessible, or unresponsive. Victims reported that they
were “left with mountains of paperwork” or required to repeat their traumatic
stories over and over again to different people. This fragmented approach
created additional emotional strain and undermined trust. There were also
concerns about counselling and advice services that were poorly timed or
culturally out of step with their lived realities

60



Page 80

A Lack of Diversity: Survivors from minoritised communities, including
those who were LGBTQ+, from ethnic minority backgrounds, or with
insecure immigration status, often felt excluded or misunderstood. Non-
English speakers reported language barriers and poor translation. Some felt
dismissed because their situation didn't fit a stereotypical image of domestic
abuse

Leaving Always Means Loss: Leaving an abusive relationship was not
only emotionally fraught, but also tied to significant losses: housing, financial
security, community, and even identity. These were especially difficult to
face alone. Many participants described staying in harmful situations
because they saw no alternative. The pain of starting over, especially with
children or no income, was often perceived as worse than enduring the
abuse

These insights paint a vivid picture of the structural and emotional challenges
faced by survivors. They also underscore the need for services that are
accessible, trauma-informed, culturally competent, and guided by the voices of
those who have lived through domestic abuse.

When asked what a high-quality, effective domestic abuse service should
include, participants consistently identified five essential features:

Validation and Empathy: More than anything, survivors wanted to be
listened to and believed. The importance of emotional validation was
repeatedly emphasised

A Single Point of Contact: Continuity of care was vital. Victims felt strongly
that having a single, named support worker helped build trust, reduced the
trauma of repeating their stories, and provided a more consistent
experience throughout their journey

Practical Support: Many survivors struggled with complex forms,
applications for housing, benefit claims, or court procedures. Some missed
out on help because they were too overwhelmed to complete paperwork.
Survivors also wanted quicker access to home safety measures, such as
reinforced doors, letterbox shields, panic alarms, and security cameras -
practical steps that made a real difference in their sense of safety

Timely Intervention: Survivors expressed the importance of receiving help
immediately, ideally on the same day. Delays often led them to downplay or
minimise the abuse, resulting in inaction or returning to an unsafe home

“By and For” Services: Many participants preferred to engage with
services delivered by people with lived experience of domestic abuse, or by
those who could understand the cultural, emotional, or community context of
their situation

The Citizens Advice Halton report concluded with six key recommendations.
These reflect the service design changes most requested by survivors and
should be considered within any future commissioning or strategy development:

Proactive Conversations: All public-facing professionals should be trained
and expected to routinely ask about domestic abuse in their everyday roles.

61



Page 81

Normalising this conversation increases early identification and opens the
door to help

e Multi-Agency One-Stop Hub: A confidential, low-barrier location where
individuals can access housing, health, legal, emotional and financial
support from different agencies under one roof would reduce trauma and
improve outcomes

e Local Awareness Raising: There is an urgent need to improve public
understanding of all forms of abuse, including coercive control and financial
manipulation. Community education can empower people to recognise
abuse earlier

e Better Signposting and Information Access: Survivors should be able to
easily find up-to-date, clear information about support services. This
includes printed materials, online listings, GP posters, and local awareness
campaigns

e Support Beyond IDVA Thresholds: Many survivors are not classified as
high-risk but still need help. Expanding access to trained advisers at
organisations like Citizens Advice Halton can ensure survivors get quality-
assured support to rebuild their lives

e Commissioning “By and For” Services: Services should reflect the
diverse identities of Halton’s population and be co-designed with the
communities they intend to serve. Culturally competent, inclusive, and
survivor-led support builds trust and ensures relevance

Recommendations

These recommendations have been developed in response to evidence from the
surveys with service providers and service users, the targeted pinpoint focus group
session, the Citizens Advice Domestic Abuse Report, and the Housing Needs
Assessment. They also take into account developments since 2021, current local
needs, and domestic abuse prevalence, as well as relevant policy updates and
statutory requirements issued by the Government. They have been shaped and
formally endorsed by Halton’s Domestic Abuse Partnership Board.

1. Awareness, Accessibility & Inclusion

Many survivors, professionals, and community members lack awareness of what
domestic abuse services exist and how to access them. Access barriers are greater
for marginalised groups and in workplace settings where staff may not know how to
signpost.

Actions:
o Develop and maintain a centralised, up-to-date online and print service
directory, including referral routes and eligibility.

62



Page 82

Distribute posters, leaflets, and business cards with QR code links to this
directory across GP surgeries, schools, housing offices, libraries, workplaces,
and community hubs.

Ensure materials are multilingual, accessible, and inclusive, reflecting the
diversity of Halton’s communities.

Partner with “by and for” specialist organisations to co-design inclusive
messaging and ensure reach to male, LGBTQ+, deaf, disabled, and ethnic
minority survivors.

Establish mechanism to ensure information is up to date.

Improve offer at Halton Women’s Centre.

Improve referral pathways via GPs, IDVAs and schools

2. Tiered and Ongoing Support Pathway

Many victims who do not meet the IDVA threshold receive little or no support, while
others feel abandoned once crisis or court involvement ends. There is a need for a
continuum of support that includes early intervention, trauma recovery, and
empowerment.

Actions:

Develop a consistent Low- and Medium-Risk Offer across agencies, providing
early help, advocacy, and signposting.

Fund and expand peer support groups, early intervention, and step-down
services for those leaving crisis support or the justice process.

Increase access to non-medical trauma and wellbeing services, including
group and peer-led recovery, to complement clinical mental health options.
Establish a “Step-Down” and recovery pathway following court outcomes,
housing interventions, or IDVA closure, ensuring continuity of care.

Promote empowerment, skill-building, and survivor-led recovery models,
strengthening resilience and reducing repeat victimisation.

Monitor outcomes to identify and address any gaps in early help or recovery
provision.

3. Strengthen & Diversify the IDVA Service

The IDVA service is highly valued but overstretched, with limited specialist capacity.
Survivors and professionals highlight the need for IDVAs in additional settings and
for longer-term involvement in complex cases.

Actions:

Secure funding to expand the IDVA team and introduce specialist posts in
courts, hospitals, an IDVA based in iCART, and a multiple lived experience
IDVA.

Ensure IDVAs provide continuity of case management for complex or high-risk
survivors, including follow-up after court, housing, or MARAC interventions.
Explore use of volunteers or peer supporters to enhance the service while
maintaining professional oversight.

63



Page 83

e Integrate specialist therapeutic or trauma-informed practitioners within the
IDVA team.

« Strengthen coordination between IDVAs, police, CPS, probation, housing, and
health partners to ensure seamless information sharing and consistent
support.

4. Justice, Accountability & Court Support

Survivors often experience confusion, delay, and lack of support within the justice
process. Perpetrator interventions and monitoring also vary in quality and availability.
A coordinated approach is needed to improve outcomes and accountability.

Actions:

« Train all relevant professionals on legal options (Non-Molestation Orders,
Occupation Orders, Clare’s Law, etc.).

o Strengthen post-court Step-Down pathways linking survivors to recovery and
support services.

o Embed survivor-informed justice approaches within criminal justice agencies.

e Encourage specialist review and scrutiny into how the police investigate
domestic abuse offences and communicate with victim survivors.

5. Housing & Whole Housing Approach

Survivors face housing insecurity, inconsistent support, and limited refuge spaces. A
consistent, trauma-informed housing response is needed to ensure safety and
compliance with the Domestic Abuse Act 2021.

Actions:

e Deliver and embed the Whole Housing Approach model across all housing
providers.

o Expand access to refuge and move-on accommodation and standardise
security measures (locks, alarms, CCTV).

« Strengthen joint working between housing and IDVA services, ensuring
survivors can remain safely in their homes when appropriate.

« Ensure all local housing and homelessness policies are compliant with the
Domestic Abuse Act 2021 and reflected in the Council’s Housing Strategy.

6. Support for Children, Families & Intergenerational Prevention

Children affected by domestic abuse are often overlooked and under-supported.
Families need holistic, trauma-informed interventions to break intergenerational
cycles of abuse and strengthen safe parenting.

Actions:

« Integrate domestic abuse pathways into Family Hubs, ensuring early help and
consistent referral routes.

e Introduce and resource a specialist Child-to-Parent Abuse response,
potentially located within Children’s Social Care and linked to drug and
alcohol teams.

64



Page 84

Monitor outcomes for children and families to inform prevention and early help
strategies.

Improve access to therapies for children and young people who have
experienced domestic abuse

7. Evidence, Data & Continuous Improvement

Consistent data collection, survivor voice, and shared learning are essential to
sustain improvements. Better evidence will strengthen commissioning, governance,
and accountability across all workstreams.

Actions:

Strengthen inter-agency data-sharing protocols and establish a consistent
outcomes framework.

Improve qualitative data collection, including inclusive focus groups and
targeted surveys for survivors and perpetrators, and develop an improved
evaluation form for both survivors and perpetrators.

Ensure surveys and consultations are accessible in multiple languages and
inclusive of diverse communities.

Continue to quality-assure the MARAC process, ensuring consistent
attendance, risk management, and follow-up.

Involve survivor representatives in the Domestic Abuse Partnership Board and
key workstreams to embed lived experience in decision-making.

Use findings from needs assessments and MARAC reviews to shape
commissioning and workforce development.

Publish annual progress and learning reports to demonstrate transparency
and accountability.

Next Steps

Following the Domestic Abuse Partnership Board Meeting on 13" October

2025:

Update recommendations following receipt/ approval from Domestic Abuse
Partnership Board

Present final draft to Domestic Abuse Partnership Board 151" December 2025
for approval.

65



HALTON
DOMESTIC ABUSE
PARTNERSHIP STRATEGY 20252026

........
--------
--------------

HALTON N
DOMESTIC ABUSE .
PARTNERSHIP BOARD ®



Page 26

oy
oy
9¢
GE
€€
1€
LT
1714
61

< N O

EERIIEIETEN|
}IoMawelq aApe|si8a ¢ xipuaddy

asnqy d1sawo( Jo sadA] :g xipuaddy

1T Xipuaddy

pJeog diysiaupied asnqy d1sawoq uoyeH ay| i/ uoydas
9OUBUIAOE) 19 UOI3G

yoeouddy SuisnoH s|oypA V :G Uoldag

yoeouddy 2in3dld SJOYM V iy Uo1dag

UOISIA UoleH £Z0C¢-%7C0C YL :€ uondas

asnqy d1sawoq o3 Surlejas sasua|iey) suojeH
"28uajjeyd pue 3|eds 3y} ‘@snqy d1sawo( g Uopdas
asnqy d13sawWo(] sl FBYAA T UoL3IG

JO|[12Un0) |BJ0T W4 330NYD

plomaiod

SINAINOD



Page 80

S92IAISS YNPY
4032341Q 9ALINSXT
Jauuog-a2e|[epp g

Ajajes Ajlunwwo)
JaqWISIN pJeog SALIN23X]
sauor pAo[ eyrey 111D

*UO}[EH Ul 90USJIP [eaJ B 33eW pue asnde d13sawop Suly{de} anuuod 03 sh djay [|IM YoM
[E}IA SIY3} - ASa3eu3s SIU} 03 Pa3NqLIIUOD SABY OYM S|eNpIAIpUL pue siaulled ay3 |[e 0} NOA yuey |

‘uojepowwiodde pajioddns Ul Jo AJUNWWIOD 3Y3 UIYPM

wJey woJj pajoajold aie saljiwey JIay} pue SWLIDIA 21NSUS 0} Ued oM SUIYIAIaAS Op JSNW AN
'Sllwie) pue S[ENPIAIPUL Y3M Y40M Jioddns pue A3ajes aA13094)9 N0 Alled pue ‘@diape apiroad
‘asnqe d3saWop 3sIuUS0al 0} S|[IXS PUB S|00} B} SABY J4€)S SUI[IUOIS Jey} 2INSUD [[IM SAA

‘wJey juanaid 03 paddinba aie
pue pajioddns [934 ‘djay 1sije1oads 03 ssa22e aAeY Asy) ‘Mou| ASU) SUOSWOS JNOYe PaUIadU0D
2Je ASyj usym ey os s||ixs yum ajdoad spiaoid pue sadiAlas poddns ajowoud |jim AN

‘sdiysuojejas ainyny Jajes ‘Jaiddey Joj axew 03 ‘SWLDIA 0} pasned
WJeY 9oNpaJ Ued M 0S 3SNde OYM 350U} JO Spaau ayj 03 puodsal os|e [|im ASajelys ay |

*28ueyd 33ew Ued oYM 350U} Aq pJeay 3¢ pue ‘SadI0A UMO JIaU} Ul ‘SSA|2SWAY}
Joy >jeads 0} 2ouaLIadxa PaAl] Ypm asoyy Joy sapiunyioddo ayy Suiseasour dasy ||Im AN

'Spaau |ed0| 0} dAIsUOdSal aJe SIDIAIS JNO 2INSUS 0} ‘A}UNWIWIOD [ED0]
3y} Y3im Suoje ‘asnde d13sawop Aq pajoajje saljile) pue UaIp|iyd ‘SIOAIAINS JO SIDIOA dljuayIne
3y) Sulleay UO sasnNJ04 pue ‘payuapl dAeY am Jey3 saljiold A [1e3ap ||Im ASa3euss siy |

‘asnqe d13sawop Ag pajdaye saljiwey pue siojesyadiad
‘ualp|iyo ‘swdiA Suioddns 03 yoeoudde A3a100s pue "Ajunwiwiod ‘Ajjwey ‘uosiad sjoym
3y} - asuodsau 24n321d 3joym, e 93e1SUOWSP 03 J3Yy3280] 01 JJoMm |[Im saiduale diysiaulied

‘uoljen|eAs 3sngoJd pue dUIPIAS ‘ao13oeld

159q UO paseq aJe Sa2IAIRS pue sueld aJe jeyy ainsua 03 Jay3o Yoea a8uaj|eyd pue uoljeloqe||od
Ul 3JOM 03 SNULIUOD [|IM 3M OS pue ashde d13saWop pua ued AduaSe auo ou jey) asiugodal am
- sapuade Jay3o ym diysiaupied ul Supjiom Jo soyia Suouls paysijgelsa-3uo| e sey uojjeH

‘wiiey pue Jeaj Suppnpal pue ‘syuspisal [je Suiyauaq
A32100s J34eS B pUE ‘SaIUNWILIOD PUE SSWOY Jajes 9}eald 0} Wie S,uo}eH S|} pue Saliunwwiod
Jalyyjeay pue Jajes “4a8uo.s ‘Sulpfing o3 [e}A S| asnge d3sawop Sulyoe) Jey} aA312q AN

*UOISIA SIU} SA3IYDE M Jey)
Sunnsua uo pesj ||Im diysaulieq asngy d13SaWO( UoleH Y} pue ‘4 3pjde} 0} Jay3a803 Siom
pue Ayijiqisuodsal axe) ‘asnge d1sawop 3s1uS0d31 0} 3|qe 3¢ 0] SUOAIDAS 104 S| UOISIA INO

*SIY3 Ul 93nj0Sal ulewsa.
SM pue SWLIoy S} |[e Ul 3shdje d1sawop Sulpoe} uo sndoj Suoujs e pey dAeY aM ‘sieah Auew 1o
‘Aydes3033 4o yjjeam ‘uoiifal

‘aoeJ ‘a8 Jo ssa|pJesal ‘A}2100s |[B SS0UE SINJD0 }1 PUE ‘UOLBIUSLIO [BNX3S 10 Japuas J1ay) Jo

ssa|pJeSal ‘QUOAUE 109)Je UED 3 "SaIUNWIWOD pue S3ljiwey ‘S|enplAipul uo Joedwl Supejseasp
e 9ABY UBD YoIYm anss| SuiSua|eyd xa|dwod e S| asnge d13sawop jeyy} asiuSodal am uoyjeH uj

d40m3404

(S3210H
L1 A3IN AFHL IAF1T38 1.NOO OHM 31d03d NIAT INOANY d13H
NV 3S4N03 JHL INIHL1‘GHYMHO0A INIAOI ONY SINVLSIN Lnogy

NdV3a1 NV SINITI34 1N0EY X 1v1 ONY dNn N340 3N G3d13H 3SHN0I
JHL NN 13341 3417 AIN NI G8YM404 IA0N N dT13H ANV NILSIT 0L
O3LNVM OHM INOIWNOS QVH FINIT INIT334 SYM ANY ISV Ly 11341
SONIEIIN OML 1SHI4 IHL 4314V Lnd "3UNLNA AW LNOGY QINHIINOD
ANV 03SN4N0J SYM | d3XH0M L40ddNS AN 1IN 1SHIA | NIHM,




‘7 Xipuaddy

0} 4244 ‘9snge d13sawop Jo sajdwexs 104 *anbiun 4 [|IM uolen}is yoea pue asnge d13sawop

Jo sajdwiexa Jo s30| aJe 243y "uosiad Jayjoue dUIN|JUI JeY]) SUOLID. JO SJeaUY3 JO suoLjde
|ea180joydAsd 10 21WoU023 ‘[euoIOWS ‘enxas ‘|ealsAyd aq ued asnqy ‘sse[d Jo Yile) ‘Uoljejusiio
|enxas ‘4apuag ‘@oeJ ‘a8e Jo ssa|pJeSal ‘92Us|oIA J1JSAWIOP JO WILIIIA B 3 UeD dUoAuy

'saALIe|aJ ale Aayy Jo Ajljiqisuodsal [epualed aAey yoea Asyy woym

0} US.p|IYd 10 P[IYd B 3ABY OYM 3SOU3 JO J3Yjoue sUo Yim diysuoljeja. [euostad ajewijul ue ul
uaaq aAeY oym asoyy ‘diysiaulded [IAID e 0jul J2jus 03 paaide aAey Jo paliiew aq o} padeSua
s3|dnood ‘suaulded [IAID ‘paLLIBW JSUIS 218 OYM S|ENPIAIpUI SUBSW Pa3oauuod Ajjeuosiad, aq of

Page 8&

a1sawoqg

dhogkiog asnge [enxas

3121902

108ujjonuo) 10 |2aisAyd

inojAyeaq
Bujuaseaiyy
10 JU3JOIA

:8UIMO||0} Y3 JO Aue JO SISISUOD 31 JI SAISNCE, Se pap.Jedal 3 03 S

Jnoineyag "pajdauuod Ajjeuosiad aq 03 aAey suosiad ay] uosiad Jayjoue spiemoy uosiad suo
Aq aAISNge s Yd1ym JnoiAeyaq, se pauyap si siy] (T xipuaddy a3s - |ie3ap ul uoiuyaq 1202
19V asnqy d13sawoQ ay]) ,asnqy dl3sawo(, Jo uoniuyag AJoiniels e si a1ay) awl 3siy ay3 1o
“Jasnqe J1ay3 ansand pue ua.p|iyd Iy} pue way}

Joddns pue 3039304d 03 Yjoq ued Aayj SuiylAIans op ||Im salpuade Jayio pue wajsAs aonsnl

2y} Jey3 98pajmous| 2y} Ul a4es ‘@dualiadxa J1ay} odal pue pIemio) SW0D 0} dUPYUOD
3y} 9By SWLDIA 1By} 21nsua 0} djay ||im ueld uoLoe Japim pue 12y asngy dlsawo( ay |

SNG4V J1LSIN0A SI LVHM -1 NOILIIS

(VAQD

. 03033N NIHM SINIHL 40 1S314V0 IHL NIAT
404 343HL N339 SYH VAQI AW ISV A 40 AN 3HL OL 4T3SAN

03443434 | JLNNIN IHL WOHA "17Y 40 dT13H 1539919 JHL SYM SIHL
1404dNS 14003 139 TN 1 MONM L.NIQ | LHIITd AN 000LSHIANN
A14v3713:0HM INO ONV WAQGI N QYH EJING-JHOWANY INOTY 1334
10N QI0 1 'W3LSAS 140ddNS AN 01 TYHIILNISYM AIINGS VAQI FHL,




Page 89

¥Z0Z BuipipnBalps 10 423SIUllN ‘dIN UD3ID|A
[2Yapy ,25u0dsal aiplido.iddp ub Junow A32120S JO aJOYM Y] UbI ‘SIOAIAINS PUD SWLIDIA [|D JO
spaau o112ads ay3 BuisiuBoda. pub awiLid siy3 Jo ainjbu palapual ayy Suipubisiapun Aq AlUuQ, e

(€202-020T SePIRINS WIIA Pa323dsng pue sapldlwoH
213S2WO(]) SIPIDINS WLIDIA PUE SPIdIWOY SN DJSAWOP 0} PSUl| S| [0J3UOD SAIDIS0D) e

(34e3S UBAT) A13120S JSPIM Ul USWOM J9AO0 dARY 0)
anuUOd UsW Jamod Ja3ea.s au3 193|424 Jey} swiou Japuas pue Ajjenbaul [enxas ySnodyy
AJ284e| s91849d0 [043U0D SAIDIS0D) “USWIOM JsuleSe Uswl AQ PaJ3ILIWIOD S| [0JJUOD DAIDI0D) e

(34e35 ueA3) siaupied 4jay3 asnqe 03 paynsnl AjaS.e| 234 pue s3jod
Japuasg Jnoge seapl paxy. aAeY (INOIABYSE 2AI24207) pue Sulj|0J3uoD) DD JO siojesjadiad e

(9 "eded :766T MVAID) 'SHIS pue uswom o} Ajjeuoiiodoudsip suaddey asnge a3sawioq e

(T20T ‘|2 32 PIV S,USWOAA) "USW puUB USWOM US3M}S(
Ajljenbaul [e3a100s sy Ul pajoos A|daap SI YdIym awLID paisapuas e s| asnge d1sawoq e

awild paJsapuas e si asnge spsawoqg

(SaAI734eS - jasnge d13sawop Aq pajdaye Sl OYpp) e

(1997) sueJy Jo |enxasiq ‘AeS ‘uelqss| a4e %9 T e

pajqesip aie %07

S9LHUNWILWIOD PasILIoulU Aj|eId.l 1O UBISY Yoe|g Wo.) ale % /T e
dlew ale %/ e

S]eway a4 SWIDIA ISAY} JO %E4  ©

“Jeahk AJana sajep) pue puejSug ssodoe sSueaW (Jedejn|) 92UISHUOD) JUSWISSISSY XSy
AouaBy-n|Al Je PassnIsIp aJe UaJp|iy2 000'96 PUB SWLIDIA 3npe 3su-ySiy 000°0L JoAO @

"3SN(e J3SAWOP JO }YNsal e se painful A|snoLias
10 paJapinw Sulaq JO XsiJ Jusulwwl Je aJe YN ay3 ul sjdoad 0OO‘G/ UeY) 210w JedAh yoe] e

£9snqy d1sawo(] JO SWILIA Y} d4e oypp

‘BulwaymIano si asnge d1sawop 03 asuodsal ay3 Suiroidwl 10 9OUIPIAD
ay] ‘Aydes80a8 o yjeam ‘uoiSijal ‘aoed a8k Jo ssa|pJeSal ‘A12100S JO |[e SS0Ude SINd20
pue ‘uoLjejualio [enxas Jo Japuas Jiayy Jo ssa|pleSal ‘ApogAue 1oaye ued asnge Jpsawo

JIX3juU0) jeuoljeN

"JONITIVHD ONY 3173S JHL 3SndY JILSINOA -¢ NOILIIS

"14V'S 413S43H 9NId331 LNOGY

TV INIMONX SV 01./01 413S43H 031vH dA NOISS3S JHL 40 AN JHL
1V "¥33M LXIN NIVOY JN INIF3S 01 advMH0d4 NIX00T SyM ONY
aYH 3HS LVHL GIVS dA "NOISS3S HL GIACINI OVH 3HS 41 dA GDASY |




1

(T20T 12V 2@snqy dlsawo(]) uoreoyyels jenxas Suiuieyqo jo sasodind
2y} J0J WEY SNOLISS 33 JO UOLIDIJUl S} OF PJUSSUOD WILIA 3} Jey} 90Ua4ap e Jou S1 }

apIwoy pa3e|dwod e Suiwodaq
40 (SETT-EGY 1D %56 ‘81'L MO) SPPO P|0J-USAIS JIAO UM PajeIdosse sem SN Jold

"leyza] 2q ued pue syoedwi Yjeay Wia}-Suo| pue a}eipawiwl Yjoq sey 3|

(TZ0Z) uonuanaid uoyensuesis Joj a3njysu| Sululel] “uole|nSues)s [ejej-uou
JO uopes|WIUIW B Ul Pa}|NsaJ Sey Wa)sAs a3 sso4de Sujules) Jo 3oe| pue saunful Jo 3oe| ay |

"USW AQ USWOM JsujeSe papiuwod SwiLd pa4apuas e s G{N 'sased
Auew uj salnful 3|qISIA 9AEY JOU [[IM UoLje[NSUE}S JeU) UMOYS 2ABY SIPNJS SNOJSWINN

Page 96

uopeledas/3uipua diysuolejas |enjoe Jo Jo Jeaj/jealy] ‘g
asnsiw 3nuq ¢

asnh |oyooly ‘g

JnolAeyag 9AI121200) pue Suljjosuo) Jo AlosiH g

yaeay It [BIUBN T

|013U03 3A121203 Jo Med se (S{N) uolenSuel)s [ejej-uoN

(193foid
apIoIWo d1sawioq [PUORDN (£Z0Z Y2IPIN) /19201d-apIoIuioy-o13sauiop/1oMm-ddxa/snBio ddxrmmm)

'se payuap! a4am Jaadsns
3Y} 0] UOLJE|aJ Ul $10328) 3SI4 PIPI0IaI AjUOWWOD 350W AL do) 3Y} 3195e3ep JeA-331y) 3U) SSOUY

(€20 Y24BN 3STE - 0Z0Z 1AV 3ST)(HdI) dPIILIOH Jouped jewny] §yz
Sa|IgDIaU[NA puD $1039DJ Ysiy
SOpIdIWOY 21)SaWOP JO siojesjadiad

2202-120¢ 12se3ep sysisu| s,uaip|iyD) SIAIT24eS 'sidyjo
Jo asnqe ay} SuissaulIm Ag pasned wiiey ay3 03 uoljippe ul ‘asnge ayj jo Jojesjadiad
2y} Aq pauiey Aj3oaJip aJe spjoyasnoy asnge d13sawop ul SUIAI| UIP|IYd JO %8/

2202-120C 195e3eQ eAP| SIYBISU] SAIT24eS

*341] 413U} JO 3SOW J0J 3Snqe Y3m SUulA]| aJe

0l

uaJp|iyo asay} Suiuesw ‘sieak 9°Z Joj uo Sulo8 uaaq sey asnge ysuU-ysiy ‘@8elane uQ ‘pjo
sleak ¢ Japun ale spjoyasnoy asnge d13sawop YsU-YSIy Ul ualp|iyd Jo (%/Z) Jopenb e JaAQ e

e1ep sjySisu| SaAI24ES
"yoea g 28eJaA. UO ‘URIP|IYd SABY SWLIIA YSLI WNIPAW JO %G9 pUe SWLDIA 3SU-YSIY JO %Z9 e

(£202) 195€3Ep [eUOL}EU JBJElN SAIT24€S *asnde
oL3SaWOp Xsl-YS1Y I 43U} 212YM Spjoyasnoy Ul aAI] YN 34} Ul U1p[IYyd2 000‘SOT 4oAO o

381 UMO 41943 U] SWLIDIA 2B 3SNdE D13SaWOop 2duUalIadxXa oym ua1p|iyd 1eyy pasiugodal
AJleuy sem 31 TZ0OZ 1PV 9SNQy d13sawo dY3 U] Ajie) 9JoYyMm a3 S}o244e asnge d1sawoq e

asnqe J13sawop pue uaJpjiyd

(AIDWIWINS-2A1IND2X3##SMBIARIDPIIWOY-D1ISaUOP-J0-SISA|DUD- WO -SBUIpULl-A3Y
/SM3IARI-3P]21UIOY-213SaUOP-JO-SISAIDUD-LIOIJ-SBUIPUY-A3Y /SUOLIDIIGNA/IUBULIBAOS/YN'AOE MMM //:sd1Y)

09 Japun
pa8e sem WLIDIA 3U3 2JaUM SP|oYasnoy 3y} JO %z G Ul UJP|Iyd Juspuadap aiom auay| e

Slews} %/1
pue sjew alam %4¢g ‘siojediadiad 104 "3 UM 907 PUE S[ewd) 21aM SWLDIA 3U) JO %08 e

uoOWIWOD 3s0oW 3y} Sulaq [0JjU0D DAIDI200 Y}M ‘si03oe) Suneaessse pey syHQ Y3 4O %y9 o

SNSUD apIDIW - Je3A IS4 Y3 Ul %48 pue uoresedss
4O 4aUOUI 3514 SU3 UIYHIM PaI|1Y 249M 8TOT O} 6007 WO PI|1Y USUIOM SU} JO %8E @

£202-0Z0C S3PIAINS WIIIA pajoadsng
pue sapldiwoH spsaswo Amkuwamjm 3lewl pue WNDIA 3jewa) e PaAJOAUl S3sed Hd| 4O %18 °

£20C Y2JeIN 03 0Z0T |Mdy U9aMI2q pap.lodal syjeap pajejal asnge d1sawop gyg
N 3pIwoy Jaupied 3jewjul Jo 3dudjeAald

(£ "dd "SNO :duljuo paysliqnd '¢Z0T Y24ein

SuIpua JeaA :sajepn pue puelSu3 ‘solsiIa}dBIEYD WLDIA 3snge d1sawo( (ZZ0Z) (SNO)
sa13s13e)G JeuojeN 404 0O S3JepA pue puejSug uj sad1oy do1jod 9z wody parjddns eleq) e

"9 3USM %G’9 "SWIIDIA
Sewa) 2I9M SDUYO [enxas Paje|al-asnge d1ISAWOP JO %G°E6 ‘TZ0T Y2JelN Sulpua Jesy e

3sNqe 213SIWOP JO IXSJU0D
3Y3 Ul 20e|d 2)e)} SSOUDL0 [BNXIS JO %4 T PUE SISED JUSWSSEIeY pue SU{[EIS JO %9E e

usw a4am suopndassold
pajejaJ-asnge d13SaWOop Ul (%6) SIUEPULRP Jo Ajliofew ay} ‘TZ0Z YdJelA Sulpua Jeap e

(12-0202) S3/em pue puejgu3
ur 221j0d Aq PapI0231 SAUILD 3SNE DIISIWIOP JO %E/ Ul UBLIOM B SEM JOAIAINS/WIDIA DY) o

£20Z Yo-ej Suipua Jeah ‘sajepp pue puej3ug Jof ASAING awlD) ZzZ0g shoinaid
3Y3 Ul 9SNQe 213SaWOop PADUSLIaAXd SABY O3 JOAO pUe 9T page s}npe uoljjiw T°Z Pajewysy e

N 3Y} Ul asnge 31}saWop JO 3dU3jeAdld



gl

alew g 03 P3jeWIsd I (%ZE) 0009 SWTDIA 3NPe PSS [e303 YO o
a[ewa} 3q 0} PRIEWNSS S8 (%89) 00G'ET SWLIA HNPE PIEWLS (230} U3 4O o

asnge
Ajiwey pue Jauyled Yyjoq pasualiadxe aAeY [|IM SWDIA JNPe 33U} JO %GT Pajewnsa uy e

9T 40 28 3y} 20Uls S2AI| 412Y3 U] Julod SWOS e asnge
J13SaWop padualIadxa aAeY OYM UO}eH Ul SWLDIA JNPe 000‘0Z /€ I3y} 2}ewl}sd oA\

9T Jo aSe ay) 3duIs - SWILDIA JNPE JO 3dU3JeAald

" uopesjuedio

J0 |euoissajoid poddns Jsyjo pjoy, pey Asyi Jeyy AAJSD Y3 Ul pajiodal Asy) se SWidIA ysi
y81y-uou 3|qIsIA 10} (M\ISD) S9|eM pue puejSug 4o} ASAING SWIID) 943 WO BIep pue SWLDIA
S1-YSIY 3]qISIA MOYS 0] Bjep JBJE|A| JO UOLJeUIqUIOD B S9SN UOLIe|N|ed SIY] "3|gISIA 19M Jeak
1sed 2y} Ul SWDIA 3jew JO (%1rg) 1934enb e pue sWDIA 3jewdy JO (%1€) PAIY} e Jey) 93ewl)sd
9\ 1eaA 3sed ayj ul eade [ed0] 33 Ul SWIIDIA JNPE S|ISIA JO JaqUINU Pajew}sa ay3 SMoys siy |

Jeak jsed ul SWDIA BqISIA-UON = Jeak jsed ul SWIDIA J[QISIA =

Page 91

SWILIIIA JqISIA — 1234 Jsed 3y} Ul - SWILDIA JjNpe JO 3dUdeAald

201|0d 2y} AQ apew 2JoM S|eliajal aU} JO % /8 e

“poddns WAQ| 03 pa1ed0||e Udad 3ABY %TE YdIYm 01 pue ysid ysiy
Se Passe|d Uaaq aABY %ZE UYDIYM 0} Wea)} asnqy d3saWo(] dY3 03Ul 9pew S[eLId4al 409T o

JeaA 3y} JaA0 Pasopd pue pauado sased g/ ZT oM Y] e

20T Y21BIN TE 03 £20T [y T0 4894 [e1oueuy 3se| 33 4oy e syes Sumoljoj ay L e

syjuow
2T 358 @Y1 Ul DY VA 1€ pleay uaaq aAey Way) JO 0/ ‘S9sed aAlde TQT JUSNI 3Y1 JO o

S9SED 9ALJOE TQT dARY AJJURLIND S\YAC] G JO Wed}ay] e

WIDIA SY3 Yam S4om 03 YAQ] Ue 01 passed uaaq aney (%Z€) £€G PUe isiy YSIH se
passe[d uaaq aAeY (%/€) 0T9 U2IYM 03 S|eliajay asnqy d13sawo 69T PIAISII sey Wea] e

(¥Z0Z 2@ - uer) syjuow Z{ 3sed ayy uy saysess A3y
ejeq As) VAQI UoyeH

al

"sappuade Jauyed
pue 221A49s 221j0d $S0.40E IN0 P3| BUISG MOU 315|003 ¥SI UOWIWOD 343 SI (£Z20Z-6002
HSVYA) [2POIA 3ISIY 20US[OIA paseq JNOUOH pue juawsseleH pue Supjels ‘9snqy oysawoq e

"s|euolssajoud Ag Passiw 3¢ 0} SNULUOD SINOIABYS( SUI[e}S PUE [0J3UOD SAIDIS0D)
*salinbuj 21jgnd pue g 3PPy ‘DDd| :siapinwi ajyoid ysiH e

‘siauyied-xa
10 sJaujted Jo spuey ayj je sajep\ pue pue|3ug Ul }99M AJSAS palapinuu S1e USWOM OM| e

"apIWoy AQ Wolj pajeledas aq jouued AQ/Yd e
¢SIU} JO 20UaNb3asUOY) "2)ed UOPDIIAUOD MO

‘8upj|eys ousadxa
Uusw QT Ul T puUe USWOM G Ul T ‘AQ/VQ 2US1IadXs Usw 9 Ul T pue USWOM {4, Ul T e

‘awid Jo adAy Jsyjo Aue ueyy swindiA jJeadal swodaq 03 ARy
2Jow aJe sWlIA pue jnesse Jo sadAj Jayio ueyy Aunful ul 3nsal o3 AjyI| 240w st AQ/VA e

*'SpU0d3s Og AJaAD
JOBJUOD BUQ Y Ul SWILID JUS|OIA PapI0dal || JO ¥ JO) SJUNODIJE WD SWNOA AQ/VA  ®

ejep Aay

o|doad

‘| Jod $30UYj0 P
000'L 42d $30UB}0 pIpIOI3) 21eYy Hpai) |esianiun

SoL

Wy

sealy panlidaq ul

£51'9E3 _
UOl[eH Ul Bupiom | 8LE'EEF 1UapIsal (&
uoj|eH e jo sbulusea Aueadk abelane ayy - .
mmmtnhwucw Aouryoodxg o)1 ojeway

9AI}0E 000'Y J2A0 PRY UOYEH ‘ZZOZ Ul g (+61 pabe)

sinpe jo

suonednaoo ‘_l
o -
|euoissajoid, uiyim pakojdiia e % L mo

ale seahojdwe jo uoniodoid 1sabie| ay] 3

SHYM UON % 28N %LS

‘ S

a|doad /85'62Z1L "

bbb

abed e uQ uoyeHy Ltk
T

vEL

(ooo'oL
12d) UBIp|IYD 1BYR
uoluodoid 1S9mMo| ayl sey uoljleH pay00T 10 Iaquiny

uolbay A11D ay) ul saoqe
pUE ¢ [8Aa7] 01 paljiienb synpe jo UCTITITI



Sl

(4Y3A §3d G013 LSIM HLHON IHL NYHL 43HIIH HONW
(N "(HY3A H3d 18) ATTYNOILYN SY (HYIA 43d LLL] HOIH SY 39IML
34V (¢-G1) 3SNSIW FONVLSENS OL INA SNOISSIWAY TYLIdSOH

(6%) LSIM HLYON JHL NYHL 43H9IH ONY 0000} Y3d
£ 40 39vH3AY TYNOLLYN IHL JDIML ATHYIN SIHIHM "000°0L 43d
6L SI SNY'1d NOILLY3L0Hd 011HJ 01 L33rANS NI4a1IHI 40 34vd JHL

811 30 39VHIAY TYNOLLYN JHL IVHL 43IHIIH HONW
SIHIIHM 281 SI (72-G1) 000°0L ¥3d S3IUNINI 3Lv43gIT30
NV TYNOILNALNINN'AS G3SAYI SNOISSINAY TYLIdSOH 40 1LvH

(000K 43d €1) I9VHIAY HSITINT FHL SY HIIH SV FDIML ATHYIN
0001 H3d 22 S| 31vY NOILd3IN0J 81 3NN FHL

000°001 43d 09 SI LSIM HLHON 3HL"000°00} 43d 2¥ 40
9¥43AYV TYNOLLYN JH1 318000 A14Y3N ST HIIHM "000°00) H3d 2L S|
(FINTTOIA TVAXIS ONIGATIND JINITOIA 404 SNOISSINAY TVLIdSOH

3SN8V IILSIN0A 0L INILYTIE SIINITIVHI S.NOLTVH

14!

*8ulpunoJ 0] anp [e10] 3y} 0} dN ppe JoU ABW S3[EW PUe S3[eWS) JO WNS S|

*+G/ pade asoy} 10) 0ZOZ U24e|A Ul BuIpus Jeak ay) oy ejep ajel aduajeAald A\JSD OU S| 3IaY3 3sNedaq i iy |

*t7/-09 pasSe asoy) 4o} Ajuo JeaA jsed ay) Ul asnge 1o) A\\ISD B3 woly 33ed Axoud e uo paseq ale sajed 9ouajerald WNDIA (+G/) J19P|O 1eaAeD)

VA pue sjdoad
3unoj uo s3ys3ippods Jno pue yq pue Suualed uo sjy3ijpods 1no 99s :924N0Sa [NJIS( -

V@ pue ajdoad +]g97 uo s3y3130ds Jno 995 :924N0S3 [NJASN -

»1B2A 3sed a3 Ul asnge 213SaWOp JO SWIPIA +997T 000‘T 24oM 342y} 3By} 3}eW}Sd AN

V@ pue sjdoad pajqesi uo sy3ipods Ino 935 :924N0sal [NJ3SN
JeaA jsed ayj ul 9snge d13SaWOoP JO SWLDIA pajgesid 000‘T 249M 343Y] 1ey) 91ew)sd 9N

va
pue o8ellIeWl Pad104 puUE 32US|O]A Pase]-,INOUOH, UO s3ySij30dS InNo 935 :924n0saJ [NJas

<1eaA 3sed ay3 Ul asnge apsawop pasualiadxa
SABY OYM SWILDIA pasijiouiul Ajjeldes pue uelisyy Yoe|g 00T 24oM 2Jay3 Jey3 93ewl}sa AN

VA pue 3|doad Jap|O U0 S3ySI3ods Jno 235 :224N0SaJ [NJasM

2+09 Pa8e SWIPIA J2P|O 00T 249M 242Y) 1oy} 9Jewsd A

V@ pue 3jdoad 3unoj uo s3y3i3ods Jno 935 :924n0sal [NJasN

29T paSe swydiA SUNoA 0O0‘T 249M 243Y) 1ey) 21w s AN

:sdnoJs pasijeuiSiew JeaA jse| ay} uj aduajenald

£sNge o13sawop Jo siojesjadiad |elias ag 0} pajewysa ale %0g 2S0U3 JO

eale |ed0| ay3 ul JeaAd jsed ayj ul sdiysuopjejal Jsujsed
Sjewul J13Y3 Ul sanolAeyaq aAIsnge Suisn ajdoad 0QO'E 24oMm 243y} Jey3 3eW}SS AN

,1eak jsed
3y} ul asnge Jauped Yyym pjoyasnoy e ui SUIAI| UaIp|iyd Q00‘S 949M 4943 Jey} 33ew}sa AN

*;1eaA 3sed ay3 ul asnqe Jaujied
paousLIadxa aABY OYM BaJe [e20] SU3 Ul SWIDIA JNPe Q00 S49M 24343 Jey} 33ew}sa AN

(AdI) @snqe Jouyled - Jeak )sed ayj ul - adu3jeAdld

Sew aq 03 Pajewlysa ale (%ZE) 00S‘T “4eaA 3sed ay3 Ul SWIIDIA Jnpe pajew3sa [e3o} 3y} 4O

oleway

9(] 0} pajew}sa e (%89) 00G‘E “4eaA 1sed sy Ul SWLDIA JNpe pajewss |e30) 943 4O
asnge Ajiwey

pue Jaujled yjoq pasusliadxs aARY [|IM SWIIDIA JNPe 9S0Y) JO %8 punoJe ey} 91ewl)sd 9N

JeaA 3se| ay3 uj Juod awos e asnge
213S2WOP PIdURIAAXS dABY OYM UOIEH Ul SWHIDIA 3 NPE 0SS 218 213y} 91WlISa SAA

deak 3sed ay) Ul - SWILDIA JNpe Jo 3dU3jeAdld



i}

*aseq a8pajmous| pue Suipuelsiapun Japeolq e Suidojaas( ‘sad10yd

J13y3 0} puodsal ued jey} sadIAIaS adeys pue spasu 41y} 3]qe|ieA. aJe $304n0sal SULNSUD
pue ‘sysi J13y3 21eS11W 0] [elIu3sS3 S| S2I0A 413y} Sulieay ‘sjualpd yoeas o pJey Supioddns
INoge uojjeH Ul ayeuoissed aJe am ‘SPasU [eUOLHIPPE UM JUSsaid OUM 3SOLj} JO SIDI0A 3U}
J3y3eS 03 NULYUOD [|IM dM pue anss| X3|dW oD e S| 3sNge d1SAWOP Jey} 95Pa|Moudde A\

*0} PaUD)S| 2Je WiIBY OYM SOU} PUB UJP[IYD ‘SWLIDIA Y30d ey} 2nsus o}

JejnopJed uj 403995 AJUNWWIOD pue AJEIUN|OA Y3 UY3IM 3JOM pue ‘suejd SujuoISSIWWod 24NNy
Jino adeys djay 0} sjaued Jasn ad1AJSS UM YIOM |[IM AN “pleog diysiaulied asngy dlsawoq
uo}|eH JNO 3 3SNCe D1ISAUIOP JO SWIIIA SB UJP[IYD PUe 3Npe y3od Jo uoljejuasaldal

aAeY ||Im pue syuswagueste Sulsixa dAodw] [[IM SM SIEIA 334Y3 XU 33 A0 ‘AJaAISp
9DIAJS |BD0] NO U SIDIOA SI3SN 32IAISS dljuayjne SuiAey Jo aoueliodw] 3y} asIUS03S AN

Page 98

*SDIAISS |€20] JO
Suljjapow 3y} 03 23NLIIU0D A[32aJIp pue ASa3es3s siy} adeys 0} pasn uaaq aAeY SUOLE}NSUOD
pue 32eqpa3) SWIDIA JO M3IARL e Sulpn[oUl ‘ASAINS TZOZ SSNCE d1SaWOop WoJ) Bulayns as|d
auoawos djay 0} PaL} dABY OYM 9SO} PUE SWIIDIA 3SNQe dSaWOp Uo}jeH U3 0} sasuodsay

"A}lUNWWOD [BD0] JNO JO SPI3U dY} 123W
pue ‘9AIsuodsal aJe Jey) SIIAISS [9POW SM 2INSUS 0F AJUNWILWOD JSPIM 33 Y}M JNSUod os[e
9M ‘sa01AJas pue sueld Jno SuldojaAap Ul SJasn 2IAI3S YHM SuLje}nsuod AJuo Jou am uo}jeH uj

SIDI0/ S35 321A19G 0] Sulpuodsay pue SuliesH

‘pasned wiey 03 1032ey Sulinqlije QuUediusis e usaq sey asnge d[3sawop
2JaM JuaWssasse uolaa3o4d plIYd Je payuap! 2IaM S3lgeq Uloqun € pue ualp|iyd Tz e

(-4suyted

J1ISY3 WoJ) w.ey Jo XSl 1€ s| [enplAIpUl Ue Jey) sa1edipul sa1ouade Jsaulied Jo S9AJ9SIN0 Aq

p[ay 22ua3|||23ul JO UoPew.IoU] 3341puUl S4aym 3d1jod Aq palad3Liy aue sysanbas mouy 0

1431y,) WaY2S Mouy| 03 Y31y 3Y3 BIA SINSOISIP Zi7 J2YLINS B pue aWaYdS sy 03 Y31y
3U] BIA SpBW 313M S2INSO|ISIP 92UI[OIA d13sawo 9 - S[edIa)ay (SAAQ) Me] s2lle)D e

‘Ade|ngejsuor) allysayd) Aq paslioyine a1am sadljoN UOLJI930ld DUSJOIA dl3sawoq €7 e

9l

DVAVIN
e passnasIp sased Jo ajed 3saysiy ay3 pey uojleH ‘(+9T) uopendod sjewa) 0OO‘0T 42d
'syeadau se Suieadde sased 9/ T UM ‘DYVIA 243 YySnoayy passadoid uaaq ey sased gg e

"241ysayD Ul 149 03 paJedwod (8g6) dod 00Q'0T 42d 1aquwinu 3saysiy ay3 pey uoljeH
‘AInful uj pa3Insal aAeY ey} UojjeH Ul Pauindd0 dABY SSWLID) Pa3e|dy 2SNy d13SaWo GG o

*241ysayD) Jo seale Jayjo ul GT'9¢ 03 pasedwod g g 4o uorejndod 0OO‘QT 42d sawd
paje|al a13sawop Jo Jaquinu 3saysiy ayj sey uojjeH ‘ysnodog uojjeH wody Supeuidiio
‘92110d 241YysayD) 03 pa340dal SaWLID Pajejal JSAWOP GG e 3UaY) XM d8esane ue Ul e

12-0202 eieq uojeH Aoy

"JINOS UOLION pUE SPISISARY ‘B[3SED UO{EH ‘a7 UOY[eH ‘||iH [[IWPUIAA 3Je uojeH ul

SpJem paAlIdap 3SOW G 3y "UO3[eH Ul US3S 9JUSJOIA pue asnge ayj 03 Jojoe) Alojnglijuod e se
$12B JUSWIUOIIAUS 3Y] (4T0Z AINI) uoneAlds a|dinin JO XSpu| Y3 Ul pIgg payued st uojjeH
‘spjoyasnoy

00E‘ES pue (TTOZ shsua)) 008‘GZT Jo uonendod e saAlas [1DUNO) YSnodog uoljeH

‘uoi89y AnD [0odiaAr] ayy Jo Med si pue apisAasisja ul sanoquySiau uegun

S} UM pa3eID0Sse 210w SaNss| gSY//aWlid pue d]louoda ‘|eld0s au} Jo Auew saleys uojjeH
‘Uoj3uULLIBAA PUB 43353y pUB IS9AA 241YSayD) “Ise] adlysayDd) jljun ‘|oodaAl] wody weasisdn
S3|IW OT ‘A9SIa|A| JOATY Y] SSOIOE IS0 Udoea 92k} Jey) UIodUNy pue SSUPIAA e SJUSWS[1as
1598310 0M] S3| "aU1YsayD) Jo seale Jay3o 0} paledwod usym eale uequn Ajadie| e si uojjeH
:3X23U0D |e307]

‘djay Joj Sunjse jou ajdoad ui s3NsaJ Jey) ANSS| UOWWOD S| Sulwe|q-WHDIA

'sasned s} pue asnge d3sawop puno.le suoljdasuodsiw pue sadAj0a.a3s Jo S10| [|s aJe atay |

(8T0Z ‘SNO) "(%5°T) 8uiueow Jo Sui8eu Ajjuejsuod e

(%0°2) 31doad Jay3o yym Supily e
(%7°£) wayy uo upeayd Jo Jieye ue Suiney e

:0} 9suodsau ul Jaulled e dejs Jo 31y 0}

3|qe3dadde sawgawos Jo Aj3sow ‘shemje sem 31 3y3noy3 spuspuodsal SWOs JISASMOH “Jaulled e
deys 4o 31y 03 a|qerdandeun shkemie sem 31 3ySnoyy Asauns ay3 o3 Suipuodsal synpe Jo Ajuiofew
a3 (£T0Z Ya4en Suipua JeaA ayj ul) 1ey) punoy sajep) pue puejdul Joj ASAING awlD ay |



6l

*asNqe 23SaWOP Ag Pa3dajje 350Y3 Aq paouadX3 Wey pue Jeay Suppnpal ‘sjuspisad no Jo
|le SuIyauaq A32100S JajeS B pUe SILIUNWWIOD JoJes ‘SOWOY Jajes 2}eald 0} SWie uojjeH ‘sieak
924y} IXaU 2y3 U] ‘SuiIes d1IsaWOop Ul Ajje1dadsa “eay Ul SA1| PINOYS 2UO O “UOLeN|eAS 3sNAol

pue 20uapIA ‘asi3oeld 353 UO paskq ale S|9poW UOLUAISIUI UOYeH Jey} 2nsus 0} salpuage
98u3||eyd pue UoLeloge||od Ul }40M 0} SNULUOD [|IM M pue 3snde dSsawWop pua ued Aduase
2U0 ou Jey} asjuSodal am ‘soy3a diyssaulied AduaSe pnw Suouls paysijqeisa Suo e sey
Uo3|eH "pa| 4ash 3DIAIIS 3¢ 0} SNULUOD pue 2Je IM Jey} aInsua 0} diysiaupied ay3 03 Aemyied
Je3)d e pausisap 2AeY 42432803 SUPIOM pue U.p|IYd J12Y} ‘SIOAIAINS [E20] JNO O} Paua)si| 2AeY
3/W\ "UOISIA SIU} 9A3IYDE 9M Jey} SuLINSUS Uo pes) [[IM diysiauiled asnqy dlsawoq uoyeH ay |

UL 01 4IHLII0L X4OM ONY

ALITIBISNOAS3Y m_v_ﬁ mm=m< JILSINoa m_w_zmcum_m 01 378Y 39 01 INOAYINT 404,

{UOISIA UOYeH dYL

Ajunwwo) unQ pue uojjeH Sunedaiddy pue SuinjeA "TT Ajdold

2Jn)n4 Jauaalo) e spiemo] SupjIopA "0T Apiold

‘paaN U] 3SO|A| 1y OYAA @soy ] SuidjsH pue Ayjenbauj Suipjpe] 4 Ajolld
‘saljiwe pue ajdoad Suno, ‘uaipjiy) Suydoddng ‘g AjuioLd

‘Awouoa] [ed0 3|qeuleisng ‘Suol)s e Suipjing  */ Ajuold

*9duapuadapuy
Ja3ealn) Sunioddng pue Sulaqapn Sugowold ‘YijeaH Suiroadw] 9 Ajolid

Page 94

:16202-720T Ueld 23edodio) [1ouno) ysnoiog uojjeH

JspooylnoqySiau aAldeIe 30w pue Ja3U0J)s Uajes pue {AJUNwWod ssauisng

Buinlyy e Aq pauielsns ‘Ajijenba pue yjjeam uajeaus {jerquajod J1ay3 |Y|n} 03 ||e 4o} Ajlunjioddo
33 JUSWUOIIAUS UeqgJn ulapow ‘Ajijenb y3iy e iyyjeay poo3 ypm a4i| Jo Ajjenb poo3 e Aofua
‘s[|Xys J19y3 dojanap pue uies| ued ajdoad asaym y3noiog jueiqia pue SUiAlIYy] e 34 [|IM UoljeH

:Jeyy si siauyed ||e Jo UOISIA 33 IO S33s 9Z0Z-T TOZ AS91el)S AjlUnwilIoD) ajqeureisng s,uojeH

'$150 |eldUBUY PUE Y}|eay ‘[BUOLIOWS PaJeID0SSE aY3 Y3IM AS120S Japeolq pue Ajunwiwiod
J3PIM 3U3 OS|e INq UP[IYD pue saljiwes 419y} ‘WLIdIA 3y} uo Joedwl AjUO J0U SaNSS| 3saY3 Jey}
Pa2USPIAS A]SPIM SI 3| *SaSNCE 353U} JO SJUSWS[S SholleA adualladxa Ajpjeuonodouidsip Aew
OUM ‘USW pue S3HUNWWOD JAg Pue ] 97 Y3 JO Staquiawl ‘SIS pue uswom se yoans ‘sdno.s
JuaJaIp Aq A[Jusiayip padusLIadxa a¢ Ued pue SuLIo) Auew Ul Jn220 Ued asnge J13sawiop ey}
351US0231 SAA "SALIUNWWIOD J3ly}[eay pue Jajes ‘4aduouls Sulp|ing o3 [e3IA S| 9SNCe d13sawop
Sulpjoey Jey] 9A31|3¢ M UO}eH Ul ‘UOLHIGUIE JNO Ul 33N|0S3J UlBWJ SM pue sIedA Auew 1oy
SwIoy s} [|e Ul 9shqe d1sawop Sulpjde] uo sndoy Suod)s e pey aAeY ap\ “Ulylim pajeljadiad

SI }1 SSLHUNWIWOD 3Y3 UO pue ‘4l Aq pajdaye asoy} Jo Sulsq||am pue yijeay ayz uodn 3oedw
Suneyljigap e sey jey3 anss| xa|dwod pue UOWWOD e S| dshde J13sawWop Jey) asiugodal uoyeH

NOISIA NOL1YH 9202-G¢0¢ JHL -€ NOILI3S

96 INFHI

,03900M 4IAIN SYM | Lng 'ASY3 SONIHL INVIN L.NTIO
| SANILINOS LVHL MONX'1°03033N T 1H0ddNS JHL TIVAAIFI34 |




e

S|9AS] S SSOJoe asuodsal asnge g uoneyo|dxa Jo SuLo} Jayl0
Kousbennw pajeuipiood InoiAeyaq Jus|oIn

asnge 2oUEe)sqgns /|oYooly
jInpe pajsni] yjlesy [ejusiy

wolshs
8y} ssouoe sawwelbold
Buiuien abueyo jeinynd

aouanpui dnoib 1oad an-
SNJE}S JIWOUOIBOI00S 1
asnge olsswoq

S|opow 8|0J aA+
sdiysuone|a.
Auyesy ‘uoneonp3

abe ‘Aydeiboab
‘Ajllenxas ‘eoel
0} paxul| sanilenbau

diysuoneloy sddo uoneonps 1004
asnge onsawop AukBosin
J0 uoneayuapl Aueg apeJ} bnug

awAojdwaun |,
UO[)EPOWIIODO. 8jeS Aunwwod S|oAB| WO |,

wey fuened ¢v AIHd0S

oym 8soy} Joj ssuodsal swiou [einyn)

pue poddns Jo wneds IE1epos Aenbou @wﬁm ~03033N | 4ININFHM dT3H
$39UPBIO3ULOD AYUNUILID OBUEL 61008 pideyd 139 07N0J | MINM ANV 34YS 11341 °QYH 43N IAVH | INFNIIVTd
ey BUIALIP — S10)0B4 YSIY 1S39NO0T IH1 SYM SIHL 39434 JAVIT 0L INVM LNGIO ATIVIH I,

Page 98

wuey ajebiiw — siojoe4 aA1309)0.d

wid)sAs ayj ssouoe
s10)oe} daAI3o9j0.4d pue ysiy

'po08 Joj papua 3¢ 03 asnqe dlsawop 1oy dde|d Ul 3¢ 03 spaau jey} Yoeoidde aunjoid sjoym
Suunpua pue aAisuaya1dwod ayj 30 S33S SHIOMIWEL) S2AITaeS SUIMOJ[O4 2} 2AI[2] SAA

‘asnge o13sawop Aq pajoaye saljiwe)

pue siojes3adiad ‘ualp|iyo ‘swidia Sundoddns o3 yoeosdde A3a1008 S|oyAA “AHunwwo)
9JoYAA ‘Ajiwe ajoypA ‘uostad S|oYAA ‘Osuodsal 24n3dld 9JOYAA e Buljesisuowsp uoeloge||od
ul oM |Im sappuade diysiauied "asnge dsawop Suipjoe) 03 sayoeoudde [e20] 92404ul-3.
|lIM pue sai8a3el3s snolaaad uo pling [|im AS93eas diysiaulied asnqy d1sawo uojeH ay |

HIV04ddY 34N.1I1d 310HM Y -7 NOILIS




Page 96

£ (44

I9U00s 3)ps saljIwip) Buidas
‘asngp Jlsawop o} asuodsal [p20] Ay}
wiojsuplj upd yopoiddp ainyd1d sjoym y

2104214 SJOUM

‘abueyo 8xew ued oym
9s0y} A pJeay 8g pue ‘S90I0A UMO JIdU} Ul ‘SBA[SSWBY}
10} Yeads 0] eouspadxe paAl| Ylim asoyl 4o} sejunyoddo

ay) Buipuedxa daay |jim ap\ “Hed [elA pue usulwoid e
8 ||IM SIOAIAINS JO 8DI0A DllUBYINE 8Y1 pue Slauoiiioeld

0J} JO 9210A Jadxa 8y} ‘op am BuiyiAians u| ‘swiou

959y} 3paliq 0) usw pup sAoq Buloddns—
AjUlINDSOW JO 850y} AURINDIHUDA— sedAj0a18)s
Jopusb Buloniisuodap pub Buibus|pyD

A}a100s sjoym

$In220
uuey Jeye

wuem fouy 95NCD DISSWIOP UO JO0 PUD PUDISISPUN
*saye) Joedwi ey} suuoy |je 1o} ‘osnge Aq pajoedul SaAI| 3y} aAY| . )
auokiana oy poddns ay) puedxs pue anoiduwiy [jm ap 03 sjdoad Ajlluspl o} pup eopdsyiom ‘Alltuspl

‘Aydpibosab jo saiunuwiwod Buiddinbg

“AjoAnoaye pue Apjoinb Buiaqiom pue A5 ,M asoy}
Aages Buiseatou) ‘@snge wouy ajdoad sjos304d yoiym Fo) M=jes
yiom 3y Bulusyibuans pue Buioddns dasy jjim ap =iaztbl]

‘sisquuBW AWy
[0 1O Buidgjiom pup A}S40S [OUCIOWD
pup ‘|PIUBW ‘|PISAYd By} BuepIsuoD

F sinoineyaq

“anoiaeyaq [njw.ey Injuuey

abuajjeys 1ey; sasuodsal ay) anoidwi pue asealoul dojs pue
0} 20130e4d pue souapiAs Buibiswa asn |jm 3 Ayuep)

Allwpy} S[oym

pawJey s|
-ooeyd 18113 Y} Ul F 10 suLey
Bujuaddey wouy asnqe dois jey; sayseosdde dojenap 2U0sWOS

1M oM BuIpUE}SIBPUN PUE 30UBPIAS N0 B Ag 210509 10V

A $aNSs| JO SalSs D BUISSIPPD JouU ‘Uosiad

S|oym ay} o} Buipuodsal pup Buless

@ Q@ @ O

uosiad ajoym

*MOJ3q P3UI|INO Si SIY | “HIOM3In)did
:[IIM @M uojjeH 9Z0¢ - SZOZ Sulng 3|0y SaAIRJES 3} Ul siseq e sey ASajens diysiauyied asnqy d13sawo( s,uoyeH



‘Yyoeosdde aun3oid Sjoym aAL3I3|[0d
*INOIABY3( I3} O3 Si0jeAljow SulAliapun sy} spjoe} JNo saydjew 353 Jey3} Aem e Ul S324n0sas puads pue aieys A\

pue a8ueyd 03 pasu Asyj 1oddns ay3 paJayo ale wiey oym asoy |
'SUOLJUSAISIUI

‘a8ueyp |ednoineysq oddns A]wiL} spinoad ued sm 0s S3ljiwie) pue s|enplAIpul JO SPaauU Sy}

pue paau ssalppe 03 Jap.o ul ajdoad 3unoA pue sjualed 03 adiApe puejsiapun pue AJjljuapi 03 9|ge a4e 9M Wey JO XSl Je uaIpfiyd pue

pue poddns SuLIalo ‘SUOLIUSAISIUL SALDSYS pue Ajies Suipiroad s3jnpe 3noge uoyewlojul SuLieys pue swalsAs parosdul ysnouy |
Y811 uMo J1ay} Ul pasiudodal ale sjdoad SunoA pue ualp|iyDd

‘wJey juanaid o3 paddinbs sie

“Juapuadapul pue Jusl|isal pue pajioddns |93} ‘d|ay 3sije1dads 03 ss922e aAey Asy) ‘Moud| ASyy

9( 0} paJamoduwa ale saljiue) pue SWLDIA I9A0234 0] way) djay pue SUO3WOS JN0gE PAUIIIUOD 4. SI9NIOM-02 IO SINoqySIau ‘spusLly
Spaau 413y} 1Y 3539 Jey} s3DIAISS pue ioddns paiayo e SWIDIA e ‘sal|iwey uaym jeyy os a|doad ||ysdn pue sadiAIas J10ddns jowold

SUNJIJ0 WHYH 4314V INUM Ao 4 P S0 o PUSASPn 1 sp99 SOk
AJHL SaNIT3HL AT 0L 31d03d SUNOINVHIE TNJNHYH dOLS ANV
140ddNS — ¥ ALI40I4d JIIILVHLS AJIIN30I - ¢ ALI40Idd JIIILVHLS

*2013sn[ 03 3ySnoJq ale wJey oym 3oy 1ey3 ainsus 03 uoleloqe|jod
Ul YI0M 3SNW SM 3d13sN( [eulwLD) YHm diysiauised ul Suisop

9|qeynba
pue 3|qissadde aJe Jioddns pue s92IAISS Jey) ‘AJUNWWoD JNo Jo Spasu
33 SulpasW a4 M Jey) 24Nsud 03 39S ||I)fs 3sijerdads dojaAsp IpA

‘suopndo uoepowwiodde papioddns Jo aSues e

UIYHM JO AJIUNWWIOD Sy} UIYIM Wiey woul) pa3aajo.d aie sjuspuadsp

413y} pue SWdIA 24Nsus 0} YI3 INo UIYyHIM SUIYIAISAS Op SN SAA
Sy 0}

"Hoddns Aa1y saijiuey pue sjenpiAlpul Y81y 2y pue mouy 03 Y31y ay] ‘MeT s,aie) Sjowoud AjSALIe SAA

31 YHM ‘HWaJ JI3Y3 UlyHm >dom Joddns pue A3a4es sAL3934S op
01 Sulpue)siapun ay3 aAeY pue adJApe apiAoid ‘Osnge dLsawop *24N3|Nd 3dUeI3|0)
3s1uUS0231 0} S33S |[1D}S pUE S|00} 33 SABY JJe]s Suljjuody ||e Jey ainsul 043z e pajdope aney uojjeH ‘s|qeidsdoe JaAsu S| asnge dL3sawoq

NSId 1V 3SOH1 404 AL34VS 03NdVH S| AINOJN0S 140439 LIV
ASVI4INI — € ALI40Idd JI1931VHLS — | ALI40Idd JI9ILVHLS




e

*UOL}EPOWIWIOIDE MIU 0} 9120|3440 Apadoud J1ay3 Ul Ulewas JSYHS 03 SIOAIAINS

/WLIDIA MOJ|e ya1ym Suisnoy a|qels pue ajes apiaoid 03 paudisap $a2IAI9S asnge dljsawop
1sijedads pue suopdo Suisnoy ay3 a.e s3aJ12 d8uelo 3y ‘(Uolepowwodde payioddns
‘sa8nyal) s8uas uopepowwodde Alesodwa) pue (diysisumo ajeAlid pue pajuad a1eAld
‘le10s) sadA3 aunuaj ulew 934y} ay3 Suipn|aul UOLEPOLILIODIE JO SWIIO) JUSIYIP Juasaidal
S$3]2412 3N|q Y] 'S)USUOdWIOD SA|SM] S PUE [SPOW S} SS}eJISN||I MOJSq WiedSelp sy |

aWeu a[0s SWLDIA ay3 U 3nd si Adueuay sy} pue parowal s| Jojesyadiad
2y} 0s paJa}je 2q 03 Adueua) ayj a|qeus ‘@de|d Ul S| AJUBU) JUIOf JUSLIND B JUSYA  ©

91e20[aJ Aay3 JI snjeys Adueusy Jiayy dasy
0} 4O ‘0S Op 03 92102 JI9Y3 SI 3}l 2J9YM SSWOY JI9Y) Ul Aj9Jes ulewal 0] SIOAIAINS 9|geus e

asnqe d13SaWOp JO ASNEIA SS|aWOoY patapual ajdoad Jo Jaquinu ayj oNpay e
asnge d213SaWop JO UOLJUIAID)UI PUE UOLEDYLIUSP] J3IJIED J|qeUT e

:03 swie yoeoidde ay] ‘dnous) ad13oeld pue Adljod
asnqy osawo( pue SuisnoH [euoleN Sy} Yim uopelode]jod ul (YHyQ) 2ouel|y SuisnoH
asnqy a1sawo( ay3 Aq 8T0Z Ul pasijenydasuod 3s4y sem yoeouddy SuisnoH 3JoyaA Sy L

‘uoj|eH 404 |apow e 19nJ3suod pue dojaAsp 0}
3JOMaWel} B S Pasn U3 sey Jey} [9poW paseq-adUaplAd ue s| yoeoiddy SuIsnoH SJoypA ay L

JnoiAeyaq J1ayy SuiBueyd uj Sujwuey st oym uosiad ay3 SuiSeSuy e

Jojeujadiad pagdaje
ay3 "'l W9|qoad aY3 JO 92IN0S SY] SSAIPPE 0] WJSAS 221sSN[ |IAID pue [eUIWLD 3Y) SUISSAIIY e

Page 9&

SITEYR)
p1endajes 0} 124393803 salpuade paajoAul e Suliq 03 swnio) Aduade-nw jo a3ues e Suisn e

Aem pageuew ysu
pue pauued e ul sdiysuolje[al aAIsnge pua 03 swdIA Joj Joddns pue yum 3uiuued Ajajes e

:3uipnpoul ‘sapiunwILIod pue sswoy ul Ajajes apiaoid
ued am UdIym ui sAem Auews aJe auay) se uoisiroid yons pasu sjdoad jo Ajuoulw [jews e AjJuQ

"awioy J19Y} JO 3N0 SA0W J0U op Asy}
31 WJeY J3Y3Ny JO XSII Je 21 OYM S3|[IWey pue S[enpIAIpUl o4 }10S3J }SE| B S| pUe [N4SS300NS Jo
3|qissod uaaq J0u sey UolJUaAI)UI AlIEa pue UOLJUSASId 2IYM SISIIE PIBU UOLEPOLILIOIDY

"a8ueyp s|qeuleisns pue A1aAo0d3l ‘Ajajes apiroid o3 Jayasoy

IOM 0} S| UOLJUSIUI 3| “WL.IeY OYM 3SOUj} SB ||9M SE ‘UIP|IYD I3y} PUe SWDIA - Ajle) 9|oym
ay3 1oddns 03 sa01A43s 3sije1dads Jo uolsinoad Y3 sapnjpul SIY] "Wley pue st Jo uoLje|edsa
33 juanaid 03 adualiadxa J1ay) Jo ade)s 3saljiea ayy e papoddns aie sjdoad |ea0] jey)
2Jnsua 03 sanjiiold Ay SulUIINO pue swieauls YoM Jea|d s|ie3ap yoeouddy a1n3dld S|OYAn VY

*UOL}EPOIWIODDE JJES J3Y}0 pue sagnyal
UIYIM Sulpisal UaJp|Iyd 412y} pue asnge d13sawop Jo sWdIA 03 Moddns Jo uoisiroid ay3 03
Suye|al sapioyjne [ed0] aUO JaL} Uo Anp Aloinyels e sadeld {TZ0g) 19V 2snqy dlsawoqd ay |

HIV0UddY INISNOH I10HM Y -G NOILI3S

6v HYHYS
JWNOH NMO AN NI 434S 1334 I 3AVIN JNTHIS AdVNLINYS FHL,




Page 99

62

s2132)e.)S JUBAS[DJ |EDO| UIIM HIOM |[e US|y

100foad 2y} Jo a[eISAWLY B} PUOAS] ‘SaA[RSWSY)
sal|lwey pue ‘sjeuoissajoid Aq pasn 2q UED Jey} SUOLJUSAISIUI PUE S|eLI}eW ‘S|00} 23eal)

*28Ueyd paule}sns adUBPIAS ey} sainseal aduewrioyad apnpouj

‘suopjesijdde Suipuny aininy poddns 03 pasn aq ued jey} suoljen|eAs
Jeusa3xa Ajijenb ysiy ySnouyy yoeoudde sy Joy 3seD [BIOURULY PUE 3SB( SDUIPIAS 33 pling

SJUSAS BuluJes| paseys pue saiunjioddo JuUswpuUoISs ‘BuUIOM
juiof Jo sjapow y3nouyy diysisuiied ayy ssoude pue sweay Jeis ulypum Suiules| ayj paquig

*100(J JU0I4 pajeiSaju| ay3 ‘delejn Suipnpoul
sAemujzed pue swiajsAs Susixa Jno Yypm adegiajul 03 yoeoudde 3uisnoH ajoyp a3 dojaaaqg

IM 9M 3]qeulejsns S| J9JJ0 dM JeyMm 2Insud o]

Aujiqeureysng

8

uoljepowiwodde payoddns 0} ssa20e 9es ajeyl|1oe) 0} sjueln)

sjyauaq Joy 3|qi1J2 jou 3)doad Joj uorrepowiwiodde pajioddns 03 ssa20y
suondo 41| Joj asnoH

uoljepowiwiodde 93e3s Alepuodag

uoljepowiwodde papoddns paseq Ajlunuwod)

uopjepowwode Atesodwal papioddns aAIsn|dU|

*221Ape uoljesSiwuwl
pue ‘poddns pue a31Ape y3jeay [ejusw ‘syuswaiinbal yjie) pue [eanyjnd o3 paeda aney
‘s19324dJajul aiinbas oym sjdoad asoyy 03 puodsal 03 3|qe aJe Jey3 SIIAIIS 3sijerdads

'spaau xa|dwod ypm
8unuasaid asoy) pue solsiIaldeleyd pajaajold JueAs|al Y3m swdiA Jo) Joddns 3sijerdads

‘Ajjuapuadapul pue Ajajes aAl| 03 MOY UO JIApe pue swoy juauewad e 3ulundas
‘g|dwexa Joj ‘poddns pue adiApe pajejal-3uisnoy Suipiroid - Joddns pajejas-SuisnoH

:Buipnpul
suoydo Jo 8uel e U340 ||IM UO}eH ‘UOL}EPOLIWIODI. JO) PI3U [eJ0] 3y} 0} asuodsal u]

asuodsay uojjeH ayL




Page 460

SIS LSO

RO

S Smusew)
sownodiog
A
1304014 OUNE

Ao NGO A

tavrs) ooy

ARG RO

SBO5UT WA

wd)sAS S[OYM\ YL :9suodsay asnqy dnsawo( s,uojjeH Suiddepy

Juswidojansp ui st diysiaulled asnqy d13sawio UoljeH Y3 10 S2UBUIDA0D

JINVNH3A0D -9 NOILIIS

¢9 NHOf
“HIN 0S NOA ¥NVHL '140ddNS JHL ANY

“IAY9 NOA LYHL d13H JHL LNOHLIM TV LI HONOYHL 109 IAYH 0.l
JNIHL L.NOQ | "34vS NV 413SAIN LN08GY 431138 1334 JW JAVI NOA,




'$92IAJ49S 3UlUOISSIWW02-9p Selidosdde usym
pue $321AJ9S SUIUOISSIWWO) Y304 saliiond
pue Spasu JUIWISIP 0} SJUSWISSISSE Spasu
|e20] wouy uoyewiojul Suisn ‘syuswaduele
1sngod y3nouyy asnge d1sawop Aq pajoaye
95013 3sisse 0] 92e|d ul a4e sawod3no Joddns
1Y81 3y} 18Y] 24NSUS 0} SJaU
Yam ajei0del|od ||Im diysiauled Sy |

SujuolssIWo) aAlIaY]

"SM3IASI
J93ad Joddns pue pualy [ea31d € Se 1oe pue
sapjiunjioddo 323s ||Im pieog 3y “piepuels
yS1y e Jo sI AISAI|Sp 3DIAISS Jey) SIdURINSSE

3935 pue auljjuoly ayj uo Sujuaddey si yeym
193|424 03 S}Ipne 3|y 3sed pue suolydadsul
woJy syiodad asn [|Im 31 ‘@louliaying asnge
J1sawop 3pjoey 03 Sulop si pleog ayj ||om

MOY 2Jnseaw 03 uoLjeulojul aduewopiad asn
M 3] *aspyoedd 3s9q juswajduwl pue uodn 3oe

|IMm diysiaupied asnqy d1sawoq uoyeH ay |

2aueianssy Ayjend
pue A)jiqejunoddy ‘SuLinseajy 3duew.io4iad

‘diyssaupied Aduage-pnw

3} JO S|2A9) |[e SsOJoe Sujules| [enuljuod Jo
soyja ue jdope am pue uolsiAIadNS dA11I3|Ja4
paJayjo a4e Aay) ‘s39s ||IYfS 419Y) 92uUBYUS O}
awl pue aceds ayj aAey Asyj Usym aAL3IaYD
JSOW 3 [|IM 9240J3I0M INQ ‘SUOLIUSAIDIUI
aelidoadde apinoad pue 1oe 0} yejs poddns
Jey) aoe[d ul s9ss9204d 9ABY 9M Jey) 2INSuUD
1SNW A "S92UalIadxa pue spunoidyoeq Jo
28uels e WoJJ Jels ulejal pue joelpie o3 Ayjige
343 Y}IM 9210J3I0M 3|ge]S B 9)ea4d 0] %99S
ISNW M SIY3 SA3IYDE 0] "3SN(e d1JSAWOopP
912€]} 0] UOLBALIOW PUE S||I3S ‘92Uapyuod ay)
Sey 22J0JJOM 3Y} JeY) PaInsse ale am jey |
*9A11224J9 Sl A391e.1S SIY] 1ey) 24ns oyew o}
Suiuiesy pue poddns ajeudoidde sy aney o}
paau AduaBe-13nuwi |[e sS04 3240IOAA Y |

aulpuo.4 ayj Suidojanag

‘uaJp|iyd Suipnpul

asnge J11SaWOopP PISSaUIM/UIIM PaAI| SARY
OYM 350U} JO $92UlIadXd pue WLdIA 343 JOo
9210/ 3y} 8uisn pajuasaidad 39 ||Im s3npe
pue uaJp|iyd yjog ‘pieog ay3 uiypm sunjew
UOISI29p JO SISe( B SB SMIIAY 9SeD) SNOLIaS
pue smalAsy s} NpY Sulpiendajes ‘SMalAy
9pIDIWOH d13sawo( wody Suiuiea] ayy Suisn
Suipnpoul ‘yoaeasal Suisn Aq siy3 2ouUapin

M diysiaulied ay] "asnge d13ssawop Jo
9dU3IadXd paAll yim s|doad JO JUSWSA|OAUL
JLjUaYINEe 2y} puk SIayew UoISIdap [eJ0] Wol)
JUSWHWWOD Je3|d B YHM AL309443 pue Suotis
aq 03 spaau diysiauied Aduade-13nw ay |

aseg aSpajmouy|
pue Suipuejsiapun Jajeals e Suneasd

‘uoyeH ul

asnge 213saWop Ag pa3123jje SUOAISAS JYauq
0] sa13IoLINe [eJ0] J9YJ0 pue sassaulsng

Y1IM UuoL1eloqge|[0d Ul }J0M 0} Wie [|IM
A3a3e13s SIY3 ‘DAISn|duUl S10W 3q 03 3ulyaas
pue sjuswadue.le Supiom diysiauied mau
3u1Seinodua ‘wnujdads Japeolq e Ss04oe HIOM
0} sapjiunjioddo mau Suyass Aq panalyde aq
||IM $S222NS JO S|9A3)| 193835 "UOLIepI[eA pue
d[ay JO SJa440 YuMm spes) 21393ed3s ‘sioquuiswl
pa3123]3 Jno Aq ui-Ang pue juswadedus

Aq papioddns asnge oisawop 3uipoe) 0}
yoeoudde Suouis e 3dope pue 133so) 3snuw
siapes| Ajunwwo)) “diysiaured Aduae-1nw
9U3 JO S|9AJ| || SSOJ2e UoLjepl|eA 2UPIAS 0}
9|qe aJe am os 3de|d Ul 3 ISNW S3UNJINJIS
diysiaupied pue AiaAljsp ‘diysispes

sainyanays AssAlpQ pue diysiapes

:5912U9)9dW0d A3 S3e4}SOWSP O}

3|qe aJe am jey} ainsua ysnw siadeys AJaAllsp
921AI3s [e207 yoeoudde sjoym yoeoudde
SAISN[OUl P33EUIPIO0D B U UO}eH Ul asnge
J1IsaWOop 3Pyjoe) 03 Jay3a80) oM salduase
| 38U} [EYA SI 31 ‘DALY 3q 0} JapJo Ul
junodoe 03 sapuase ploy snw diysiauipieq
9snqy dsswio uolfeH 8yl *9¢0¢-5¢0¢
ASa3e.35 diysiauied asnqy opsswoq
uojjeH a3 Jo Yisuauys ay3 Ul sal| uojjeH
J10J UOISIA 33 JO AISAI[SP [NYSSI2NS BY |

04v0d dIHSHINLYYd 3SNAY JILSINOQ NOLTYH 3HL -L NOILLIIS

L¢ VHINY



Page 462

e

9 IT13HIIN

'SWIIA JaY10 0} djay/1ioddns buipiroid Aq
piomuo) 3 Apd upd | aseym aining ui uoisod
D Ul 8q 0] adoy | pup 1ioddns 3|qp.

UnoA 1oy [njaipIb wp | ‘05 ‘8bbwpp JUI0S

‘PIIY2 ay3 4oy Ajjiqisuodsau jejuased

sey uosiad ay3 (q) 4o ‘pjiyd ay3 Jo juaied e si uosiad ayi(e) 41 pjiyd e 03 uope|as ul diysuoyeas
|ejuaied e sey uosiad y NV 2Snde ay3 ‘4o $3109)J9 9y} 9oualIadxa 10 ‘Ueay Jo 935 :Aay3 4 | Ibym an0.d 01 bulyiAup Jo spioda. aojj0d
35N(e J13SAWOP JO SWIIDIA Se pauyap ale (8T Jo aSe ay3 Jopun ajdoad) uaup|iyd 1y 3Y3 Japun

S0P Jjasy Ul 1Dy} pub ‘an.y Som buiAps spm

ou pny | Sb Ajp1dadsa ‘ob 0} alaymou poy
120 12V 3snqy dsswioq sy} Jo £ uUoda§ asnge JJsswop Jo sWRIA se uaJp|iy)d | O] I3} PDY | UdY) 81042q ‘PaAIBIDI dADY |

*9)IsgaM 22140 awoH uo a8ed Adjjod (/32usjolA-d13sawop/s|IS-usawom-jsulese 110ddns a1 a1pivasddp Ajjpau | diysuoipja.

-92USOIA /WD /X N'A0S 9DJOSWOY MMM //:d13y) "WDDIA A1y} uaysiiy 4o ‘ysiund ‘w.ey o}
pasn sI 3y} asnge Jay3o Jo UoLepIWLiul pue uoljeljiwny ‘syealy} ‘}nesse Jo sjoe Jo utaped e Jo
1B UE S| JN0IABYS( SAIDI90D) InolAeyaq AepAians J1ayy SuljeinSas pue adedss pue asue)sisal | ouJs Sipak z 1spd ayi uj awod aADY |
‘9ouspuadapul 1oy papasu sueaw ay3 Jo wayjy Suialidap ‘utes jeuosiad Joy sapoeded

pue sadunosal Jiay3 Sunioldxa ‘puoddns jo sa2inos wouy wayj Sune|osi Aq Juspuadasp Jo

/pue ajeulpiogns uosiad e ayew 0} pausdisap s}oe Jo aduel e s| JnoiAeyaq SuljjoJuo) 31 Kom ayp buojp padojprap swsiuDYdaW

2AISNGD By} SAD3] 0 UOISIDAP dY) dPOW
UDj Moy a1bjoa.ddp aw padjay osip sby

1Z0Z 19V 95Nqy d1353Wo SY3 JO Z pUe T SUOLISS [043U0T) SAIDIS0D) JO UOLHUYS SHILREHORTS €S Jlo EllZEHES QR L)

oW padjay Spy pub ‘120dw| pa1oo. dasp pup

passaiddns ayp jo awos 1ybij 01 1ybno.q

"PlIY2 Swes sy} 03 uotje|as ul diysuoljeas [ejusted e aAey IO e
soy siyj 1sod oyl ul painpua asngo

‘siaquisw Ajjwey e
: 21ISaWOP 3y} JO }jnsal D Sb s buidayD

'siaupied ajewul o U83G 2ADY IDY) S3NSS| PUD SAIXUD AW JO
:u33(q dABY 10 dJe OYM IS0 10 9T pasSe asoy) usamiag aWOS SSNIsIp pub 23p) 03 18b | SD AjaAISSbw
buidjay si 001 siy1 pub bujobispun (/1S

S92IAI9S 10 SPO0S UleIqO(d) 10 ‘Aiadoud WD | Y2IYMm SUOISSAS BUJ|ISUNOD BUO O]
43430 Jo Asuows ujejutews Jo asn ‘alinboe (e) 03 Ajiqe s,g UO 10243 3sI9Ape [ehue)sgns e 3UO 10 Paliajal OS[D SOM | djay SAISSDW

sey Jey} JnoiAeyaq Aue sueaw ,asnge dwouod asnde Jayjo Jo [euojows ‘|ediSojoydAsd e
D SDM SIy1 puD 8SNGD JISaWOP JO anss|

{asnge JIWoU0d3 o

: Y1 uo uoppuLIou) Bupipbas 1nod 3y o
“InoiAeYaq 9AI2420 Jo Bujjo.juod e J2118] D yum aw buipiroid Aq padjay osip
nolAeyaq SuIUS3E3IY] JO JUS[OIA o 3YS 2w uo BupdaYd AUDISUOD SDM PUD

‘asnge [enxas Jo [ealsAyd e Ajuanod suieouod Aw o) pauaisi pub

anjuanDp Aian ‘ansoddns fian som yAG) A

1JO (sjuapidul Jo usdped) }PNPUOD JO 3SIN0D 10
juapiUl Auy TZOZ PV 2SNqy d13sawioq dY3 JO Z pUe T SUOL}ISS asnge d1SsaWop Jo uoLiuyaq

-1 XION3ddV




Page 463

X35 ajesun Suiney
ojul pa3jpLI} 8ulaq Jo pastnssald Sulag

xas 3uLnp 3ny 3uiaq Ajp3edaqilpg

AydeaSouuod Suiyozem
Jo Suiyew 0jul JUSWSA|OAUI P10

Spuewap pue }oeU0D [ENX3S Pajuemun

|lIM JnoA jsurede (3oe |enxas
€ JIWWOD JO) X3S dABY 03 NOA Suldo4

adey
a3enSue| uipes3ap Ajjenxas
synesse |eaisAyd Jaye xas 3uldio4

s|doad Jay3o y3m Suipnpdul ‘syoe
[enxas Jo ‘ainssaid/juswsseley [enxas

:3snqe [enxas jo sajdwexy (g)

pooy jo adAj JejnopJed e 1ea
03 NoA Suimojje Ajuo Jo pooj noA SulAuaq

‘Ajiadoud unoA SuiSeweq

‘sanl|yn/ied

/auoyd ajiqow 03 ssa22e NoA Suimolje JoN
‘JuawAojdws 1o

‘Bulules; ‘uolyeanpa JNoA y3im Suliajialu|
‘sjyauaq yons Suljedoiddesiw Jo pnely
1Y2U( JWWOD 0} SUOSWOS 2.0} ‘SIYauad
aJejjam Sulwie|d wod) NoA Supuanaid

‘{Jojedyadiad
33 uo juapuadap Ajjea1wouods aje noA
0s snjejs uoesSiwwl InoA 3uisiien8al
wouy hoA Suuanaid Jo yum Suiagiaju|

swodul
ployasnoy 03 93nquiuod 03 3uisnjoy
599} |e83| |euonippe

NoA Sul}sod JO sueaw e se SJNod Ajiwey
ay3 03 yoeq 08 03 NoA Sudio) AjP3esaqilpg

spJed 3ipaJd
JO s3unodde ‘sajuedwod asje) dn 3upas

sjuawAed uo Suynejap Ajpsoding

‘MOU3 NOA
InoyMm Sulpnjaul — SWeU JNoA Ul spaed
2103s/31paJd se yans sjjiq 28ny dn Suiuuny

puads
noA punod AJaAa 4o} Junodde NoA Supjeln|

L&

[paniwiad, sssjun
Asuow Aue puads 03 noA 3uimojje JoN e

awooul Ajlwey) ayj Suljjosjuod Ajejo] e
:asnqe |elpueuy

pue asnqe 31wouod3 jo sajdwexd (£)
oSelLlew padlo e

SJ9pPJO JN0D
AJiwey Jo yoeauq |njasodind pue jenujuo) e
}nej disy3 jou -

asnqe ayj Joj Ajljiqisuodsal Suppdadoe JoN e

JoJjuod pue Jamod ujejulew o} 2104 Suisn e

9AB3| NOA 41 uteSe uaip|iyd
JNOA 935 JaASU ||IM NOA ‘NOA ulf|a] e

2oUalpago
Supoadxa pue op 03 1eym noA Sulj|a] e

:Aq s1auyled J1ay)
|043u02 03 Y81 e 3ABY ASUj} 9A31[9q SIasNay

:Joa3uod pue samod jo sajdwexy (9)

eIpawW |el20s uo pue sangdeajjod
4OM ‘spuslly Jo Juod) ul Suipnjoul
(ouewoyad [enxas, INOA SUBDOjN e
USWoM Ja30 Je upjoo] Ajjuesuod Jo
/pue siieye SuiAey Jo Ajas|e) NOA Suisnddy e
SNOLI3S Jou ale
salNful pue snd ‘sasinig JNoA ‘NoA Bulfa] e
} asiwuiw 03 SulAly Jo pauaddey ans
noA jsuieSe papiwwod asnge ay3 SuiAuag e
Jayiey Jeas, e jou ale noA ‘noASuljal e

uaJipjiyd
JNOA JO Jayje) Y3 Jou 2J4e NoA ‘noA Bul||a] e
(249y alow
peas - Sunysijsen, Suipnjoul) puiw Jo
AJlues umo JnoA jgnop 03 NoA Suipensiad e
salnful pue asnge
3y} 40} awe|q 03 aJe noAjeyy noA Suifja] e
sJaljaq 40 sapaixue JnoA Supendiuely e
(s49pJQ JuswWasue.y pIyD)
$J9pJ0 34n0d 3ulydealq Aq uaip|iyd Jiayy
Bulaas wouy siayje) Suiddols A|INJIIN @

(4onIMm] pue 300qadkd se yons)

NOA 23eplwLul 0} S3}Is eIpaul [e1dos Suisn
Sunjjeys ajdwiexa Joj }oejU0d dAISSXT

uopeAldap dagys -

Suidas|s noA Suiddojs/axeme noA Suidasy|
pamijaq 8ulaq Ajpajeadsy

SJaY30 Jo Juoly

ul Suipnpu ‘paynsul Suisq Ajpueisuod)
sanLefal

10 spually Sulaas wouy paddols Sulag

noA
jsulede spusliy pue uaap|iyd JnoA uiuin|

JuawiIeal] JU3|Is
ay3 noA 3ulni8 pue uodaye SuIployyIAA

uopepiLgy|

:asnqe jesibojoysAsd
pue jeuoijows jo sajdwexq] (g)

uolssiwiad

JNOA INOYHIM peoude wayj aye} [|IM Ay}
Jey} Jo ure3e wayj 93s J9ASU [|IM NOA Jey)
‘UaJp|iy2 JnoA anowas 03 Sujuajealy|

uaJp|iyo JnoA ysuteSe

Suipnjoul asnge |enxas Suliwwod ‘ashge
J1saWop ay3 Suiwwod uosiad ayj ale
noA jey3 ao1jod ayj |93 03 Suuajeay |
swayl

paJinsealy pue [euosiad JnoA Sulholisaq
NOA yoepe 0] siaquiawl

Allwey papuaixa asn 03 Sujuajealy|
s1ad Jo siaquiaw Ajiwey

suteSe 30US|OIA JO 35h JO ey} 3y |
SUOJI pue SSAIUY|

Suipnppul suodeam, Jo asn Jo jealy} 3y |

2DUS|OIA JO Je34Y} 3y |

:anoiAeyaq Sujuajeadyy jo sajdwexy ()

elpaw [e120s Uo pue sanges||0d
MOM ‘spusliy Jo Juoly ul Suipnpul

9¢

ouewoylad [enxas, JNOA Supdo|A|

212 9oueleadde

|eaisAyd ‘uonjejuaiio [enxas Uapuad
‘AJl[igesip J1ay} Inoge auoawos SUlI0|A
pue isjeaiyy pue synsuj

‘saunfie} UMo 413y} Joj noA Sujwelg

Jo uny spew

8ulaq pue je pay3ne| Suiaq Ajjueisuo)
Auedwod
ny |eqJap
3unnoys pue 3ulj|aA Juejsuo)

u1 4o 23eAld Ul Jay3ie uone

:asnqe JeqJan jo sajdwexy (g)

sjnogealaym

JnoA uo dn Supjoayd jueisuo)

wiy Jo Jay apn|oul Jou S20p Jey) swoy
ay3 apisno AjAoe Aue Suimolje 10N
san3ea||0d >JoM pue spuaLly ‘Ajiuwey

Se 4oNs JUSLWSA|OAUI 3pISINO Suwi

:uopejosi jo sajdwexy (g)

uopesipaw
-J9A0 10 3UIDIPaW JO [eMEBIPYHM
‘Buipaay 92404 Sulpnpoul (SWIDIA
pa|qesip 40} JueAs|as Ajje1dadsa) sanp
2Jed, Suiwiogiad 3s)iym noA SuiwieH
juswdinba Jo spie |edipaw 03 ssa23e
SulAuap Aq wuey |eaisAyd noA Suisne)

s32d Jo siaquiaw Ajiwey jsuiede a2usjoIA
A1sIno ‘syuup

‘pooy Suipnpaul umodyy 8ulaq s33lqO
pauosiod 4o juing ‘pap|eas Suiag

suoJl pue saAluy Suipnjpul

suodeam, Jo ash JO s1ealy] 4o 35N
pagqgess ‘paysnd

‘uspliq ‘paxjoyd ‘paydietds ‘padselp
‘paddeys ‘paypuid ‘payound ‘paxan| Suiag

:apnpul asnge [eaisAyd jo sajdwex3 (T)

1SN8v J11S3IN0Q 40 SIdAL -¢ XION3ddY



Page 404

‘uopjesijeuonsul

Jo sjealy) ‘uonedijdde esiA 1o esIA JNOA
1n0ge WLIIA e 0} uoljew.ojul as|e) SUIAIZ
pue ‘syuawinoop Suipjoyym ‘noA jsuiese
snjejs uopjeldiwwi snoedald Sulusjealy)

‘{punouisyoeq |enynd
J0 /21Uy3a JI1ay3 JO 3PISINO spualiy Suiew
Jo a8en8ue| e Sujules| wouy noA Suuanaid

‘JouI)ul

ay3 4o sojoyd ejA Suipnjou AJuUNWWod

|20} 4o snoiSijad ‘siaquuiaw Ajiwie) 0}
suopjesajje as|e} jew Jo (AJIALOe [enXas
*8'9) UOLJBULIOJU| DALISUDS 950dXa 0} S}ealy}

6€

{S31}IALO. JejndLINJeIIXD
ul Supedidijued wouy pue sasnoy Spualiy
A WoJy ‘syualedpuels J1ayj Jo

ANOA y3Im swiy Suipuads wouy uaJp|iyd
Supuanaid Suipnpoul ‘uorjeusle [eyualed

fa4e2 03Ul panowas Sulaq uaJp|iyd

JO XSl a3 aseaudul 0} sjeuolssajold
Supejndiuew Jo Aeme uaip|iyd ayj e} 0}
Suluajealyy - NoA |oJjuod 03 ualp|iyd 3uish

‘Aouspuadap

43no.y3 NoA [043u0d 03 sadueysgns Suisn
(suonipuod Yyeay w.s3-3uo| Jo sanljigesip
UM SWIIDIA 10) JUBAS|R Aj|e1dadsa)

24eD [B1205 J0 Y3|eay Suissad2e wol) NoA
3upnuanaid 1o ‘NoA SuedIpaw-1ano Jo
uopedipaw Supje} wo.y noA Suuanaid

juaJed Jo asnods ‘usujied

e se 9]0J JNOA Suluiwiapun jeuoualul
321daajul 03 Buisnyaa

Jo s||ea auoyd Jo sadessaw updadiaiul
‘spually pue Ajiwey wou) noA Suljejosi

{1ea ued NOA uaym

IeaM UeD NOA Jeym Suljeldip ‘awly JNoA Joy
junod2e NoA Supjew Suipnpaul ‘sajiALoe
Altep 4noA Suuiojiuow Jo Suljjosjuod

Suryiom wouy 1o Jodsuely
0} ssa22e SuiAey wo.) noA Suguanaid

‘adey

{(spoo8 pjoyasnoy

JO UoLIdNUIISIP Se Yons) aSewep [euiwid
‘nesse

‘(Suoswios

Ano, 03 Sujuajeauyy "8-9) uonewoul
ajeand ysijgnd Jo [eanal 03 sjealyy
‘PIY2 & 0] s3]

“lIB} 40 3Ny 03 sjeauyy

{9ouemojje aaiund

e noA Suimol|e Ajuo se yons ‘saoueuly
1O [043u02 Bulpn|aul 9snge |eldueul
‘sapjlIoyIne 03 2INSo|IsIp JuaA.d

pue awe|q-}|as aSeinodus 03 ualp|iyd
Jo asnqge Jo 129|3au ‘Suiylidoys se yans
AjAnoe jeuiwid ul 3ied axe3 03 noA 8uidioy

NOA asjuewinyap 1o apetsap ‘ajeljuwiny

ya1ym Ajiapoe pue sajnu 3uiddojus
{$S9|Y}JoM aJe noA jetyy noA Sulj|a3

se 4yons umop noA Sumnd Ajpajeada.
{S9DIAIDS

|eatpaw Jo Joddns 3sijerdads se yons
‘s921A43s 310ddns 03 ss922e NoA Sulalidap
‘das|s ued noA

USYM pue Jeam 0] 1eym ‘93s ued noA oym
‘08 ued NoA a1aym se yons ‘ai| AepAiana
JNOA Jo s3oadse JaA0 |oJ3u0d Supje}

‘a1emAds 3uisn Jo sjooy
UOo[}EdIUNWIWIOD 3UI|UO JNOA SuLiojUOW

‘awl} JnoA 3uliojiuow
{spaau diseq JnoA Jo noA Suialidap
{Ajlwey pue spualiy JnoA wouy noA Supejosi

:2pn|pul YSIW SINoIA_YS YoNs

Jnoineyag
Sujjjosyuo) pue aAI2190) Jo sadAl (ZT)

"seJawed uapply Jo asn

NOA Ua3ysL} JO [0J3UOD ‘JOHUOW O}

(032 ‘sqnH awioH 33005 ‘exa|y uozewy
Se oNs) Sa2IASP SWoY JewWs J0 Sayd}em
JJews se Yons sadlIAsp [euostad Suisn

uo}ed0|

JNOA S yoNs UoLeuLIofU| D.J} JO SJUNOIJE
0] ssao0e Ules 0} spedl Jo suoljejsAeld se
4oNns sadlAap pajqeus Jaulaiul SuppeH
sjad pue sayjigJojow ‘sied ‘ASojouyday
a|qeseam ‘sia3ndwiod ‘sauoyd se yons
SWIS} UO $103e20| SdO) J0 dIemAds Jo asn

{sJUnodde JUIjUO 3s|ey Suleald
Jo 22e|d s wdIA a3 ul Suipuodsal
‘sjunodde auljuo Suisn woly noA Sunpolg

s||e> suoyd

pue sajyoud elpawl |e120s ‘S)UNOIJe [lewWS
8uljjoJ3u0d Jo Suliojuow ‘ojul SupjoeH
$S24151p NOA asned 03 Juajul

3y} yum swyy pue sydeidojoyd |enxas
3jeAld Jo UoLNQLIISIP [BNSUSSUOD-UoU
2y} a|dwexa 4oy - asnge paseq-agew|
(s|1e2

8¢

pue |lewa spiom Suipnpaul) sjjes auoyd
pue |lewa JnoA Sujjjos3uod Jo Suliojiuow

uJod a8uanai

SS220k 9ABY 0} PaMO||e
JOU JO JU2)U0D JNOA UO [043U0D OU SuiAey

pajjo43 8uiaq

eIpaW [e120S S43Y30 JO JNOA UO NOA Jnoge
uoyewlIo4Ul snopiljew pue asjej Supde|d

noA Supjjeys

:(s4aulipd Jawiiof Yyim aq upd siy] uazfo) asnge
elpaw Jeldos pue [e3iSip jo sajdwex3 (TT)

}JJnesse |enxas Jo |edisAyd
$9Y30|2 4o Ajadoud SuiSewep

uoLedIUNWWOod
snojdljew Jo pajuemun Supjew

sy18 Sulpuas Ajuendal
s[|ed suoyd pue |lews JnoA Supjdayd
3JOM Wouy pue 03 NoA Suimol|oy

:se 4ans JnoiAeyaq Jo adA} Aue Jo 3sIsuod
ued Supj|els 'SWIIA JIaYy] ssesey 0] spoyiaw
Suiaylp pue ajdpnw asn USYO |[IM SIaX[eIS

:payjjess Suiaq jo sajdwex3 (OT)

ua4p|iyo Suisnge
Se 4ons 2uwiLd, Jayjoue Jo suoyesaj|e as|eq

asnge spsawop
3y3 SuIWWOod 3Uo 3Y3 3.1 NOA Jey) sqn|d
spods se yons (03 Suiuajeauyy Jo) siayjo
pue JaAo|dwa JnoA ‘saljiwey ‘spuatly SuljjaL
punoJe Aem Jay3o ay3 si 31 Uaym asnge
J1sawWop ay3 Su}IWIWOod U0 3y} aJe NOA
1ey3 (01 uluajeauyy Jo) asijod ayj Sul|aL

:suopjeSo||e asjey Jo sajdwexy (¢)

uopdasesjuod

asn 03 3uisnjal / Jou Ajojesaqi|ap aJle
Asy) usym (Jjid Y1) uondadesjuod
3upyey ale Aay3 noA 8ul|a3 Jaupied Unop



Page 485

APPENDIX 3: LEGISLATIVE
FRAMEWORK

This strategy has been developed in line with
statutory policies, guidelines and frameworks
as well as sector specific legislation and
publications

The Children Act 1989

Children Act 2004

Children and Families Act 2014
Equality Act 2010

Data Protection Act 2018
Domestic Abuse Act 2021

Human Rights Act 1998

Health & Safety at Work Act 1974
Housing Act 1996

UN Convention on the Rights of the
Child (UNCRC)

Modern Slavery Act 2015

Working Together to Safeguard
Children 2018

Ending violence against women and
girls (VAWG,) Strategy 2016-2020

The Care Act 2014
Sexual Offences Act 2003

Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act
2006

Halton Local Safeguarding Adults
Board

Halton Children and Young People
Safeguarding Partnership

40

REFERENCES

https:/www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.
gov.uk/crime-justice-and-the-law/crime-and-
reoffending/domestic-abuse/latest

https:/www.mankind.org.uk

https:/www.un.org/en/coronavirus

https:/www.womensaid.org.uk

Domestic abuse victim characteristics,
England and Wales: year ending March 2019:
Report - https:/bit.ly/2VyvfXq and Data

- https:/bit.ly/3acxG5Y

Home Office (2010). Call to end violence
against women and girls: strategic vision

Mark Brooks (2020). Male victims of
domestic abuse and partner abuse: 50 key
facts. Mankind Initiative.

Office for National Statistics (ONS).

(2018) Domestic abuse: findings from the Crime
Survey for England and Wales: year ending
March 2017. Published online: ONS

Office for National Statistics (2019) Domestic
abuse victim characteristics, England and Wales:
year ending March 2019

Office for National Statistics (2019) Homicide
in England and Wales: year ending March 2018
(average taken over 10 years)

Office for National Statistics (2019) Domestic
abuse in England and Wales overview:
November 2019

Safelives (2019) The Whole Picture - Our
strategy to end domestic abuse, for good

The nature of violent crime in England and
Wales: year ending March 2018 (published
February 2019)




Page 106 Agenda Item 5b

REPORT TO: Housing & Safer Policy & Performance Board

DATE: 18 November 2025

REPORTING OFFICER: Director of Public Health

PORTFOLIO: Community Safety

SUBJECT: Trading Standards Service Update

WARD(S) Borough wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Board with an update on the work of the Trading
Standards service over the last 12 months and the contribution this
work makes to the Borough’s public protection and community
safety objectives.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That
i) thereport be noted.

i) Members follow the Halton Trading Standards page on
Facebook to increase awareness.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 The Trading Standards team provide a wide range of statutory
services to protect consumers and legitimate businesses from
unfair, misleading, or unsafe trading practices. These services
include, (but are not limited to) weights and measures, product
safety, age restricted sales, explosives, scams awareness, fair
trading, doorstep crime, e-crime, fraud, counterfeit, and illicit goods -
including tobacco and vapes and animal feeding stuffs.

3.2 The team also provide an enhanced consumer advice service to
help consumers in Halton to enforce their own consumer rights.

3.3 The work of the team is intelligence led and focused on risk,
ensuring that resources are targeted at those products and business
that pose the greatest risk to consumers and legitimate business.

3.4 The latest Consumer Detriment Survey from the Competition and

Markets Authority (CMA) shows that two-thirds of UK consumers
experienced detriment in 2023-24 at a total cost of £71.2bn — a



3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

Page 107

significant increase from the £54.2bn figure revealed in the 2022
survey.

The CMA define detriment as a consumer experiencing problems
with an item or a service that caused stress to the consumer, cost
them money, or took up their time.

The average number of detriment incidents per consumer rose from
four to seven, with an average loss per incident of £32. Key issues
included poor-quality products (affecting 35% of consumers),
delivery problems (20%) and unsafe or defective items (19%). More
than 60% of detriment stemmed from online purchases.

The survey also found some groups were more disproportionately
affected, with younger people, those from ethnic minority
backgrounds, and people with long-term, health conditions reporting
higher levels of detriment. 24% of experiences had a negative effect
on mental health. (Source: Trading Standards Journal)

Scams Awareness

Anyone can become the victim of a fraud. However, postal,
telephone and doorstep frauds are often targeted specifically at
disadvantaged consumers, or those in periods of vulnerability such
as being isolated, having physical or mental disabilities, or suffering
a bereavement. The National Trading Standards (NTS) Scams
Team estimates that the detriment to UK consumers because of
these frauds is between £5 and £10 Billion a year. The Home Office
estimate that 1 in 17 adults were victims of fraud in 2023.

The perpetrators of fraud and scams are criminals. They use
sophisticated techniques to target, manipulate, and often coerce and
control victims.

Many frauds originate abroad and so it is not always possible to
identify a perpetrator. Where they are UK based the team will
investigate criminal activity and liaise with the appropriate agencies
which may include the NTS Scams Team and the Police, when
considering the appropriate enforcement action.

The focus of the service is to raise awareness of frauds and provide
residents with advice and guidance to prevent and protect them from
becoming victims. Where a resident is already the victim of a fraud,
the team will work closely with the individual to provide support,
advice, and guidance to prevent them becoming a repeat victim.
They will also try and obtain the money back via their bank, using



3.12

3.13

3.14

3.15

3.16

3.17

Page 108

several established procedures.

Fraud is the most experienced crime in the UK. Victims can face
devastating financial, emotional, and psychological harm. Statistics
show that once someone is a victim of a fraud they are twice as
likely to be targeted again. Fraud victims are more likely to need
care in their own home or need to move into a care home, often as
an additional cost to the Local Authority.

The team have developed referral routes with the police, Age UK,
and the Council’s complex care teams. Awareness sessions have
been provided to adult social care staff on how to identify individuals
who may be vulnerable to scams and referral routes to Trading
Standards. Further sessions are being delivered to the elderly and
vulnerable throughout the Borough to increase awareness and
prevent them becoming the victim of a scam.

Scams Case Study

The team recently helped an elderly female recognise that she was
a victim of a romance scam, which had been ongoing for around 8
years. She had been relentlessly targeted for her money. Having
recently been diagnosed with Dementia this impacted on her ability
to communicate with the bank. Trading Standards contacted the
bank to seek compensation on her behalf. After a lot of work, the
Bank have now acknowledged that this was a scam, meaning she
will receive a refund of around £70,000, which she had paid out to
the scammer over several years.

The loss of such a sum would have had a significant impact on the
victim’s wellbeing and financial independence. She is now looking
forward to getting her life back to normal.

Cases such as this, take a lot of time, effort, and patience to build
upon and gain the trust of the victim, and for them to engage with
Trading Standards to get the help and support that they need.
Trading Standards engaged with Adult Social care and worked with
them to contribute to capacity and wellbeing assessments, which will
allow her to live an independent life and prevent further additional
costs to Halton.

Doorstep Crime

Doorstep crime involves residents, who are often elderly or
vulnerable, being pressured into agreeing to work on their property.
This can arise from a cold call at their door, or by the victim



3.18

3.19

3.20

3.21

Page 109

contacting a trader that appears to be legitimate. The work is often
unnecessary, and what may start off as a small job, ends in the
victim being pressured into further work, which is carried out to a
poor standard, of little or no value, or not done at all. They will often
demand payment in cash and the price charged is significantly
higher than the actual cost or value of the work undertaken. In many
cases the price will rise, and the trader will make further demands
for payment by exerting pressure or becoming aggressive. In some
cases, the trader will offer to take the victim to the bank to coerce
them into making a payment.

The team respond to many cases of doorstep crime each year. The
numbers fluctuate and vary over the seasons. Where a live incident
is reported a rapid response visit is carried out, alongside the Police.
This is to safeguard the victim, prevent any money being handed
over, and where necessary arrest any suspects for further
investigation.

The team assess all criminal complaints, and where an alleged
crime has been committed and an offender can be identified, they
will consider criminal action for any potential fraud or consumer
protection offences. Where fraud or theft is suspected the police
may investigate. Most doorstep crime offenders operate across
borders and Local Authority boundaries and are part of much wider
organised criminality as part of an Organised Criminal Group (OCG).
The team liaise with neighbouring Trading Standards teams, the
Police and partner agencies to ensure that intelligence is gathered
and shared, and any enforcement action is coordinated.

Banks that are signed up to the Banking Protocol are trained to alert
the Police and/or Trading Standards if they spot unusual
transactions, for example a consumer making large cash
withdrawals for home improvement work. If the Protocol is invoked,
then the consumer will be prevented from withdrawing the money
and Police and / or Trading Standards will intervene.

Doorstep crime case study

An elderly victim was advised he needed a new roof and paid
£9,900. He was left with water pouring through the ceilings of his
home. The team assisted, and the work was found to have no value,
and the roof had to be completely re-done at a further cost to the
victim. A lengthy criminal investigation uncovered further fraudulent
activity across the North West and previous convictions for similar
offences. The case was joined with two other Trading Standards
prosecutions in Stockport and Lancashire. Mr Steven Lee was



3.22

3.23

3.24

3.25

3.26

3.27

Page 110

sentenced at Preston Crown Court to the maximum permitted term
of imprisonment of 10 years for numerous offences under the Fraud
Act. The judge in the case commended the work of Trading
Standards “I also want to commend the various trading standards
and other bodies that have acted to bring this case together. The
success of the case is due to the skill, expertise, and resilience of
those involved and the co-ordinated way they have worked to
ensure that all the offending has been dealt with together, which has
ensured the court can deal with all the criminality.

| want the comments to be passed on to the relevant senior officers
so the investigators can be commended as appropriate.

Unfortunately, the victim in Halton died before hearing the outcome
of the case. Sadly, this is a situation that happens often, as victims
in doorstep crime cases are impacted in several ways, and often this
is a catalyst which sees their health decline. This only goes to
illustrate the importance of the team and the work they do.

On a more positive note, our civil team were able to obtain a refund
of £9000.00 for this elderly victim from his bank. This was refunded
to him before he passed away, and he expressed his sincere
gratitude for the help he was given by this service for both the
criminal investigation and the refund of monies from his bank.

Tobacco and Vapes

The team have a range of powers to deal with the risks posed by
illicit tobacco and vapes.

The trade in illicit tobacco includes products that may be counterfeit
or illegally imported and sold illegally without the payment of VAT or
excise duty. These products are sold at a fraction, often just a third
of the price, of legitimate products. By evading taxation these
products undermine the principal public health control on tobacco
consumption. Through a combination of taxation and other
legislation, such as the ban on smoking indoors, the rate of people
smoking has reduced from 26% in 2000 to 13% in 2023. lllicit
tobacco risks reversing the significant public health progress that
has been made.

Over half of all smokers of illicit tobacco come from the most
deprived socioeconomic groups. (source Gov.uk). The health risks
associated with tobacco consumption are well documented. The
sale of illicit tobacco therefore compounds the health inequalities
experienced by these groups.



3.28

3.29

3.30

3.31

3.32

3.33

3.34

3.35

Page 111

Vapes were developed by the tobacco industry in response to the
indoor smoking ban which was introduced in the UK in 2007. There
IS now growing concern about the use of vape products by children
and adults who have never previously smoked, thereby exposing
them to the risk of becoming addicted to nicotine.

Legitimate vape products must be approved by the Medicines
Health Care Regulatory Authority (MHRA), to ensure they meet
standards relating to health and safety. The quantity and strength of
nicotine within the products is also restricted. lllicit products are not
MHRA approved.

New legislation came into force on the 15t June 2025 preventing the
supply of disposable vapes, which are now illegal in the UK.
Retailers in Halton were written to, to advise them of the new
legislation and support them with the implementation.

Since 2020 the team have seized over 263,000 illegal cigarettes
with a value of around £230,000, So far in 2025 the team have
seized over 1900 illegal vapes.

The team have adopted a multi-faceted approach to tackle illicit
tobacco and vapes. Using intelligence to target premises and disrupt
criminal activity by seizing illicit products to remove them from the
market.

The most recent approach is with the use of Closure Orders under
the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 to close
premises that are persistently found to sell illegal products and also
sell the illegal products to children. This can be used as a
standalone means to disrupt and stop criminal activity or can be
used in conjunction with other means such as a criminal
prosecution.

The team works closely with partner agencies to investigate,
prosecute and disrupt the criminals. Utilising funding available from
the NTS Operation CeCe (tobacco) and Operation Joseph (vapes),
to fund the use of tobacco search dogs and third-party test
purchases.

With the recent introduction of track and trace legislation there are
also additional sanctions for HMRC to fine businesses up to £10,000
for each seizure of illicit tobacco and to remove their ability to sell
tobacco. Trading Standards are able to refer cases to HMRC to



3.36

3.37

3.38

3.39

3.40

Page 112

administer the sanction and provide the valuable intelligence
regarding those involved in the illegal manufacture, importation or
distribution of tobacco in the UK. The track and trace legislation
requires legitimate tobacco products to have identity marks and
security features to ensure legitimate products can be identified and
distinguished from counterfeit products.

A penalty for £5000 was issued in June 2025 to Town Market
Widnes Ltd. This was due to a referral from Halton Trading
Standards to HMRC, after a seizure of illegal tobacco from the
premises in November 2024

lllegal Tobacco and Vapes case study.

Dannys Mini Market — 36A Langdale Road, Runcorn was issued a
Closure Order in July 2025 at Warrington Magistrates after a
Trading Standards investigation. The premises had a history of
illegally trading illicit tobacco and vapes (e-cigarettes). The persons
connected with the premises were warned on multiple occasions
that the illegal activities on the premises must stop or Trading
Standards would seek a Closure Order. Unfortunately, these
warnings were not heeded and to protect the public a Closure Order
was sought and granted for an initial three-month period. Swift
action was taken by the team to stop the illegal activity from
continuing. The premises has since been cleared and is no longer
trading as a retail outlet.

The news of the closure has been widely reported and has received
praise from legitimate business owners and has prompted further
intelligence being received about other premises who are involved in
criminality. This sends a strong message that criminality of this
nature will not be tolerated in Halton.

Several other premises have been warned about their conduct and
are being reviewed for a Closure Order. Since they were first used in
2024 five premises have been closed by means of a Closure Order.
Many other premises have ceased trading following the process. In
some cases, the team have worked with landlords to remove those
committing criminality without the need to resort to court. Therefore,
the impact is much wider than the five premises that have resulted in
Closure Orders.

Licence reviews may also be utilised where premises are licensed
under the Licensing Act 2006.



3.41

3.42

3.43

3.44

3.45

3.46

3.47

3.48

Page 113

Age restricted sales

The Trading Standards team enforces a range of legislation that
places age restrictions on certain products such as alcohol, tobacco,
vapes, knives and fireworks. They work with premises selling age
restricted products to advise and educate and promote age
verification schemes, such as Challenge 25, to help prevent sales
being made to children who are under the legal age.

The team also undertake test purchase operations using child
volunteers to test a retailer's systems and see if they sell to age
restricted products to children. This is targeted at premises where
intelligence has been received regarding sales to those underage.

Owing to difficulties recruiting young volunteers there has only been
one test purchase operation in the past 12 months, however we
have recently recruited several volunteers, and have operations
planned in the coming months working with Cheshire Police

The 2025/2026 Young People's Alcohol, Tobacco, and E-cigarette
Survey is to commence this November 2025. Eight secondary
schools in Halton have been approached to participate, and the
survey is to conclude in February 2026, with the data analysed and
a final report due in early 2026.

Consumer advice and the Citizens Advice Consumer Helpline
The main route for referrals into the Trading Standards team are via
the Citizens Advice Consumer Service Helpline (CitA). CitA will
provide initial advice to the consumer. Cases requiring further
criminal investigation are referred on to the team for action. Halton is
one of a small number of Local Authorities that have retained a
consumer advice function, and some civil cases are referred through
for enhanced consumer advice and support to help consumers
enforce their legal rights with support and guidance.

The civil and criminal team work together to try and obtain redress
for the consumer and take enforcement action where appropriate for
any criminal breaches.

Despite being a small team, in the last twelve months the civil advice
team has helped Halton consumers achieve over £78,000 of civil
redress, in cases where this would not have otherwise been
possible without their expertise.

The civil team have received numerous messages from consumers



3.49

3.50

3.51

3.52

3.53

Page 114

who have been grateful for their support. Often, they are on low
incomes and find technology difficult to use. The impact they have
for these consumers is significant.

Consumer advice case study

A consumer who was housebound and suffering from serious illness
was having persistent problems with her fire not working. The impact
was significant to her as she used her fire daily. The trader had tried,
but failed, to fix the fire on several occasions. The customer had
requested a refund but had been unsuccessful. The civil team
intervened and secured a full refund for her, despite being two years
from purchase. The consumer wrote to the civil team, and stated
“Thanks immensely for your help, we absolutely could not have
done this without you!”

Product safety

The team are responsible for enforcing various pieces of product
safety legislation designed to ensure that all consumer products are
safe and do not pose a danger under normal or reasonably
foreseeable conditions. Products subject to this legislation include,
but are not limited to, electrical goods, cosmetic products and toys.

Inspections have been carried out at high-risk importers in the
Borough, especially those importing toys and electrical items. These
inspections assess these documentation and processes in place by
the importer, so they comply with their legal duties and thus place
safe products on the market.

Product safety and counterfeit goods often interlink. In recent
months, the team visited two premises in Halton and seized 615
counterfeit Labubu dolls. The counterfeit Labubu dolls are poorly
made and are unsafe. Many contain small, detachable parts such as
eyes, hands, and feet, which present a serious choking hazard to
young children. Loose stitching, and exposed stuffing, further
increase the risk of suffocation. These fake toys often breach the
UK’s Toys (Safety) Regulations 2011, lacking CE or UKCA safety
markings, importer details, and required safety warnings. Without
proper safety checks, they may also contain toxic substances such
as lead, harmful dyes, or banned plasticisers.

Firework licence applications, processing and inspections, have
been carried out. The licencing regime allows Halton Trading
Standards to monitor the sellers of fireworks and manage the risks
of storing explosives within the Borough.



3.54

3.55

3.56

3.57

4.0

4.1

5.0

5.1

6.0

6.1

Page 115

Last year over 100 new electric blankets were swapped for old ones,
as part of a project to improve home safety within the Borough.
Halton Trading Standards carried out the project using funding
granted by the Electrical Safety-First charity. The old electrical
blankets were subsequently assessed for safety, with a failure rate
of over 60%. The blankets were swapped free of charge to residents
and helped tackle the risk of fire and serious harm within the
Borough.

iCan Consumer Alert Network & Facebook

The team operate iCan a popular email alert service to warn
consumers, business and community groups of scams and product
safety information. There are over 720 external recipients such as
community groups, charities, agencies (such as the police) and
members of the general public. iCan messages are also distributed
to all HBC council staff and elected members.

Individuals or organisations that wish to join iCan should email
trading.standards@halton.gov.uk

The team have recently launched a dedicated Trading Standards
Facebook page — ‘Halton Trading Standards’. This will be utilised to
publicise the work of the team and provide advice and information to
consumers and business. This is still in its infancy, and we would
encourage members of the Board to like and follow the page to
increase the reach within Halton.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

The Trading Standards functions are statutory services. The Trading
Standards team is a small, but integral part of the Public Health
department enabling the core Trading Standards functions to
contribute to the borough’s public health and community safety
objectives.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications associated with this report.

IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater
Independence
The team’s work to tackle illicit tobacco and vapes contributes to the


mailto:trading.standards@halton.gov.uk

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

7.0

7.1

8.0

8.1

9.0

9.1

10.0

Page 116

borough’s public health objectives in reducing the prevalence of
smoking and the harm caused by illicit and illegal products.

Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy
The work of the team supports the legitimate business community
by investigating and preventing illegal trading practices.

Supporting Children, Young People and Families
The work of the team to enforce legislation regarding age restricted

products such as tobacco, alcohol and knives helps to protect
children from the harms caused by these products. The work around
product safety and unsafe items such as toys also protects children
from harm.

Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need

The team’s work to investigate cases of doorstep crime, raise
awareness of scams and support victims helps to protect the
community and contributes to the safeguarding of vulnerable adults.

Working Towards a Greener Future
None

Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community

The newly created Trading Standards Facebook page will enable
the team to engage with residents and partner organisations to
share important consumer safety information and ensure the
community are protected from scams and the activity of rogue
traders.

RISK ANALYSIS

There are no significant risks arising from his report.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

None

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS

None

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

None under the meaning of the Act.



Page 117 Agenda ltem 6a

REPORT TO: Housing & Safer Policy & Performance Board
DATE: 18" November 2025
REPORTING OFFICER: Executive Director - Environment and Regeneration
PORTFOLIO: Community Safety
SUBJECT: Performance Management Reports for Quarter 2 of
2025/26
WARD(S) Borough wide
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
1.1 To consider, and to raise any questions or points of clarification, in
respect of performance management for the first quarter period
to 30th September 2025.
1.2 Key priorities for development or improvement in 2025-26 were
agreed by Members for the various functional areas reporting to the
Board as detailed below:
= Community Safety & Protection
» Risk & Emergency Planning
* Drug & Alcohol Action
» Domestic Violence
= Housing
The report details progress made against objectives and milestones
1.3 and performance targets and provides information relating to key
developments and emerging issues that have arisen during the
period.
2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the Policy & Performance Board:

1) Receive the second quarterly performance management
report.

2) Consider the progress and performance information and
raise any questions or points for clarification; and

3) Highlight any areas of interest and/or concern where further
information is to be reported at a future meeting of the
Board.



3.0

3.1

4.0

4.1

5.0

5.1

6.0
6.1

7.0

7.1

8.0

8.1
9.0

9.1

10.0

Page 118

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Departmental objectives provide a clear statement on what services
are planning to achieve and to show how they contribute to the
Council’'s strategic priorities. Such information is central to the
Council’'s performance management arrangements, and the Policy
and Performance Board has a key role in monitoring performance
and strengthening accountability.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

There are no policy implications associated with this report.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications associated with this report.

IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

All Key Performance Indicators relate directly to the following
Council’s priorities:

e Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater
Independence

Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy

Supporting Children, Young People and Families

Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need
Working Towards a Greener Future

Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community

RISK ANALYSIS

At the time at which Annual Business Plans are developed
Directorate Risk Registers are also refreshed and updated.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES
None identified.

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS
None identified.

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

None under the meaning of the Act.



Page 119

Housing and Safer — Priority Based Monitoring Report Q2

Reporting Period: 15t July to 30t September

1.0 Introduction

1.1 This report provides an overview of issues and progress against key service objectives/milestones and
performance targets, during the second quarter of 2025 / 26 for service areas within the remit of the Housing

& Safer Policy and Performance Board.

1.2 Key priorities for development or improvement in 2025 - 26 were agreed by Members and included in
Directorate Plans, for the various functional areas reporting to the Local Economy Policy and Performance

Board.
1.3
= Community Safety & Protection
= Risk & Emergency Planning
= Drug & Alcohol Action
= Domestic Violence
= Housing

1.4 The way in which traffic light symbols have been used to reflect progress to date is explained within Section 5

of this report.

1.5 Corporate Priorities

.\},\\, Halton Borough Council Corporate Plan 2024 - 2029

HALTON  oyr Community, Our Priorities, Our Future

Supporting Halton’s residents to live in decent
and affordable homes, surrounded by safe
and thriving communities. Valling and

Apprec

Wellbeing and
Supporting Greater
Independence

01

Halfon'and OUr

ommunity:

Working with everybody to keep our . Resilient & Building a
neighbourhoods clean and fidy, and Working Reliable 0 Strong,
create a sustainable environment for Towards a E g Sustainable
current and future generations. Greener Future Organisation Local Economy
04

Tackling linequolity Supporting Children,

and Helping Those Young People and
Addressing inequalities by helping the people of Who Are Most In Families
Halton fo receive the good quality and accessible Need

advice, information and services that they need to
achieve their aspirations and ambitions.

Plan on a Page

Encouraging good quality health, wellbeing and
social care, by involving everyone in our
community. To support the people of Halton fo feel
safe, be active, happy and lead their best lives.

Fostering a strong, diverse local economy
where there is access fo good jobs and
successful businesses in our community,
providing opportunities for all.

Supporting families to nurture and protect every
child and young person and raise their aspirations.
We will invest in Early Years, education and youth
provision to ensure they reach their full potential
and help Halton families flourish.



Page 120

2.0 High Priority Equality Actions

2.1 Equality issues continue to form a routine element of the Council’s business planning and operational decision-
making processes. Additionally, the Council must have evidence to demonstrate compliance with the Public
Sector Equality Duty (PSED) which came into force in April 2011.

2.2 The Councils latest annual progress report in relation to the achievement of its equality objectives is published
on the Council website and is available via:

http://www4.halton.gov.uk/Pages/councildemocracy/Equality-and-Diversity.aspx

3.0 Performance Overview

The following information provides a synopsis of progress for both milestones and performance indicators across the
key business areas that have been identified by the Directorate.

Community Safety & Protection

Key Objectives / milestones

Corporate Priority One - Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater Independence.
Priority = Community Safety & Protection

Deliver the statutory requirements and services that support victims of Domestic Abuse as set out

ERD 31
3 in the Domestic Abuse Act 2021

Milestone: Progress

Q2 Supporting Commentary

Number of referrals into the Domestic Abuse
Service for support to victims.

502 referrals, a reduction of 21 referrals
compared to 521 in Q1. This is an increase in
referrals from the same quarter in year 2024,
447,

K= K

Number of days cases are open. 27 days, there has been no change from Q1

in the number of days cases are open for.
This shows consistency in the management of
cases across the service. This is a decrease

from 60 in the same period last year.

P

108 cases closed in Q2 an increase from 96 in
Q1. Asignificant variation from 79 in Q2 the
previous year.

Number of cases closed.

B[

Housing & Safer Page 2 of 16


http://www4.halton.gov.uk/Pages/councildemocracy/Equality-and-Diversity.aspx

Repeat referral rate.

Number of referrals into the Domestic Abuse
Service for perpetrators

Number of days cases are open.

Number of cases closed

Repeat referral rate

Page 121

=

e E D R

T

46% a decrease in repeat referrals from 50%
in Q1 demonstrating interventions are
working. This is the same as Q2 in 2024, 46%.

18 There has been a significant decrease in
referrals this quarter compared to 35 in Q1.
This could be due to the introduction of the
Police & Crime Commissioners Office
Breaking the Cycle programme offering
several interventions for perpetrators.

This is a slight decrease from Q2 last year
(23).

125 days in Q2 compared to 39 days in Q1,
this evidences more clients engaged with the
course through to completion in its entirety.

8 cases were closed in Q2, a decreased from
14 in Q1.

11% repeat referral rate in Q2 compared to
9% in Q1.

Corporate Priority One - Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater Independence.

Priority = Community Safety & Protection

ERD 32 Contingencies Act 2004

Milestone:

Delivery of two COMAH exercises per year to
ensure the boroughs nine COMAH sites complete
an exercise every 3 years

Housing & Safer

Progress
Q2

—

Ensure preparedness and risk and resilience in Emergency Planning for Halton as set out in the Civil

Supporting Commentary

Exercise Lanxess 4 was delivered in May
followed by a multi-agency debrief; the
exercise report was published in June 2025,
Ql.

Exercise Halton 19 was delivered on 2nd

October 2025; a multi-agency debrief is
scheduled for 22/10/25.

Page 3 of 16



Page 122

The exercises were completed in Q1 and Q3
with the annual target met.

Number of Emergency Planning training sessions 2 major live Comah Exercises (including Qtr 1
delivered to ensure responders are equipped to as above)

deliver effective responses to major incidents and

standby ensuring that the Council has robust 2 bespoke training & exercise sessions

3 responders training sessions delivered in
Q2.

preparedness. delivered in Q2.
=

1 large scale exercise as part of the Chesire
Resilience Forum Emergency Planning have
supported with planning and facilitation.

100% responders attending training sessions 89% of Responding Officers attended training
an increase from 84% in Q1.

Corporate Priority Five - Working Towards a Greener Future
Priority = Community Safety & Protection

To work towards a cleaner, greener Halton applying statutory powers as set out in the Environment

ERD 33 . .
Protection Act 1990 & Environment Act 2021
Milestone: Progress .
Supporting Commentary
Q2
Issue a minimum of 15 fixed penalty notices U Q2 total is 9; reduced staff capacity has
(FPN’s) per quarter impacted on the number of FPN’s issued in
the second quarter. However, the service
(::D anticipates achieving the annual target as it
experiences seasonal variation.
Achieve minimum of three prosecutions for v 1in Q2; there are 2 cases pending listing at
environmental crime per quarter. Court by the Magistrates submitted in Q1,
and 2 cases pending listing from Q2. There
‘ are also 2 additional case files in progress.

With the number of cases ongoing and those
awaiting listing the service anticipates the
annual target of 12 prosecutions will be met.

Housing & Safer Page 4 of 16



Page 123

Corporate | Priority Six - Valuing and Appreciating Halton and our
Priority | Community.
Community Safety & Protection

To co-ordinate an effective Community Safety Partnership, Safer Halton as set out in Section 6

ERD 34
3 Crime & Disorder Act 1998 placing the duty on responsible Authorities

Mil g P

llestone rogress Supporting Commentary

Q2
Overall crime figures for Halton Ve 2,817 crimes, a reduction of 1.9% from Q1.
A decrease of 19.5% compared to the same
‘ guarter in the previous year.

Corporate Priority Two - Building a Strong Sustainable Local Economy.
Priority = Community Safety & Protection

Ensure a fit for purpose surveillance service that contributes to tackling crime & disorder whilst

ERD 35 . . .
supporting residents to feel safe in the borough.
Milestone: P .
flestone rog;ess Supporting Commentary
Minimum of 80% of public surveillance cameras n 74% of cameras were fully operational
to be fully operational. however, it is worth noting that 85% of what
‘ are classified as priority one cameras where
fully operational during this period and 80%
priority two cameras.
Minimum of 90% fully operational control room < 99% achieved, an increase from 91% in Q1.
weeks

ﬁ

Housing — Planning & Development

Corporate Priority Two — Building a Strong Sustainable Local Economy.
Priority  Planning & Development

ERD 12 | Providing new homes that meet Halton’s needs

Progress

Milestone Q2

Supporting Commentary

Housing & Safer Page 5 of 16




Page 124

Number of homes granted planning permission Between 1 July 25 —30 Sept 6 planning
applications were approved; most of these
applications were for change of use.

Number of annual completions of market and v The Housing AMR states the number of Net
affordable homes homes built in 24/25 was 387.

Corporate | Priority One — Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater Independence.
Priority | Priority Three — Supporting Children, Young People and Families.

Priority Four - Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most in Need.
Priority Six - Valuing and Appreciating Halton and our Community.
Empty Properties

ERD 13 | To reduce the number of empty homes within the borough.

Milestone: Progress .
Q2 Supporting Commentary
Number of empty homes in Halton v The total number of empty properties in Q1

and Q2 is 1173.

Properties are empty for various classifications.

Housing — Homelessness

Corporate Priority Four - Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need
Priority = Community Safety & Protection

ASC
objective | Annual review of the Homelessness Strategy to determine if any changes or updates are required
6

Mil : P
llestone rog;ess Supporting Commentary
Number of homeless presentations made to the 2024/25 Actual = 3988
Local Authority for assistance, in accordance 2025/26 Target = 4500
with Homelessness Act 2017 (Relief, 2025/26 Q2 = 875
Prevention, Homeless, Advice) Q2 data statistics broken down as follows: -

Presentations = 875
e Approach=75
e Relief=175
e Main Duty =31

Housing & Safer Page 6 of 16



Local Authority accepted a statutory duty to
homeless households in accordance with
homelessness Act 2002 (Number)

Number of households living in Temporary
Accommodation (Hostel, Bed & Breakfast)

Housing & Safer

Page 125

e Prevention =192

e Advice =402
There continues to be an increase in
homelessness nationally.
Halton has seen an increase in family
presentations, due to no fault S21 notice
seeking possessions, placing additional
pressure upon temporary accommodation
providers.
The main emphasis is placed upon prevention,
with officers making full use of the prevention
incentives available to support client to remain
in their homes or source alternative
accommodation.

2024/25 Actual =911
2025/26 Target = 1500
2025/26 Q2 =31

There has been a decrease in in the
homelessness acceptance duty. This is partly
due to the prevention work across the team
and working.

With landlords to source alternative
accommodation prior to Homelessness.

2024/25 Actual
Hostels: Single =1260 Families =210
Hotels: Single =21 Families =56

2025/26 Target
Hostels = 2500 (combined)
Hotels =150 (combined)

2025/26 Q2
Hostels: Single = 105 Families = 28
Hotels: Single=7 Families =4

Dispersed Singles = 12 Families - 0

Due to the increase in homelessness this has
placed additional pressure upon temporary
accommodation providers. Although there has
been a reduction in hotel usage, due to
demand, there is often a reliance on hotels for
short periods of time.

There continues to be an increase in families
presenting as homeless, for the above stated
reasons. The service has a robust process in
place to transfer families from hotels into
commissioned services as quickly as possible,
with concerted efforts being made to increase

Page 7 of 16



Page 126

4.0 Financial Statements

COMMUNITY & GREENSPACE

Revenue Budget as at 30" September 2025

both temporary and long-term
accommodation provision.

Annual Budget to Actual Variance Forecast
Budget Date Spend (Overspend)| Outturn
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure
Employees 15,451 7,788 7,486 302 603
Agency - Covering vacancies 20 12 12 0 0
Agency - In addition to establishment 16 16 199 (183) (274)
Premises 3,304 1,562 1,609 (47) (93)
Supplies & Services 3,659 1,514 1,639 (125) (249)
Transport 117 66 83 a7) (33)
Extended Producer Responsibility 500 0 0 0 0
Other Agency Costs 454 209 228 (29) (39)
Other Expenditure 187 13 13 0 0
Waste Disposal Contracts 7,121 1,125 1,133 (8) (16)
Transfers to Reserves 1,091 0 0 0 0
Total Expenditure 31,920 12,305 12,402 97) (101)
Income
Sales Income -1,359 -687 -691 4 8
Fees & Charges Income -6,300 -3,622 -3,709 87 174
Rental Income -1,118 -465 -428 37) (73)
Government Grant Income -5,210 -1,319 -1,319 0 0
Reimbursement & Other Grant Income -871 -371 -371 0 0
SLA Income -23 0 0 0 0
Internal Fees Income -216 -39 -129 90 179
Capital Salaries -236 -15 0 (15) (31)
Transfers From Reserves -619 -4 -4 0 0
Total Income -15,952 -6,522 -6,651 129 257
Net Operational Expenditure 15,968 5,783 5,751 32 156
Recharges
Premises Support 1,657 829 829 0 0
Transport Support 2,433 1,270 1,312 (42) (84)
Central Support 4,297 2,148 2,148 0 0
Asset Rental Support 199 0 0 0 0
Recharge Income -843 -422 -422 0 0
Net Total Recharges 7,743 3,825 3,867 (42) (84)
Net Departmental Expenditure 23,711 9,608 9,618 (10) 72

Comments on the above figures

Housing & Safer

Page 8 of 16




Page 127

Net spend against the Community and Greenspaces department has seen an improvement to the
net outturn position since the previous report at 31 July 2025. The forecasted outturn is now
expected to fall £0.72m under the approved budget profile (in comparison to £0.123m overspend
previously forecasted).

Employee spend continues to be an area providing underspend for the department into the new
financial year, forecast spend being £0.603m under the approved budget profile. There continue to
be vacancies held for restructures taking place contributing to the underspend. However, as a result
of this, in order to facilitate the very visible services provided to the residents of Halton, both Agency
and Supplies & Services expenditure is forecasted to be (£0.274m and £0.249 respectively) above
the approved 2025/26 budget.

Estimated spend on premises costs is forecast to be £0.093m over budget in 2025/26. The Stadium
utility costs are notably higher than the available budget and will continue to be a budget pressure
this year. There is more focus on internal services that can be provided (See £0.179m forecast
overachieved Internal Fees Income), and should this continue, it can be utilised to offset the
premises costs in subsequent financial years.

Supplies and Services is forecasting an overspend of £0.249m which is a budget pressure throughout
the Department and is primarily caused by inflationary cost increases of key goods and services over
recent years. There is a risk if the Council were to contain these costs within the budget profile there
would be a reduction in the service provided.

Historically, Waste Disposal Contracts had contributed to an underspend for the department,
however, due to the rise in costs last year, expenditure is now likely to fall close to the approved
budget profile. It is worth noting, as the size of the contracts are very large, small percentage
changes to the invoices can have significant impacts on the outturn position of the department, and
with invoices being received several periods after the costs are incurred, the outturn position may
change throughout the year. Within 2025/26 there has been a budget line created for the Extender
Producer Responsibility Scheme, this funding has been provided to manage packaging waste. In
order to facilitate the scheme and ensure compliance, £0.500m has been forecasted to be utilised
within the financial year, should there be any budget underutilised by 31 March 2026 this will
require carrying forward into the 2026/27 financial year.

Income for the Community and Greenspaces Department is on track to be higher than the approved
budget by £0.257m. The aforementioned internal fee focus by the Stadium is contributing to this as
well as increasing usage of internal room hire across the buildings within the Department. The
benefit of this income staying within the council rather than going to external suppliers is offset by
some other income targets being unachievable. The main contributor to the overachievement
however is with Halton Leisure Centre, income is remaining consistently high, and forecasts have
been adjusted as such to reflect this. In comparison to last financial year, the outturn income figure
is expected to rise by approximately 99%.

There also continues to be pressures with the Brindley as the extension works are underway, income
did fall within the previous financial year, and is currently forecast to do the same this year. Once the

works are completed the income is likely to rise again, however, this will require close monitoring as
the utility expenditure will also increase with the larger site.

APPROVED BUDGET SAVINGS COMMUNITY AND GREENSPACES DEPARTMENT

Housing & Safer Page 9 of 16



Page 128

Service
Area

Net
Budget
£'000

Description of
Saving Proposal

Savings Value

25/26
Agreed
Council

01
February
2023
£'000

25/26
Agreed
Council

05 March
2025
£000

Current
Progress

Comments

Stadium
&
Catering
Services
—School
Meals

12

Cease to deliver
the school meals
service, which has
made significant
losses of over
£200,000 for a
number of years
and is forecast to
make a similar
loss by year-end.
Work would be
undertaken with
schools over the
next two years to
support them to
secure an
alternative means
of delivery,
whether in-house
or via an external
provider.

12

School meals service
has ceased and is
reflected in the
25/26 budget.

Green
Waste

Green Waste —
increase green
waste charges
from £43 to £50
per annum, to
bring Halton onto
a comparable
basis with charges
levied by
neighbouring
councils.

100

Green waste
charges have been
increased to £50.

Area
Forums

Area Forums —
cease the funding
for Area Forums.

170

Area forum budgets
have been removed
in 25-26

Total Community & Greenspace Dept

12

270

Capital

Housing & Safer

Page 10 of 16




Page 129

Cumulative |Cumulative |Cumulative |Cumulative 2026/27
205/26 2025/26 |Actual Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast
Original Revised |Spend to 30 [Spend to 30 |Spend to 31 |Spend to 31 |Allocation Allocation
Scheme Detail '/-\Ilocation L Allocation §ept 2025 'Nov 2025 'Jan 2026 'March 2026 'remaining
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Stadium Minor Works 22.1 221 24.6 24.6 24.6 24.6 -2.5 30.0
Halton Leisure Centre 99.7 99.7 89.3 86.8 88.8 90.8 8.9 0.0
Children's Playground Equipment 67.8 67.8 50.5 60.5 60.5 65.0 2.8 65.0
Landfill Tax Credit Schemes 340.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Upton Improvements 13.0 13.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 13.0 0.0 0.0
Crow Wood Park Play Area 12.0 12.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.0 0.0 0.0
Open Spaces Schemes 600.0 770.0 564.5 600.0 650.0 770.0 0.0 600.0
Runcorn Town Park 450.6 450.6 0.0 0.0 60.0 125.0 325.6 280.0
Spike Island / Wigg Island 1,841.6 250.0 152.5 170.0 180.0 250.0 0.0 1,591.6
Pickerings Pasture Cafe 469.2 450.0 110.3 175.0 300.0 450.0 0.0 19.2
Cemetery Infrastructure work 469.1 469.1 0.0 89.0 207.0 410.0 59.1 683.0
Stadium Public Address System 810.0 346.0 34.9 176.0 286.0 346.0 0.0 379.0
Litter Bins 20.0 20.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 20.0 0.0 20.0
*Replacement Cremator* 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 20.0
Stadium Steelwork Repairs 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 600.0
Brindley Lighting 0.0 200.0 0.0 100.0 150.0 200.0 0.0 0.0
Grangeway Court Refurbishment 0.0 52.0 8.0 10.0 16.0 52.0 0.0 948.0
CCTV Infrastructure Works 0.0 105.0 1.2 5.0 50.0 105.0 0.0 395.0
Total Community & Greenspaces 5,215.2 3,327.3 1,035.8 1,496.9 2,072.9 2,933.4 393.9 5,630.8

There were some delays to capital projects starting within the last financial year due to staffing
issues. These are likely to be completed within the 2025/26 capital scheme. In regard to the
cemetery infrastructure work there is potential to receive grant/external funding rather than rely
solely on borrowing. The *replacement cremator* line is in relation to a cremator installed last year;
however the contractors are requiring some additional works required to get it fully commissioned
and proper emissions testing to be carried out. Management are currently reviewing options, where
possible this will be funded from underspend from other schemes.

Housing & Safer Page 11 of 16



Adult Social Care

Page 130

Revenue Operational Budget as at 30 September 2025

Annual Budget to Actual Variance Forecast
Budget Date Spend (Overspend)| Outturn
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure
Employees 18,788 9,394 8,727 667 983
Agency- Covering Vacancies 906 (906) (1,454)
Premises 498 290 251 39 78
Supplies & Services 698 465 568 (103) (176)
Aids & Adaptations 37 18 21 ?3) 6
Transport 341 170 166 4 9
Food & Drink Provisions 228 133 74 59 96
Supported Accommodation and Services 1,408 704 554 150 293
Emergency Duty Team 157 34 33 1 @)
Transfer To Reserves 295 13 13 0 0
Contracts & SLAs 1,044 451 458 (7) 2
Housing Solutions Grant Funded Schemes
Homelessness Prevention 548 250 224 26 0
Rough Sleepers Initiative 167 84 82 2 0
Trailblazer 75 38 38 0 0
Total Expenditure 24,284 12,044 12,115 (71) (A74)
Income
Fees & Charges -1,044 -435 -317 (118) (253)
Sales & Rents Income -538 -291 -286 (5) (12)
Reimbursements & Grant Income -2,182 -1,000 -852 (148) (301)
Capital Salaries -117 -58 -58 0 0
Housing Schemes Income -783 -727 -727 0 0
Total Income -4,664 -2,511 -2,240 (271) (566)
Net Operational Expenditure 19,620 9,533 9,875 (342) (740)
Recharges
Premises Support 789 395 395 0
Transport 792 396 401 (5) (11)
Central Support 4,039 2,020 2,020 0 0
Asset Rental Support 13 0 0 0 0
HBC Support Costs Income -112 -56 -56 0 0
Net Total Recharges 5,521 2,755 2,760 -5 -11
Net Departmental Expenditure 25,141 12,288 12,635 (347) (751)

Comments on the above figures

The above information relates to Adult Social Care, excluding Community Care and Care Homes.
Net Department Expenditure is currently £0.347m over budget profile at the end of the sixth period
of the financial year. Current expenditure projections indicate an overspend for the full financial year

in the region of £0.751m.

Comparison to previous year outturn and period 4 forecasted outturn

The outturn position for financial year 2024/25 was £0.545m over budget. Based on the estimated
outturn position for 2025/26, there is an expectation that the estimated outturn overspend with be
£0.206m higher than the last financial year.
The outturn position for period 4 was £0.698m over budget. Based on the estimated outturn
position for period 6, there is an expectation that the estimated outturn overspend will be £0.053m

higher than period 4.
Employee related spend.

The projected full-year cost is above the annual budget by £0.471m. This a reduction of £0.235m
from the projected full year over budget spend as at period 4.

Housing & Safer

Page 12 of 16



Page 131

Factors relating to the projected overspend include.

Unbudgeted agency costs are in respect of covering vacant posts, particularly in terms of front line
Care Management and Mental Health Team posts. However, there has been a reduction in Agency
staff use by 3 Agency staff members since June 2025, the reduction of use of these Agency staff
members has been reflected in the forecasted spend until the end of the financial year. Agency
spend across the division as a whole at the end of September 2025 stood at £0.906m, with a full year
spend of £1.454m projected. This is partially offset by a forecasted underspend on the staffing
budget of £0.983m.

During previous agreed savings, the budget for Care Arrangers posts was removed. This has not been
addressed within the staffing, resulting in a projected unbudgeted spend of £0.096m during 2025/26
financial year.

Within period 4 reports, it was reported of an unbudgeted Market Supplement which has been
awarded to social workers across the division. To assist with easing budgetary pressures, the budget
to cover the market supplement has been provided on a temporary basis, initially for 12 months,
resulting in an increase in budget of £0.391m. This increased budget is reflected within the figures
above and has assisted in the reduction of the full year forecasted over budget spend between this
report and the report from period 4.

Supplies and Services related spend.

The projected £0.176m forecasted full year spend above budget relates to an increased volume of
caseload in respect to Deprivation of Liberty Standards (DoLs) assessments. Spend to September
2025 was £0.097m, with a total spend for financial year forecast at £0.233m.

Transport related spend.

The transport and transport recharge budgets were substantially increased for 2025/26 financial
year. Due to this, the forecasted spend is broadly to budget.

Housing Strategy related spend.

Housing strategy initiatives included within the report include the Rough Sleeping Initiative and the
Homelessness Prevention Scheme. The Homelessness Prevention Scheme is an amalgamation of the
previous Flexible Homelessness Support and Homelessness Reduction Schemes and is wholly grant
funded. It is assumed that unspent funding is carried forward to the following financial year.
Income

Income for the Department as a whole is under the budgeted income target by £0.271m with a
projected under achieved target at the end of the financial year being £0.566m. The main areas
making up the under achievement of target income are Community Meals, Telehealthcare and
Transport. Within the projected income figures for the remainder of the financial year is a further
reduction of income for Community Meals in the run up to the end of the service in March 2026.
There has been a drop in forecast income for the Supported Housing Network, funding of a
significant care package through to the end of the year will no longer materialise.

2025/26 Savings

Savings targets including in the budgets for Positive Behaviour Service of £0.250m and
Telehealthcare of £0.280m are unlikely to be achieved.

Progress against 2025/26 approved savings for the Adult Social Care Directorate are included at
Appendix A.

Housing & Safer Page 13 of 16



2025/26 Adult Social Care Directorate Savings

Appendix A

Page 132

Service Area

Net
Budget
£'000

Description of
Saving Proposal

Savings Value

25/26
Agreed
Council

01
February
2023
£'000

25/26
Agreed
Council

05 March
2025
£'000

Current
Progress

Comments

Housing Solutions

474

Remodel the
current service
based on good
practice evidence
from other areas.

125

Currently Under
Review

Voluntary Sector
Support

N/A

Review the
support provided
by Adult Social
Care and all other
Council
Departments, to
voluntary sector
organisations. This
would include
assisting them to
secure alternative
funding in order to
reduce their
dependence upon
Council funding. A
target saving
phased over two
years has been
estimated.

100

Achieved

Community
Wardens/Telecare
Service

Community
Wardens/Telecare
Service — a review
will be undertaken
of the various
options available
for the future
delivery of these
services, with
support from the
Transformation
Delivery Unit.

280

achieved — currently
forecast overspend

Unlikely to be

position

Page 14 of 16




Page 133

Care
Management
Community Care
Budget

Community Care —
continuation of
the work being
undertaken to
review care
provided through
the Community
Care budget, in
order to reduce
the current,
overspend and
ongoing costs.

1,000

Unlikely to be
achieved — currently
forecast overspend
position

Various

Review of Service
Delivery Options —
reviews will be
undertaken of the
various service
delivery options
available for a
number of areas
including; Day
Services, Halton
Supported
Housing Network,
In-House Care
Homes,
Reablement
Service and Oak
Meadow.

375

Currently Under
Review

Total ASC Directorate

225

1,655

Page 15 of 16




Page 134

5.0 Application of Symbols

Symbols are used in the following manner:

Progress Symbols

Symbol
Green
Amber u

Red n

Objective

Indicates that the objective is on course
to be achieved within the appropriate
timeframe.

Indicates that it is uncertain or too early
to say at this stage whether the
milestone/objective will be achieved
within the appropriate timeframe.

Indicates that it is highly likely or
certain that the objective will not be
achieved within the appropriate
timeframe.

Direction of Travel Indicator

Green

'
=

Red #

N/A

Amber

N/A

Performance Indicator

Indicates that the annual target is on
course to be achieved.

Indicates that it is uncertain or too
early to say at this stage whether the

achieved

annual target is on course to be
achieved

Indicates that the target will not be
unless there is an
intervention or remedial action taken.

Indicates that performance is better as compared to the same period last year.

Indicates that performance is the same as compared to the same period last

year.

Indicates that performance is worse as compared to the same period last year.

Indicates that the measure cannot be compared to the same period last year.

Page 16 of 16




	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	4 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
	5a Domestic Abuse Partnership Board
	Appendix 1 Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment Draft October 2025 (1).docx
	Appendix 2  DA Strategy 25-26.pdf.pdf
	6b Domestic Abuse Service
	Appendix 1 DA Strategy 25-26.pdf



	5b Trading Standards Service Update
	6a Performance Management Reports for Quarter 2 of 2025/26
	Housing  Safer PPB Q2 Report.docx


